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Troy Stuewe
David Rea
Adrianna Vasquez
Terry Scott
Mary Hallock
Edward Kwolek
Paul White
William Kelly
Jose Loera-Tovar
Joseph Riley
Andre Huggins
Mohamed Sillah
Lester De L Romero
Robert Tucker
Robert Ruiz
Jeffrey Schutt
Steven Saxby
Cordula Krämer
Shita Adem
Herminia Garcia
David Coble
Raymond Jennings
Omar Guzman
Timothy Buckels
Michael Pires
Milthon Morales
Suquifa Coe
Michael White
Ian Ball
Apolinar Rodriguez
Alana Patterson
Clinton Dukes
Julie Kuczera
Michael Bromley
Marco Liberal
Carlos Restrepo
Tom Outerbridge
Jeffrey Heke
Matthew Jays
Michelle Kowalski
Andres Fonseca
Michael St. Onge
Valerie Harvey
Jose Lobos
Peter Csollany
Henry Fisher
Edmund Pruett
Michael Dunbar
Joseph Scappini
Alma Perez
Bernard Montalvo 
Jose Cruz
Peter Maloney
Stewart Wainwright
Michael Alvarez
Nicholas Wilhelm
Antonio Tomba
Amrit Jaswal
Derek Barber
Chuan-Hai Teh
Anthony Plimmer
Ronald Boerema
Skylar Price
Michael Shapiro
Antonio Martinez
David Vaughn
Paula Araujo
Cecila Rice
David Brummelen
Steven Desa
Charlotte Diggs
Douglas Mclean
Roberto Arroyo
Vincent Christopher
Hason Turner
Luke Oakley
Benjamin Leander
Nagavalli V
Michel Acosta
George Chong-Nee
Justin Lefebvre
Michael Perretta
Felix Santiago
Paul McVean
James Carreno
Louistine Sherrod
Epifanio Leon
Tyrone Kent
Angela Botto
Pedro Villanueva
Eddie Cathey
Reggie Battle
Phillip Robertson
Cody Brodie
Christopher Clark
Gary Joseph
Luis Oseguera
Marianito Pampolina
Jonathan Parry
Robert Watt
Carlos Marzan
Paulo Rocha
Maurice Hutchinson
Clifford Sessay
Ryan Hibler
Gloria Mtshali
Christopher Galic 
Baki Zuna
David Holbrook
Stanko Ignjic
Allan Wireman
Heath Buell
Zoltan Sekula
Sherryie Browning
Nicholas Stapley
Alex Valenzuela
Henryk Wieczorek
Lau Lison
Peter Cremers
Bruce Vail
Aleathea Maidens
Terence Bird
Harrie Romers
Des Armstrong
Gerome Lewis
Michael Anderson
Danyel Wood
Jose Morante
Jeffrey Haughton
Paul Wright
Paul Thomas
Cindy Coutts
Harry Crescenti
Marianna Podkowa
Stephen Darby
Wolfgang Childers
Jonathon Rice
Enma Lopez
Genaro Marquez
Harvey Helms
Debra Speer
Heriberto Miranda
Mikel Yambai
Antonio Silva
Paul Jones
Jeffery Baker
Iselin Thomas

Chris Williams
Miki Taylor
Manoj Kumar
Vitorino Castro
Antonio Valensuela
Isidro Sandoval
Benjamin Tilley
Mansur Sirajudeen
Charley Williams
Leslie Jones
Walter Dohna
German Morales
Arnulfo Zate
Justin Miller
Michael Warsek
Nancy Reid
Frank Holt
Graeme Fergusson
Leopoldo Guzman
Jose Castaneda
Derek Michalowski
Wittman Spencer
Miguel Gonzales
Hayley Andrews
Gail Heineman
Brian Henderson
Richard Nickens
Mark Robinson
Ruben Malave
Linnea Blevins
Adrian Lewis
Nicholas Fonte
David Ritter
Pedro Castillo
Derrick Wymes
Damaris Velasquez
Miguel Ayala
Dagoberto Rodriguez
Daniel Butler
Stephen Lee
Jane Fenwick
Taran Stirrat
Ruben Vallejo
Tahi Legg
Derek Campbell
Steven Hockey
Rowan Burdess
Stephen Bosley
Antonio Fair
Angela Newbell
Henny Boes
Stacey Sproat
Jorge Ponce
Robert Dunbar
Luis Serrano
Francisco Ortega
Frank Moratti
Eloy Hernandez
John Baker
Emad Al Mosawi
James Wendell
Beyer David
Jorge Ramos
Oliver Benit
Thomas Mulvaney
Dovie Jones
Tommy Du
Jason Walsh
Christine Lemmen
Gerald Holman
David Beardmore
Malik Ceric
Hieu Dinh
Barbara Dixon
Necessarl Myles
Miguel Valenzuela
Kenneth Huckel
Manuel Silva
Wayne Gill
Aurelio Hernandez
Michael Willett
Carlos Amoroso
Amelia Breaden
Dick Napiorkowski
Epifania Simo
Philip Gregory
Fernando Iriqui
Reinaldo Valdes
Gabriel Montano
Jesus Bonilla
Ricky Gaugatao
Damian Boyd
Pedro Suarez
Richard Martinez
Ken Manktelow
Clarence Jakes
Stefan Xuereb
Joseph Arcadipane
David May
Willie Salter
Robert Hancock
William Anderson
Ghaffar Nazari
Diomaris Lizardo
Matthew Galt
Susan Huckle
Pernell Boykin
William Ledwell
Jose Blanco
David Shaw
Anthony Sousa
Thomas Perea
Jesus Hurtado
Paul Strepay
Ivor Brown
Amos Wise
Renee Zastro
Manuel Cantiga
Tammy Hannahs
Leroy Fruchey
Firas Farahid
Jose Aguayo
Paul Lawrence
LaWonda Haden
Erick Conde
Lloyd Deir
Antonio Vazquez
Ian Hartley
Philip Johnson
Isabel Fernandes
Timothy Booth
Roy Antoine
Simon Hollis
Mark Bergman
Anthony Carrillo
Chester Gomes
Rodrigo Arciniegas
Montrell Jones
David Wedlock
Robert Cole
Jose Jaime
Pamela S Colvin
Donald Swartz
Matthew Grutza
Shawn Read
Fidel Carabez
Gregory Mitko

Jacqueline Penton
John Silvestre
Dale Nixon
Hector Perez
Chris Heckman
Anthony Mullen
David Smith
Paul Whitmore
April Holt
Spencer Quintero
Mitchell Beer
Hellen Werth
Henry Bowman
Luis Ramos
Donald Gillette
Liam Cody
Alexander McKerlie
Steven Corbett
Michael Laracuente
James Chastain
Cristian Velazquez
John Graves
Brian Sanchez
Kirt Boswell
Alvaro Torres
Anastacio Diaz
Karen Darnell
George Malamis
Erhard Frede
Sukvinder Rai
Dannielle Croan
Bob Van Schie
Cheng Mason
Lucky Ntozakhe
Luis Perez
Jemma Davies
Natalie Zambujo
Mark Harrison
Lempp Wadim
Peter Weeks
Paul Kavanagh
David Taylor
John Bess
Carlos Tolentino
Joan Malolo
Marvin Ferrell Jr
Ohlen Corbett
Roger Lawrence
Mary Pargeter
Isabel Velez
Shawn Ogelvie
Donald Quarles
John Barksby
Brennan Cornell
Carlos Bernardo
Andrew Borg
Ermelindo Rodriguez
Minavady Chantharath
Zachary Thomas
Paul Freska
Joseph Enright
Mangesh Kawale
Oktay Sel
Nigel Drury
Updash Singh
Daniel Woltmann
Javier Jaramillo
Scott Hurren
Derek Werth
Johan Vandersteen
Jamie Smith
Phillip Oneill
John O’Malley
Dominic Cavillot
Jimmy Albarran
Alani Tupou
Steve Nadulek
Daniel Burnop
Saroj Singh
Jeffrey Healey
Carlos Torres-Chavez
Rafael Sayadian
Casimiro De Almeida
Brett Harrison
Raymond Walker
Jill Delouise
Robert Reynolds
Nick Van Dijk 
James Richardson
Heather Rhea
Carol Golbourn
Ronald Proler
Chris Dennison
Buchelt Robert
Edward Palonis
Manuel Corral
James Kimbrell
Jose Rodriguez
Christopher Emery
David Lloyd
Peter Barclay
Manuel Farmer-Ruiz
Peter Vanemmerik
Carlos Vazquez
Marco Jacquez
Scott Simmons
William Foster
Mark Richardson
Graham Bennett
David Hanson
Angela Flores
Danning Zhang
Lyte Williams
Chris Bullingham
Paea Sanft
Darren Rundell
Eduardo Loyola
Aubrey Eaton
Delmis Pastrana
Thomas Kim
Gary Armstrong
Robert France
Christine Mcbean
James Brewer
Luis Soto
Kevin Clayton
Michael Guillory
Carmen Robles
Tracy Cunningham
Bruce Wilhelm 
Pam Cosby
Anthony Gallagher
Susan Gervasi
Michael Lopatecki
Felix De Armas
Brandi Tanninen
Maciej Blaszczyk
Vicente Santa Cruz
Edward Fletcher
Keith Brooks
Craig Hinchliffe
Matthew Griffin
David Gutierrez
Achilleas Downward
Charlotte K-Lucas
Cyril Swartz
Jay Atayan

Boyden Thomas
Harrison Shaffer
Robert Sharpe
Andrew Evans
Danny Pehrsson
Carlos Rodriguez
John Moffitt
Rosa Silva
Isidoro Alvarez
Dario Badillo
Philip Bentley
Sasha Silva
Douglas Weaver
Linda Harris
Chris Sargent
Vasana Khamvongsa
William Weisen
Wendy Boettger
Oscar Villareal
Teresa Strachan
Barbara Ridge
Garry Skinner
Rodney Bonnette
James Hodge
Mark Lawson
Heiko Olschweski
Scottie Denton
Victor Vives
Carlos De Jesus
Harry Townson
Julie Goley
Josue Moreno
Caroline Green
Sofia Vasquez
Robert Shepherd
Jack Lambert
Jeffrey Maynard
Peter Hagemann
Manuel Dos Santos
Mengistu Yegzaw
Andrew Bafi
William Jones
Sharon Barter
Christiana Mangual
Carlos Ferreira
Miroslaw Kucharski
David Freame
Matthew Xenos
Kevin Knox
Milton Kilgore
Jose Hernandez
Rhett Gerard
Jason Price
Pearlee Anderson
Gregorio Romo
Sudhir Yalamanchali
Neil Kerr
Carlos Cowan
George Rosen
Brian Brink
Jorge Hernandez
Phillip Chell
John Kerr
Ger Hinsen
Richard Grant
Ricky Knight
Moises Garcia
Shelly Pessagno
Michael Robinson
Subash Warrier
Robert Gaudinier
Ashley Whichello
Tyrone Dent
James Bobbitt
Juan Rivera
Joseph Barlow
Hanai Eloya
Cassandra Harris
Zhan Chen
Myles Partridge
Shayne Odonoghue
Peter La Bella
Jose Cortez
Jauni Bettere
Mihwa Choe
Andrew Fry
Thomas Doyle
Simon Stone
Charlie Blair
Willie Fleischman
Shelby Baskin
Danilo Vierneza
Steven Ostroznik
Katy Pegler
Richard Selby
Peter Van Loon
Victor Rodriquez
Jose Cunha
Lorren Bell
Trevor Hodgins
Alejandro Pedraza
Jeff Mick
Luther Phillips
Patrick Mckay
Lawrence King
Joseph Caruso
Neil Duckworth
Bobby Ingram
Linwood Beale
Ronald White
Michael Shinn
Luis Rodriguez
Noe Venegas-Rosas
Melvin Belcher
Peter Farmer
Carolina Navarro
Jimmy Chandler
Steven Solomon
Robert Drewett
Catherine Grillo
Elizabeth Bullock
Raymond Wright
Anibal Osorio
Irene Perez
Leonardo Verdugo
Robert Hanck
Marcus Hinton
Piotr Brzank
Pierre Elizaire
Marco Acuna
Kristine Ritchie
Otis Malone
Daniel Blumke
Chenier P-Charles
LaQuita Haynes
David Mathers
Terence Plant
Adrian Moore
Rodolfo Dominguez
Kelly McCreless
Amy Secondino
Anil Setaram
Hassan Reid
SokPhol Phon
David Willsohn
Phyllis Weems
Mark Timothy

Bryan Hale
Yvonne Hughes
Osbaldo Garcia
Michael Stockdale
Brad Potter
Thintizwe Makhunga
Renee Schnell
John Polk
Robert Filbert
Flavio Avila
Eric Baker
Joseph Parker
John Bettencourt
Anderson Clarke
Ernest Overton
Caridad T-Davila
David Chua
Charles Williams
Craig Adkins
Aaron Loone
Thawanrat Owen
Randall Ingram
Mile Kolceg
Pasquale DiBiaso
Angel Valle
Brandon Gardner
David Woodriff
Jose Cordero
Luke Martin
Chenier Israel
Ronald Rylance
Michael Ogara
Kelly Ferguson
Manuel Sanchez
Armando Ruiz
Jean Saint-Fleur
Frederick Riley
Shaun Chudley
Gideon Botha
Robert Wicker
Hugo Adao
Rafael Unzueta
Phillip Sisk
Alix Ceballos
Jonathan Morgan
Melanie Nou
Jacek Wydra
Lance Brown
Paul Hillier
Gerarda Fredericks
John Pierri
Rahkiim Burgess
Juvencio Cienfuegos
Alan Kington
Craig Marshall
Jayson Walsh
David Hemmings
Laura Siqueiros
Steven Burns
Richard Shute
William Peavey
Paul Snoeckx
Jamie Fletcher
Judith Sossich
Muhammad Zaman
Sandra Campbell
Michael Murphy
James Wood
Annika Persson
Mark Willetts
Jesse Garcia
Robert Baczonyi
Rebecca Powis
Fred Benitez
Scott Overland
Ross Death
Veronica Herrera
Kamaljit Thandi
Patrick Martin
Elmer Ferner
Teddy Nanguari
Nicholas Rees
Joao Rego
Amilcar Cunha
Jason Whitaker
Caroline Bond
Leon Wilson
Jeffrey Carter
Gerardo Gonzalez
Ronald Nutter
Barbara Anderson
Marjan Tonkich
Morin Billiam
Robert Jones
Miguel Jenkins
Paul Mai
Frederick Mckee
Craig Schantz
Michael Johnson
Raymond Castro
Ineke Bree-Reyckers
Steven Robbins
Keith Mc Crae
Cody Penders
Shaun Evans
Jonathan Harvin
Secundino Reyes
Frank Garcia
Thomas Kopcyk
Sue Lee
Dogan Mustafa
Kelli Alo
Hutchinson Oliver
Ronnie Redden
Autumn Gallello
Juan Carmona
Michael Manganelli
Wilfredo De Jesus
Larry Morris
Nicholas Croy
Maria Barron
Harvey Gonzalez
Keith Dangerfield
Benjamin May
Jason Lowe
Javier Plaza
John Carey
Rashaugn Johnson
Jermaine Latdrik
David Proler
Wendy Collins
Wendell Ramirez
Aubrey Stephen
Guadalupe Garcia
Miguel Castaneda
Mark Ellis
Larry Dillon
Pablo Guzman
Rene Melders
Keber Michael
John Connelley
James Millward
Jorge Freyre
Andrew Millard
Walter Rivera
Francisco Padilla
Fernando Cruz

Damien Coffey
Jonathan Chapman

Holly Sievert
Eduardo Acebedo

Bruce Cumming
John Davidge
Mario Mc Coy

John Epperson
Janusz Szmyd
Maria Afonso

Kenneth Weinert
Pablo Pol Romero

Hans-Peter Brand
Chanel Smith

Rodney Nunez
David South

Biagio Adragna
Gary Carroll

Manelos Tagdalidis
Tommy Irving
Davon Paden
John Thigpen

Robert Wilson
John Robertson

Quan Wang
Ian Pickering

Patricia Hannagan
Jose Martinez

John Peters
Patrycjusz Homa

Kevin Mendoza
Andrew Neubeck

Daniel Guzman
Royce Green
Keiran McVie

Douglas Sanders
Victor Ramos

Wilfredo Vady
Steven McIntyre

Will-Jan Amersfoort
Rob Seda-Martinez

Nathan Segal
Casimiro Presinal

Rafael Pineda
Raquel Vela

Corrado Spezzacatena
Ted Sisopha

Steven Read
Wilkemson Severe

Simone Dunn
Hector Fuentes
David Bratcher

Yan Nong
Shawn Cole

Jose Martinez
Felix Galan

Richard Hunte
Paul Priest

Kenneth Bullock
Dennis Freeman
Jeffrey Maxick

Jonathan Snyder
David Apap
Celil Güre

Juan Alvarez
Anthony Smith

Kenneth Langsdon
Richard Kyte

Ubaldo Diaz
Jenelle Robinson

Stacey Twigg
Coleen Bolin

Eric Witte
Tony Rudge

Kellyanne Jones
Heiko Schoen

James Quarles
Yilma Bekele
Ray Gafford
Willie Davis

Louis Feddeler
Brian Gale

Robert Adamczyk
Winfred Mitchum

Juan Pineros
Nickel Christof
Willet Langlais

Chris Williams
Chris Cremona
James Bowers

Faauuga Apineru
Adrian Flachi

Edward Ostermiller
Jeanne Grimmer

Rima Te-Waiti
Emido Dinatale

Norbert Karoly
Francisco Astorga

Lawrence Walter
Quinton Pope

Andrew Athas
Alejandro Guerrero

Karie Clark
Daniel Emery
Jerry Bailey

Ian Dagge
Daniel Martinez

David Zapata
Peter Kacir
Mounir Faci
Philip Hunt

Maricela Castillo
Amanda Crafton

Jaqulynn Jackson
David Mills

Donald Holland
Kantner Oliver

Michael O’Driscoll
Jurij Wink

Kobayashi Leander
Theresa Holland

Motty Toxey
Arron Stafford
Thomas Denton

Alan Bell
David Burrows

Jose Barajas
Ernest Frazier

Javier Bermudez
Hector C-Leyva

Rogelio Ponce
Bartlett Forster

Wade Galloway
Chris Webb

Kirk Lewis
Frances Robinson

Gregory Hart
Gabriela Cruz

Stephan Schmelter
Luanne Mannor

Paul Mainor
Freddie Vazquez

Eliud Torres
Huw Cushing

Andrew Thomas
Liming Fan

Evaristo Romero

Salvador Fregoso
Manual Archila

Troy Moss
Vincent Hill

Daniel Becher
Steven Green
Drew Nichols

Luis Guzman-Solano
David Randolph

Ronald Hedgecoth
Inez Garcia

Harry Reeves
Augusto Avila
Anthony Agius

Rob Connaughton
Takleb Bettere

Praveen Bangera
Jose Villa

Robert Hancock
Mauricio M-Gonzalez 

Rachael O’Connor
Gregory Margeson

Johnny Dillon
Waldemar Hipp

Jan-P V de Reutvan
Vickal Prasad
Martin Wilcox

Shano Shyti
Roy Harvey
Ross Coley

Anthony Draper
William Austin

Massimo Sardella
Kevin Boatner

Paul Hutchings
Dean Kolenc

Lee Powell
Stephen Kerry
William Beebe

Paul Meehan
Michael Pallay

Andrew Butcher
Steve Kemp
David Borg

Nicolas Alvarez
Eileen Payne

Richard Ogden
Blas Amezcua

Jozef Dubczyk
Fiona Morgan

Victor Alvarado
Ameur Helal

Paul Thompson
Samuel Pisani

John Van Zwieten
Jose Dias

Jimmy Baum
Thiago De Oliveira

David Meyers
David Flegel

Marko Ronowski
Juan Ramos

Martin Parkinson
James Lawrence

Joseph McCool
Elvin O’Garro

Maria Fernandez
Graham Matthews

Ryan Reynolds
Troy Degnan

Rory Rink
Ben Mei

Wayne Jacobi
Kyle Johnson

Bartolo Guerrero
Martie Kalf

Roger Vaughan
Hector G-Gonzalez

Martin Perez
Lee Hughes

Marcos Martinez
Marcelo Paiva
Gregory Jack

Corteen Fowler
Carissa Hammer

Constantino Sierra
Milton Hall

Juan Martin
Marc Faller

James Conner
Carmelo Fantino

Milagros Lopez
Herminio Colon

Preston Tinsley
Garland Ashworth

Ulrike Tauche
Robert Anderson
Adam Winchester

Gail Parent
Abram Martinez

Jeff Tyler
Tonnie Verbeek

Christopher Perry
David Miller

Neil Blackford
Christopher Piett

Michelle Holly
Peter Caballero

Chase Panitz
Jorge Villatoro
Ronnie Cremona

Domingos Tavares
Andrew Kemp

Marek Gajewski
Byron Green

Jerry Cooper
Frank Vadi

Ronald Basden
Rebecca Cowan

Daron Mackey
Vidal Bernal

Votile Thsonono
Brent Yahrling

Reinaldo Cosme
John Merriman
Gordon Brown

Timmy Miller
Mark Bissell

Paul Zace
Juan Barraza

Ronnie McGinity
Kabin Joshi
Derek Graf

Diego Sanchez
Rushburn Brown

Mikael Lekbeck
Shaun Anlezark

Gabriel Ruiz
Kelvin Johnson

Steven Bennett
Daniel Burnell

Kenny Greer
Edward Laxton

Donald Rex
Michael Mitchell

Niko Ajayi
Wendy Forde

Kevin Bray
Stefan Tholl

James Cousar
Armando Reyes

David Holland
Jessica Osorio

Evan Kretschmer
Rafael Crespo Jr

Christian Lenfert
Adrienne Spence
Armando Carlos

Donnie Phillips
Edwin Diaz

Tameka Henderson
Gabriel Jimenez
Carol Culleton

Alonso G-Pulgarin
Tomasz Holownia

Niklas Weibo
Oscar Salgado

Matthew Wadley
Paul Sutton

Junior Mea
Leticia Arellano

Jonathan Lewis
Lisa Bremner
James Frost

Bernard Montalvo
Stephen Luckett

Henk Neutkens
Mark Betts

Loren Belone
Bobby Jabines

Rasaq Hamed
James Radford

Lennard Nash
Ernesto Flores

Virginia Barraza
Randy Williams

Casey Campbell
Guadalupe Padilla

Rene De Koning
Martin Scott

Crystal Bohner
Taufa Manuofetoa

Gary Cleave
Jason Hendrixson

Bobby Hawkins
Valentino Coronado

Sjef Doreleijers
Robert Barefoot
Alberto Jimenez

Anthony Amato
Sam Anthony

Leonardy Amaya
John Marshall

Arnulfo Sanchez
Grizelj Frank

Charles Marshall
Miguel Bernal Jr

Pedro Garcia
Santos Amaya

Luis Saramago
Andrew Cartledge

Peter Hansen
Chan Thanadabouth

Mark Waters
Gary McNeill

Gonzalo Gonzalez
Takivaha Tupou

Taylor Skurnac
Micheal Williams

Bert Kats
Sabas Saenz

Roberto Negron
Bram V Der Klooster

Daniel Adams
Beate Weiss

Humberto DaCosta
Ana Gomes

Tyrone Attewell
Isidro Gonzalez

Ennals Towe
Simon Baxter

Pascuel A-Garcia
William Sawyer

Curtis Kalter
Marjory Oliveira
Joshua Macauley

Vera Haro 
Juan Castillo
George Lytle
Jodie Matsen

Gustavo Monsalve
Jokkon Bunglik
Bobby Bettere
Suman Robles

Armand Arellano
Alex Leikas

Peter Fransen
Ramon Molina

Lynette Buchanan
Michael Lentz

Santiago Calderon
Colin Stirland

Jose Torres
Ruben Garcia

Fotuaika Lauteau
Piotr Kozak

James Gillespie
Aristeo Cruz

Jose Rodriquez
Victor Estrella

Mike Ottersberg
Jayne Baltimore

Callum Macdonald
Thanh Truong

Brian Franklin
Howard Foster
Michael Arnell

Palemon Santana
Raciel Gato

Angela Sincere
Victor Bonett
William De Foe

Trevor Page
Virginia A-Aguilar

Alan Thomsett
Brad Macdougall
Fernando D-Ayala

Kevin Freehill
Leif Nordlinder

Martin Bonk
Gregory Dipuccio

Lee Hennessy
David Smit
Minh Tang

Bernadino Carmona
Mark Kernan

William McKeen
Glenn Williams

Jose Vasquez
Jan Andersson
Fidel S-Najera

Edward Gonzalez
Raymond Wambaja

Corneleo Munoz

Ian Somerville
Dieter Bolssens

Allan Kozak
David Bunger

Kevin Empringham
Jose Medina

Jose Mendoza
Steven Maughan

Brian Brandt
Mark Dunn

William Gibbons
Tyshon Bey

Keith Cooper
Leon Littlejohn

Jackie Barley
Camilo T-Castillo

Alan Doczekala
William Brookfield

Wayne Oscroft
Victor Rodriguez

Michael Moodie
Eddy Steensels

Serafin Valencia
Nicholas Adams

Tristan Walters
Jeffery Council

David Erwin
Eric Figueroa

William Schmiedel Jr
Mark Rice

Deborah G-Clifford
Jose Ruiz

Carlos Martins
John Wooley

Ryan Moloney
Ronald Porteous

Donald Manalu
Katrina Martin

Neil Waite
David Alloway

Saji Pothen
Robert Moore
Hector Meraz

Kire Babadzovski
Eduardo Ruiz

Graeme Stevens
Berhanu Lema

Bernard Evans
John Bowman

Douglas Newman
Mike Moskal

Bonnie Ferrell
Guiseppe Costanzo

Gary Hills
Luke Meilak

William Brodin
Shiu Narain

Ivor Brocklehurst
Colin Manning

Christopher Rees
Ernest Wilson

Michael Henderson
Alexander Figueroa

Albertino Batista
Gerwyn Morgan

Joao Santos
Vincent Stapleton

Martyn Patch
Jaime Garcia
Aliem Abdoel

Paul Curtis
Carlos Crovella
Richard Carlson

Jameson Smith
Stefon Rice

Yorleny Espinoza
Willem van den Ven

Martin Quiñones
Russell Odowd

Terry Ruch
Bradley Hughes

Chris Weston
Kevin Thomas

Robert Obrien
Linda Probert

Jason Drews
Mark Sgroi

John Fellonneau
Leanne Jarrett

Cortissia Stephney
Andrea Taylor
George Parkes

Frank Eilers
Darren Barter

Roger Harris
Steve Landy

Jamaine Arnold
Ramiro De La Torre

Thomas Sansone
Vincent Marasco

Linda Fuerst
Vincent Tobin

Myszko Bogdan
Hommel Stephanie

Andreas Mischke
Paul Tsoukalas

Dana Bastian
Lawan Leal

William Rosato
Jaime Rivera

Christopher Graaf
Jimmy Nguyen

Mary Cook
Iman Elajouz

John Hanna
Craig Sharrock

Margareta Lövgren
James Clark

James Bailliez
Laura Pitcher

Kuhl Christine
John Monahan
Symon Dalton

Barry Stevens
Trinidad Gutierrez

Charlie Gilbert
Dennis Smith

Chancelor Frazier
Carlos Rodriguez

Eric Brown
Wil Beauchamp
Andrew Mason

Rebecca Longsworth
John Stanley

Steiner Florentine
Lisa Hicks

Warren Ower
Joshua Bohnen

Brittany Mayberry
Abigail Hernandez

Dylan Powell
Michelle Meyer

Glenn Logan
Paul Ables

Keonavy Kour
Ramon Canales

Scott Sodenkamp

Michael Lowe
Stephen Matthews

Ellen Aken-Verkleij
Earl Berryman

Paul Foster
Joda Hamiora

Wolff Thomas
Jose Cruz-Garcia

Lam Nguyen
Elizabeth Baker

Cheryl Feckett
Stephen Fischer

Aris De Los Santos
Frank V den Dungen

Ann Cromie
Albert Posey

Danny Desa
Andrzej Gliszczynski

Gustavo Sandoval
David Johnson
Rui Guimaraes

Charlie Roby
Thomas Sorci

John Hampson
Michael Jamieson

Nicholas Horn
Robert Larry

Pauli Finau
Nolan Walters

Nolberto Barboza
Harry Pittman

Alfonso Mercado
Melva Perry-Bolt

Richard Brooks
Roberto Munoz

Gary O’Malley
Marcus Jones

Robert Fletcher
Donna Sublette
Vanessa Repice

Wendy Faulkner
Richard Bambridge

Rommel Bigalbal
Gerald Bohm

Wayne Cunningham
Scott Jacobs

Jose Hernandez
Trevor Patrick
John Geldeart
Timothy Adams

Victor Commons
Giovanni Uccheddu

Gary Jennings
Terry Mc Coy

William Smith
Diane Schweiger

Michael Tafuto
Andre Lovett

William Ivy
Emilyn Rodriguez

Philip Milewski
Jeremy Treadway

Ann Deavin
Michael Kiser

Josephine Latella
James Norman
Martin Clarke

Tothfalvy Torsten
Luis Ruiz

Roland Varga
Lothar Krieg

Nathaniel Sartain
Dewey Thomas

Carlos Montano
Wilfrido C-Mateo

Ruth Cueva
Omar Bentaleb

Caroline Macdonald
Ian Mcdougall

Victor Deliz
Helppy Febles
Peter Norman

Kevin Pedley
Victor Gonzalez

Matthew Simon
Frank Celestin

Gary Hensley
Andrew Williams

Luis Gutierrez
Alexander Negron

Ric Brown
Thol Phon

Miguel Rubio
Jason Tyrrell

Stephen Wilson
Martin Bruce

Jennifer Downing
Daniel Raulerson

Juan Casillas
Christian Hernandez

Alan Chambers
Patrick Pope

Johann Langer
Joel Jacobson

Gregory Stewart
Thomas Schaad
Lucia De Rivera
Joshua Felton

Keith Keeney
Stephen McQuinn

Marvin McPherson
Scott Osborne

Leon Claridge
Javier Sinti

Amed Khelili
Timothy O’Shea

Maria Molon
Roy Haslam

Rebecca Bozinov
Alan Ratner

Arthur Hudson
Stewart Gibbons

Sang-Joon Kim
Shawna Chavez

Janine Wilks
James McKendry

William Martinez
Gregory Manuel

Trey Brackin
Kaylin Page

Daryn Costello
Jonathan Cerna

Gilliam Els
Sharron Reed

Jacquelin Edwards
Richard Michael

Niels Van Steenoven
Phillip Donnelly

Roger Durand
Mark Goodkind

Anna Karpathios
Shaun Drewett
William Castro

Karen Harris
Martin Connour

Francisco Anceriz
Jose Roman

Caroline Sass
Daniel Thomas
Shelley Vaughan
Gabriela Mendoza
John Golding
Leonard Howell
Clifford Cranham
Franklin Oliver
Maik Stille
Jose Moreira
Carl Jackson
Joach Tomaszewski
Shedrick Woodward
James Anderson
Keston Pritchard 
Hans Feller
Teknai Supkin
Preston Newton
Donald Poer
Dean  Furborough
Jonathan Pickett
Greg Sherrow 
Anselma Garza
Shaun Wood
Korou Elari
Marc Punch
James Moore
Jose Vargas
Thomas Cohrs
Faimanifo Sakaio
Ian Dangerfield
Jackson Chan
Andre  Keuper
Kamlesh Chand
Michael Levan
Chloe Jackson
Jessica Foley
Onacis Del Orbe
Cassie Christoforou
James Green
Kenneth McCarthy
Andrew Harris
Johnnie Banks
Anita Bexon
Sarah Johnstone
Eperu Sausi
Juliet Waters
Krisandra Voges
Juan Meza
Sharon Harrup
Jason Stabell
Mark Green
Ivan Frausto
Jose Lopes
David Ashley-Barker
Philip Johnston
Juan Martinez
Angela Hewitt
Alexander Cyprian
Johnnie Bailey
Kenneth Knight
David Hill
Neil Douglas
Kathryn De Groot
Frank Magro
Portia Cunningham
Donald Mitchell
Chad Gagnon
Marcella Jackson
James Curry
Ben Fiorentino
Dean De Angelis
Mark Griffis
Manuel Henriques
Neil Daly
Anthony Prince
Fred Jiang
Joan Benjamin
Consuelo Sandoval
Milton Kirk
Lorenzo Ferrer
Manuel De La Cruz
Steven Hammerton
Dennis Wright
Mark Watkins
McIntyre Blondel
Gregory Forletta
Nikki Weems
Juan Acosta
Paul Walsh
Vernon Dyer
Harold Brown
Lucrecia Garnica
Torsten Anlage
Andrew Schaffer
Muhammad Israr
Corrie Bryant
Nhut Trieu
Jose Sanchez
Jerimy Stephens
James Eskridge
Refugio Anaya
Ruth Ramongi
Elaine Jardine
Richard Harding
Timothy Osgood
Gerardo Guerrero
Jerry Stokes
Adrian Marfell
Forhan Hasan
Edward Andrick
Jennifer Freeman
Keith Jackson
Lawrence Lee
Adam Marcinowicz
Sam Ighodaro
Brett Hubert
Jozef Tonneijk
Juana Mendoza
Samuel Guido
Bruno Jacek
Christine Simmons
James Calandriello
Brendan O’Connor
Michael Love
Laurice Altenbernd
Shirley Sapp
Lawrence Graefe
Byron Avendano
Mafi Ofamooni
William Taylor
Leonidas Moscoso
Paul Wilson
Cassandra Muir
Emily Cely
Rennie Melvin
Thomas Harrell
Norma Capetillo
Albert Salgado
Antonio Valente
Paul Walton
Benjamin Conway
William Cowles
Charles Booker
Debra Smedley
Anna Manning
Lucio Matias
Glenn Mcillhatton

Carl Hicks
Thomas Pickering
Keith Cordell
Stephen Derryberry
Charlie Velasquez
Javier Aguirre
Donley Parr
Scott Campbell
Rogerio Barreira
John Hay
Belton Evans
Wade George
Michael Dodds
Ashley O’Dell
Andrew Bell
Angel Morales
William Lindsay
Matthew Zeiter
Joshua Cook
Leonel Macedo
Joaquim Araujo
Andrew Ford
Robert Guerrero
George Seeley
Debra Dawson
Joseph Mdlalose
Jeanne Handley
Adalis Alejo
Victor Grant
Robert Dickie
Devon Gordon
Danilo Almonte
Amy Thomas
Jeff Beebe
Jesus C-Carrasco
Jacqueline Sexton
Vivian Lee
Stefan Malmberg
Robert Aguilar
Jonathan Davies
Armin Krüger
Pietro Sardella
James Robinson
Craig Morrall
Lynda Johnson
Jimmy Banks
Francisco Toledo
Joseph Mecharles
Lloyd Paige
Agustin Guerrero
Ignacio Maldonado
Anthony Pattin
Steven Strickland
Keith Campbell
Hector Murillo
Lou Ianni
James Behrendorff
Eduardito Antonia
Ken Macdonald
Khanh Tran
Alexandros Samaras
Ronnie Peppers
Rafael Martinez
Paramjit Singh
Lesley Wade
Javier Sida
Michael Pantelis
Peggy Christofferson
John Hartman
Kenneth Newman
Ronnie Gatson
Kaysla Sanchez
Vicente Gordillo
Miguel Fonseca
Peter Steller
Tairou Zakari
Craig McLaughlin
Barry Murphy
Ronnie Foster
Chris Valentine
Allen Sweetsir
Michael Espada
Carl Nathan
Mary Mackenzie
Tracy Herbert
Frederick Cornell
Stuart Thompson
Kevin Blake
Leonard Horton
Shaun Dolan
Christopher Lock
Robert Suttles
Abraha Giday
Thomas Troy
Robert Vozzo
John Breward
David Ryder
Andrea  Zarse
Cesar Mendez
Jorge Castellanos
Juan Tejada
Stuart White
Jason Town
Raymond Thurtell
Roy Jackson
Erik Larsson
Salesi Ofa
Andy Hudson
Louise Bickley
William Naughton
Philip Morley
Peter Shepherd
John Findley
Roberto Ferreira
George Koffler
Stephen Roddie
Angel Sosa
Nigel Wood
Daniel Hinz
Donald Holman
Ljubo Stojcevski
Joao Andias
Shewang Ashenafi
Phillip Arends
Stuart Oliver
Drew VanDeGriff
Keith Croydon
Alexander Lewis
Andrew Purcell
Abdulla Reed
Karen Hinds
Eliecer Saavedra
Luke Driggers
Wilfredo Pascal
Freddie Wright
Derek Proudfoot
Liz Da Fonseca
John Tiziani
Hao Nguyen
Ronald van den Bos
Kim Westbrandt
Clinton Clegg
David Boyd
Ronald Moore
Iveth Sinti
James Bugge
Justin Logsdon
Robert Garbett

James Amos
Andy Belliconish
Bradley Nichols
Martien Biemans
Birgit Voigtlander
Raymond Medred
Robert Mason
Richard King
Yung Lam
Paul Conrad
Scott Lambourne
Carol Morgan
Chris Stevens
Lee Vaughan
Hafizullah Nasrat
Harold Melvin
Wilfred Firley
Robert Holck
James Lipsey
Taylor Broomall
Ian Swanton
Lorenzo Negron
Karen L-Mazurek
Juan Moreno
Gary Weems
Gilberto Rodriguez
Wayne Powell
Allen Cole
Stuart Spencer
Robert Smith
Juan Vetter
Marcus Jones
Gloria Wall
Federico Rodriguez
Michael DiGiorgio
Robert Riley
Chris O’Leary
Graham Robertson
Linwood Blount
Roberto Huerta
Peter Netchaef
Michael Salmon
Robert Rhoades
Victor Martinez
William Lamb
Leopoldo Gonzalez
Freddy Bache
John Burton
Erik Bakke
Philip Thorman
Cletus Minja
Elizabeth Hancock
Thomas Shaw
Luis Sanchez
Timothy Dale
Jeffrey Rudd
Gerald Hamilton
Lisa Maday
Reinaldo Cox
Rigoberto Ramirez
Kepe Grobi
Marcus Webster
Ismael Vega
Wayne Jones
Ray Trice Jr.
Thomas Degray
Brian Daley
Lewis Keeble
Mark Bommelé
David Madrigal
Joe Mendoza
Kumar Radhakrishnan
Joos Sebastian
Amauris Alejo
Fahrudin Memic
Derek Beach
Jerry Ober
Erika Sanchez
Sajan James
William Gimlick
Margarita Davila
Tracie Houston
Ryan Bull
James Pass
Clifford Hunt
LuJuane Cain
Ramon A-Orosco
Kaithlynn Nguyen
Ignacio Barragan
Donnie Canfield
Robert Jackson
Carl Yue
John Freeman
Jonathon Sturzaker
Wesley Taylor
Timothy Hussey
Donna Henninger
Justin Lowery
Veronica Gonzales
Mark Amatt
Stephen Hart
Shameka Jones
Christine Kaphengst
Philip Wren
Guadalupe L-Reyes
Macarlus Callen
Ricky Miller
Francie F-Kindlund
Ryno Fourie
Shawn Manley
Brian Litwiller
Kim Le
Gleb Soloncov
Wa Moua
Jose Rivera
Atahualpa Del Orbe
William Proler
Jerritt Sikes
Nanci Schuld
Robert Smith
Robert Young
Samiuela Taiamoni
Jose Martinez
John Glyde
Tenille Murray
Chris Armstrong
Samuel Dias
Richard Jackson
Juan Sepulveda
Alexander Ranford
Daniel Collazo
Brendan Booker
Edgardo Reyes
Martin Phillips
Nicholas Lamb
Lorenzo Landeros
Bill Covey
Valente Montenegro
Paul Whitehouse
Patrick Bustos
Jon Hilyard
Julian Saito
Robert Rainville
Graeme Wallace
Judy Kitt
Brian Paradis
Curtis Pelton
Raymond Weston

Thomas Fatale
Richard Morris
Alvaro Perez
Margaret Tierney
Herbert Brown
Jeremy Beecher
Servando Ponce
Pradipkumar Shah
Stephen Dunn
Alfredo Roger
Laura Ryan
Greg Webster
Pablo Herrera
Chris Dhamwe
Justin Amiro
Ernan Campos
David Deleon
Frederick Young
Walter Gill
Juan Dominguez
Tony Pentecost
Chris Guarini
Marc Brown
Brian Waite
Encarnita Dela Pena
Ricky Opfar
Daurnel Williams
Ivan Fuentes
Maurice Corbitt
Simon Hilliam
Jacqueline Lohmeyer
Mandi Williams
Kenneth Smith
Victor Ibragimtchaev
Basilio Blanco
Carlos Herrera
Maristela Carvalho
Joakim Smedberg
Carl Heid
Johan Egefors
David  Sevior
Cathy Sorrentino
Lyndall Doust
Uriah Holland
Rosita Villegas
Patrick Geuze
Rebecca Robinson
Gavin Shepherd
Scott Quinn
Xavier Rivers
Juan Cerna
Gregory Carlson
Stewart Rathgen
Eliezer Roman
Les Sitkei
Jonathan Jorlanin
Martha Gomez
William McGuire
Christy Aylward
Bruce Barker
Gareth Skinner
Brian Bradley
Craig Mcgrath
Norman Jackson
Thomas Amorosi
Walter Hoyos
Christine Fisher
Bo Gustafsson
Harold Walker
Carnel Coleman
James Lyons
Javier Alfaro
Juandre Fourie
Gary Vernon
Rene Kik
Keith Robinson
John Turgoose
Kathryn Sampson
Adam Ekins
Binh Huynh
David Brookes
John Hayworth
Brett Clark
Dennis Schalliol
Fernando Christian
Shane Lewis
David Searson
Peter  Chant
Wayne Pithouse
Clint Thompson
Michael Williams
Margarita Pabon
Antonio Mezzina
Louis Mancini
David McAtear
Julio Salgado
Maria Rua
Rita Meyers
Justin Giles
Lynette Quintana
Shaun Lowe
Andriana Kontovrakis
Jeffery Hagerman
Keith Poolton
Peggy Jeffords
Ricardo Martinez
Fon Van Nunen
Anthony Gavin
Julio Mojica
Gary Knight
Adrian Andrews
Siua Elone
Alejandro Reyes
Kathleen Avis
Persy Ventura
Scott James
Toos Bakel-Wassink
Robert Stojcevski
Manuel Perez
Jos Ballegooij
Clifton Thomas
Dirk Kriesch
Melanie Micallef
Walter Dietrich
Michael Barrett
Ryan Parmenter
Thei Cuijpers
Ricardo Ramirez
Brian More
Keith Schwendiman
Anthony Fuller
Dean Carroll
Craig Wood
Russell Williams
Adan Ramirez
Tiny Van Loon
Kazimierz Galazka
GeiSS Sandra
Sophia Pritzos
Richard Estey
Serviliano G-Ortega
Tiawan Harris
Rene Jaime
Marshaun Dyer
Calvin Shaw
Wendy Reeves
Charles Crutcher
Javier Rivera

Hugh Cotton
Michael Post
Luigi Diana
Kent Rieger
Andrew Parkin
Dorenda Clink
Manuel Garcia-Soto
Perry Rogers
Marcus Morgan
Andrew Piano
Laurie Landry
Kerstin Fuchs
Jose Merced
Wladimir Schulz
Mark Pitcher
Refugio Vega
Andres Martinez
John Bull
Mitchell Salamoni
Megino Kukoya
Anthony Baldwin
Ezequiel Vieira
Clive Williams
Craig  Richter
Thomas Moran
Willie Stewart
Stiebich Andreas
Orlando Sanchez
Malcolm Jones
Nicola Rubbo
Nafitalai Fau
Andrew Butt
Ruben Torres
Israel Gonzales
Hayes Bolton
Chris Petropoulos
Iain Evans
Evan Hayes
Jorge Munoz
John White
John Bache
Rhadames Arias
Ana Garcia
Birt Cook
Suzanne Hall
Brett Wolhulter
Richard Vlasveld
Jamie Clark
Darren Watford
Jose Mercado
El Bondouhi Ekram
Angela Garcia
Charles Christensen
Amy Quincey
William Tague
Arno Smids
Kenneth Taylor
Kylie Cartwright
Marian Dominguez
Jose Lopez
Stölzle Bernhard
Shawn Sneyd
Gareth Pullin
Mehmet Uyrun
Jessica Gregory
Antoine Henderson
Mario Cabrera
Zilvinas Nyparas
Michel Smits
Leland Baker
Brian Murphy
Laura Aurora
Graeme Smith
Paul Wake
Thomas Jamieson
Hashim Al Derawi
Trevor Crow
Samuel Lopez
Darryl Leander
Maria Perez
Leonel Gonzales
Alyssa Acevedo
Corine Peels
Moana Rubon
Joseph Koniarz
Willie Tidwell
Carlos Andrade
David Sordia
Reina Valle
Sean Mccormack
Arthur Caldwell
George Gamboa
Charles Arcuri
Jose Martinez
Prabitra Jeena
John Binkowski
Jason Walters
Ronald Benekin
Alan Dyke
Josef Przibylla
Pablo Carrasco
Alan Fielding
Robert Baker
Luke Mackay
George  Walsh
Gen Wu
Jose Mejia
Pamela Williams
Paul Oliver
Willie Deloatch
John Heatley
Sara Hochhauser
Jeremye Brown
Wilbert Moore
Malvin Bettere
Ismael Alejandro
Manminder Kaur
James Finn
Peter Krenisky
Martin Mitchell
Sharon Buckham
Helen Bell
David Hayes
Justin Casen
Toribio Sosa
Fred Crumley
Richard Hughes
Jose Chavez
Angel Mendez
Glyn Evans
Ajer Aister
Roberto Valdez
Ryan Yarnold
Rosalba Hernandez
Alex Garcia
Glen Gaston
Devon Brown
Brian Tranter
Ronald Woods
Gabriel Ortez
Jorge Rayas
Thomas Meyers
Filiberto Negrete
Richard Zorn
Tim Webb
Mitchell Lock
Jose Gomes
Marcos Lomeli

Valerie Herbert
Donna Williams

Michael English
Steven Emms

Robert Laughton
Jorge Duque

Happy Gwarada
Ricardo Carvajal
Jesus Hernandez

Oscar Castellano
Michael Newman

Perry Watson
Anton Gartner

Jimmy Banks
Thomas Mansfield

Martin Coombs
James Glenn
Rikki Fuller

Oliver Wagner
Eduardo Ortega

Richard Goodwin
Dan Forma

Frank Charon
Richard Starr

Robert Courtney
Brandon Bayan

Howard Segal
Tadeusz Checiek

Valerie Campbell
Peter Pope

Margaret Veljacic
Julie I’Anson

Robert Kendall
Krzysztof Oldakowski

Abel Gomez
Martin Escutia

James Nelson III
Jose Oliveira

Francisco Laudato
Mark Hambly

James Howard
Daniel Krug

Omari Abraham
Diane San Filippo

Peter Bryden
Stephen Middleton

Mike Bainton
Gary Scott

Patrick Künstner
William Goodman

Richard Sharpless
Eric Villarreal

Jordan Glastein
Eric Wilkerson

Domingos Rebelo
Brent Stewart
Gabriel Espino

Paul James
Jeanine Brady

Antonio Martinez
Angelina Pasillas

Agustin Duarte
Jayne Lowe
Louis Lewis

William Mauer
Joseph Franklin

John Lucre
Praxedis Ramirez

Rafael Mendiola
Stewart Miller
Kenneth Chmiel

Barry Panitz
Ivan Blondel

Duriad Alhayani
George Flores

James Caruthers
Sean Kelly

John Schumacher
Trevor Thompson

Marvin Williams
Jackie Proler

Nelson Padilla
Dell Bowers

Katreena Sawyer
Craig Grant

Jeffrey Westby
Hugo Jimenez
Dave Kalhan

Andre Wilcox
Kimberly Copley

Lindsay Williamson
Henry Johnson

Mark Mcgairy
Sammy Simmons

Paul Colledge
Theodore Moore

Gary Hicks
Gurvinder Singh

Jacob Waki
Jose Ramirez

Debra Bartlett
Edward Munday
Jermaine Simms

Miguel Perez
Anavel Magallon

Alison Liggins
Robert Miller

Andrew Cooper
Percy Notohardjo

Jonathan Gagliardi
David Luther

Scott Williams
Laura Mogg

Juan Sandoval
Eckatimba Guinyard

Wilbens Henrilus
Brian Kambakdu

Eddie Shipman
Shana Martin
Philippa Ward
Flourey Shem
Raphael Salo

Tina Gonterman
Linda Oates

Patrick Forebaugh
Tung Nguyen

Charles Jeune
David Langley

Stephen Williams
David Walder

Larry Stein
Edgar Ramos

David Fritchley
Dean Campbell
Bradley Jacob

Adan Pantoja
Kirk Dobert

Michael Sharpe
Martha Lawson
Anthony Talbot
John Desposito

Neil Warner
Stuart Thomson

Michelle Kington
Vitali Fuchs

Bernardo Calderon

Neil Reid
Evelyn Panlaqui

Aaron Nicholson
Rolando Vasquez

Peter O’Brien
Pejic Oliver
Jesse Godoy

Francisco Diaz
Andrew Mondelli

Miguel Lara
Andrew Bonett
Carol Boocock

Bobby Heath
Kimberley Lee

Ahmet Kilic
Gerardo Diaz

Sophia  Phillips
Jorge Roman

Chris Brealey
Hieng Seng

Chris Billington
Chris Convery

Alan Hall
Jason Roberts

David Rogers
Benjamin Tinoco

Martine De S-Vlieg
Juan Cedeno

Shannon Beck
Sean Lynch

Samantha Johnson
Fischer Klaus

Anita Bloom
Mark Cornall

Wilfredo P-Pagan
Athol Jetta

Gerard Whelan
Chris Ramirez

Colt Spatafore
Richard Ballou

Steve Hiscock
Jenna Harris

Ryan Smith
Jimmy  Carneling

David Hobbs
Sergo Bernard

Miguel A-Gomez
Bari Little

Allen Gardner
Aneurin Bevan

Claudia Charles
Daniel Fleming

Patrick Delpeche
Heath Hasted

Angela McCord
Imelda Herrera

Brendan Clearkin
Peter Roe

Cynthia Brodzinski
Rhea Smith

Raedell Adams
Jonal Harrison
Kevin O’Connor

Darlene La Plante
William Hart

Kevin Sweeney
Michelle Jones

Jon Green
Timothy Sparks

Janine Wolter
Antonio Cervantes

Raymond Mchenry
Annie Maes

Michael Keys
Naaisha Bouchelion

Leslie Pope
Catherine Gabel

Janet Freeman
Juan Perez

Thomas Teller
Robert Krasnov
Antonio Barber

Fred Olovich
Carvin Nash

Luis Sanchez
Ray Hobbs

Victor Prude
Mato Kvesic

Danny Patrick
Sherry Mansfield

Juan Navarro
Simon Martinez

Richard Frampton
Dianna Sorby

Bas De Laat
Karo Galama

Richard Harris
Franklin Kennedy

Michal Zurawski
Roger Johnsson

Anthony Cardona
Ernesto Perez

Michael Collins
Sothy Nou

Lawrence Cardwell
Neville Bush

Dennis Powell
Cathryn Townsend
Mitchell Andrews

Sean Colebrook
Evert Pratt

Tony Screws
Simon Rankin

Douglas Elwer
Mark Santiago
Paul Stephens

Dennis Haw
Ziyad Albaraq
Michael Jeter

Ming Ma
Eleazar Castorena

Ricardo Duarte
Luis Hernandez

Carl Heid
Anthony Hiles

Jianhui Yang
Joseph Cody

Thorman Leach
Karen Garretty
Rebecca Hillard

Ricardo Jaime
Andrew Wall

Jodie Langridge
Lorenzo Terrazas

Stephanie Sutamaja
Magnus Berglind

Harry Bouland
Christopher Cork

Matilde Otero
Jamie Patterson

Vanesa Lopez
Pablo Ruiz
Lee Coney

Edgardo Aguilar
David Lloyd

Elis Phillips
George Mack

Hubert Martinez

Daniel Mullen
Inderjit Saini

Dave Koster
Mariya Semeit

Sharon Taylor
Mark Wass

Helena Johnson
Angel Batuto

Andrew Cutchey
Luz Crovella
Federico Sida

Miguel Villanueva
Martin Winkler

Nigel Taplin
Armenio Amador
Jose Cervantes

Dave Milne
Justin Van Patten

William White
Ingo Holtsträter

Lee Shaw
George Melo

Kerry Johansen
Lori McClaflin

Elsa Guzman
Steven Phillips
Bernard Fritze

Brian Barrett
Frederick Hansen

Rosendo Alzamora
Ian Unsted

Gregory Adams
Ramon F-Mendoza

Joseph Tharp
Ricky Hall

Julian Padfield
Geoff  Prothero
Manuel Sanchez

Karl Wright
Danny Colter

Markus Pangurian
William Hyde

John Densham
John Perry

Phuoc Nguyen
Luis Amorim

Julio Torrejon
Biljana Tojcic

Daniel Urban
Lawrence Griffing

Roland Baker
Nico Lantin

Patrick McConaghy
Vicente Jasso

Luci Andre
Gordon Robbins

Bradley Mayo
Zena Sutherland

Adam Gilbert
Harry Chedwick

Francisco Canela
Robert Fragoso

Eric Cooper
Vander Da Silva

Benjamin Zavala
Patrik Gustafsson
Raymond Cremona

Rosario Centurino
Larry Zertuche

Jose Fuentes
Juan Diaz

Christoph Schuppa
Terrill Thomas

Alvin Woodall
John Webley

Sebastien Rosner
Jim Petropoulos
Darren Spencer

David Foust
David Pountney
Joanne Mancini
Allen Jarocha

Randy Coleman
Vince Geerebaerts

Walter Hanberry
Ben Whatley

Ron Harris
Esmael Nunes

Peter Charles
Balram Ramdiall

Margaret Graham
Kenneth Schutt

Paul Dure
Hajrula Ramic

John English
Harrie Van Gogh

Marwin Robinson
Brian Jones

Chris Robinson
Felix Negron

Yi Bian
Krzysztof Grzanko

Adam Wilk
Jorge Noriega
Michael Kranz

Joe Arroyo
Luke Harris

Mashondria Jenkins
Martin Hunter

Julian Barajas
Jose Mc Kinney

Jose Conceicao
Nick Greenwood

Ericka Garcia
Fernando L-Perez

Lewis Ross
Michael Ciccone

Erich Schmitt
Kevin Meissner

Rohit Modi
Rachel Beswick
Todd Steadman
Marek Skomski

Lawin Christiane
Ian Chadwick

Lynworth Pierre
Anatoliy Vaserman

Leslie James
Yesenia Sinti

Belinda Hopkins
Jason Miller

Peter Richards
Mat Hopkinson

Terry White
Noe Pena

Brad Rosynek
Clark Perry

Chris Davis
Steve Hittson
Saluda Rouse

William Vaughan
Chris Katsambiris

Ramon Siqueiros
Jose Gutierrez

Paul Sanchez
Udo Koester

Paul Brackstone
Diamantino Dasilva

Abel Habteab
Sik Fan

Richard Clark
Kevin Townsend

Manuel Andujar
Peter Hatzis

Kelly Bisserup
Michael Mears

Rodrigo Magana
Catherine Upton
Jayme Bordelon

Sammy Dang
Benjamin  Harding

Henk Verhagen
Bruce Burke
George Rees

Kimberley Norman
Anthony Notaro

Frank Chatman
Omar Marrero
Isidro Velasco

Richard Peterson
Anja Leduc

Vistasp Patel
Claire Savidge-Holt

Jessica Withers
Robert Kirgan

Jose Resende
Gerald Holzer

Brenda Leung
Ricardo Barba

John Sartori
Natasha Kelly

Jonathan Fraser
Vidal Bernal
David Barker

Tina Washbourne
Darryl Templeton

Francis Cunha
Gerardo Murillo

David Pugh
John Williamson

Wade Meyer
Jaime Quintero

Gayle Haghverdian
Karen Rogers

Larry Ulrich
Leonard Schwass

Guillermo Vega
Adrian Hoo Loke

Paula Patton
San San Chua

Nikki Louwers
Carl Mastrullo

Bryan Jones
Teresa Banuelos

Manuel Aldrete
Patrick Schröder

Arthur Hammer
Dwayne Brown

Manuel Pavao
Clyde Sampson

Jeffrey Tomlinson
Renee St. Denis

David Cagley
Paul Cretella

George Formosa
Jolanda V de Sanden

Mark Howells
Paul Nolan

Naunarinder Singh
Anh-Khoa Huynh

Katrina Whitman
Jamie Witts

Thomas Ferretti
Bryn Jones

Tye Diesel
Trinidad Hernandez

Brian Bleam
Marcus Wrenn

Juan Mendez
Rene Malik

Leonardo Santana
Lynette Evans

Andrew Dean
Jesus Fuentes

Dragi Kenovski
Malin Holmberg

Danuta Kurka
Jose Carrasco
John Pickering
Bruce Clanton
Sherwin Baker

Santo Gonzalez
Deanna Saucedo
Melvin Williams

Susil Chand
Richard Borelli

Richard Blagirowicz
Larry Berry

Marcelino Paulino
Miroslav Belik

Thoi Quach
Charles  Carlyon

Paul Miller
Ben Alexander

Elizabeth Guerrero
Biagio Adragna

Miguel Gordillo
Robert Clevenger

Susan Zakens
Guillermo Suros

John Alger
Jose Ortega

Ravi Ramanujam
Julie Geyer

Piotr Petryk
Robert Iles

Owen Woodward
Rod Robbins

Rakesh  Kumar
Rodrigo Bernal

Janine Ebbinghaus
Robert Glenn

John Sepple
Quentin Hall

Rodney White
Lachman Hanoman

Brij Bhushan
Koschnitzki Matthias

Jonathan Watson
Leon Navarro-Cons

Pedro Coste Pena
Yvonne Soto

Joanne Mallett
Alberto Gutierrez

Tan Van Nguyen
Ray B-Fernandez

Adonis Davis
Leontine Boone
Damian Brache

James Lixton
Håkan Schede

Joseph Kelly
Charles Wilkerson

Joseph Powell
Rudy Martinez

Patricio Martinez

Jose Pabon
Sandra Bobb

Jerome Palmer
Yao Yu

Byron Yates
Martin Page

Jordan Rash
Robert Taylor

Frederick Dagg
Allen Deir

Ross Haddad
Jack Goldberg

Fernando Araiza
Francesco Johnson

Larry Snyder
Graham Earley

Brian Herne
Raul Pena

Ricardo Perez
Branda Colon
Michael White

Antonio Pita
Domingos Santos
Nicholas Inglima

James Nathan
Robin Latham

Michael Jefferson
Adam Stubberfield

Richard Anderson
Emma Hunt

Mariusz Swistak
Catherine Mitchell

Junior Corniel
Igor Lungrin

Luis Gois
Mary Nadeau

Jacqueline Hilton
Gordon Hodapp
Joscelyn Lowe

Edgard Naira
Tammy Myers

Marvin Lockett
Shankaran  Kutty

Frank Paige
Roy Drechsler

Shawn Hoffman
Mark Swan

Daniel Garcia
Osaki Morales
Robert Bowen

John Vandelaar
Patricia Corry
Wayne Worley

Steven Janson
Jeffrey Webster

Miguel Gomez
Gabriel Ramirez

Ramon Jackson
Wenting Yue

Paul Blackmore
Suat Cayli

Gary Moore
Colin Holmes

Angelo Sposato
Dieter Braken
Neville Deakin

James Cattelona
Graham Gault

Anthony Steer
John Power

James Edwards
Chris Bernard

Wayne Herbert
Derek Howe

Michael Vanoosten
Salvador Orozco

Amanda Alexander
Lino Dimas

Michael Bunner
Agostinho Vieira

Renn Kellum
Daniel Rothe

Michael Fifer
Clare Haste

Gabor Bereczki
Daren Blades

Rafael Orozco
Charles Taylor

Jerome Lewis
Michael Sabatino

Kesav Nayar
Nohora Zapata

Maria Mejia
Alfredo Garcia

Joaquin Lopez
Alejandro Ortiz

Jerome Thornton
Robert Sturgess

Wayne Wilson
Katrina Marten

Pawel Andrzejewski
Rossalva Acevedo

Shafqat  Hussain
Kirsty Hinchliffe

Wojciech Urban
Harry Schoof

Vivian White
Jesus Guzman

Stephanie Oden 
Leslie Wicks

Bhaskara Nair
Mark Turner

Daniel Clifton
Brian Willicott

James Lancaster
Francisco A-Parra

Lonnie Stone
Stuart Cottam

Mark Bennett
Pierre Knefel

Colin Fitton
Henry Astacio

Jocelyn Francis
Daniel Dienst

Rafal Czernik
Adrian Koenig
Sollie Watson

Freddy Geuens
Reveriano Diaz

Brian Rogers
Apolonio Murillo

Jose Flores
Laura Caughlan

Carlos Carvalho
Willis Gafford
Leslie Burnett

Israel Rodriguez
Miles Williams

Jorge Rendon
George Quirk

Thomas Manktelow
Stuart Mayne

Richard Elliott
Derexel Peters

Gary Forteath
Rocco Lamagna

Maria Corona
John Heath
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Stefanie McVittie
Marcus Lewis
Clyde Charles
Nathan King
John Pisano
Desmond Sturzaker
Daniel Gray
Arthur Holder
Rex Warner
Arturo Aguilar
William Hamilton
Kenneth Toncic
Troy Hibbert
Shaun Bird
Andrew Barnett
Gary Stewart
Andros Parker
Samuel Flores
Tyron Clemons
Gillian Wilson
Blas Llamas
Efrin Milhouse
David Evans
Lee Winterburn
Keith Handschu
Frankie Martin
Kim Hennings
Evelio Murillo
Gilbert Lopez
Carl Brown
Marc Thomas
Roberto Martinez
Lawrence Holiha
Jeffery Bull
Joseph Natale
Kenneth Foot
Ravi Ramanujam
Juan Gomez
Munroe Mcpherson
Mark Hart
David Gutierrez
Gregorio Esquivel
Jeffrey Scappini
Jeremy Robbins
Stephen Lafrankie
Diane Bromilow
Reinhard Rogala
Lawrence Zito
Shane Hedderson
Janet Snyder
Jay Jarvis
Abdon Pena-Garcia
Dario Nogueira
Alan Clarke
Paul Royal
Robert Glavin II
Michael Win
Amy Heavens
Peter Brown
Ryan Sugg
Sergio German
Julio Cantillo
Anatol Kiryluk
Deborah Johnson
Daniel Nunes
Jonathan Garrison
Erik Ramirez
David Bradley
Maljkovic Nedjeljko
Christopher Boyd
Kathryn Gumley
Damon Jull
Kyle Mills
Ramon Quijada
Mandy Komorowski
Joseph Barco
Gamalier Estrada
Roberto Chico
Rayshanda Bridges
Larry Robinson
Neil Tovey
Sharon Greene
Raymond Flower
Manu Palmans
Sarah Clinger
Terence Leist
Benito Hernandez 
Gerardo Ruiz
Michael Barkhorn
Diana Fuentes
Rafelina Azcona
Gene Howell
Joel Amery
Roy Sunderland
Luis Rodriguez
Donald Fuller
Leonard Bumber
Rachel Geiselman
David Gallegos
Robert Fasth
Robert Tisdell
Lee Tomlinson
Ian Clark
DeCarlo Smith
Isidoro Ramirez
Robert Withers
Fallah Kokoiy
Dean Maxwell
Matekwane Ginis
Malcolm Heath
Tracy Barbee
Deborah Hays
Pedro S-Cangas
Djura Kucerka
Frank Bryant Jr
Paulino Paulino
James Coe
Georgina Sidney
Billy Sonnier
Federico Rangel
Jose Martinez
Daniel Friesen
Mark Jefferson
Jahdiel Perez
Jürgen Budde
Peter Hooper
Kevin Brown
Kirkwood Campbell
Benigno Cazarez
Alan Sheridan
Eric Inmon
Adame Hassan
Carla Boyles
Amit Patel
Adelso Morales
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TO THE 5,600 DEDICATED AND HARD 
WORKING MEN AND WOMEN OF  

SIMS METAL MANAGEMENT  
LISTED IN THIS REPORT – AND THOSE  
IN OUR JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS –  

THANK YOU FOR MAKING OUR COMPANY  
A TRUE INDUSTRY LEADER. 
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In the 2010 fiscal year, our 5,600 employees 
working at our 230 facilities around the world 
successfully navigated the Company through the 
macroeconomic challenges of the year, including 
lingering turbulence from the global financial 
crisis as evidenced by concerns regarding a 
potential European sovereign debt crisis, and 
a struggling North American economy. 

We are confident that with our technology and 
best‑in‑industry talent, Sims Metal Management 
is well positioned to take full advantage of our 
leading market position when economies stabilise 
and recover. 

Sims Metal Management is committed to a 
long‑term strategy of solidifying its competitive 
position – both through acquisitions and by 
enhancing returns through organic initiatives. 
We are proud to report that, even during the 
trying times of the last two years, we have 
remained true to the principles that have 
sustained the Company since 1917. 

safety  
first

review

1. Daniel W. Dienst, Group Chief Executive Officer    2. Paul J. Varello, Chairman

Chairman’s and group Chief Executive officer’s

1 2
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We remain committed to the following ideals:

First and foremost, we are committed to ––
the safety of our employees, customers, 
suppliers and visitors to our facilities; 

We encourage teamwork and the transfer ––
of knowledge between our businesses 
and locations worldwide to maximise 
the competitive advantage of our 
global footprint; 

We treat all employees, customers, ––
visitors and communities in which we 
are located with courtesy, respect and 
the utmost integrity; 

We operate with an entrepreneurial spirit ––
that promotes fiscal discipline while seeking 
to maximise return on investment for 
shareholders; and 

We remain focused on employing the most ––
talented workforce in the industry. 

In the face of significant challenges during the 
past fiscal year, our commitment and dedication 
to our core values allowed the Company to 
return to profitability. While we cannot predict 
if the global economies are finally emerging 
from economic malaise, we will continue to 
pursue smart growth and make full use of our 
most important asset – the talented employees 
of Sims Metal Management. 

Safety 
As we have emphasised in our previous annual 
reports and updates to the market, a top 
priority is, and will always be, the safety of 
our employees, contractors and visitors to 
our facilities. Our Board of Directors and 
management subscribe to the belief that there 
is a strong link between safety performance 
and the overall success of our Company when 
measured against all key parameters including 
production, quality and, ultimately, profitability. 
Well run businesses are also safe businesses.

Over the course of the past year we 
implemented new and improved safety 
procedures. Although our financial metrics 
significantly improved in fiscal 2010, our biggest 
gains have been in safety performance. We 
reduced our Lost Time Injury frequency rate 
from 4.8 to 3.2 and Medical Treated Incident 
frequency rate from 19.4 to 14.2 year-on-year. 
We are continuing our unrelenting effort to 
support a safety culture that will stand shoulder 
to shoulder with the safest manufacturing 
companies in the world. 

In the face of significant 
challenges during the past 

fiscal year, our commitment and 
dedication to our core values 

allowed the Company to return 
to profitability. 
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Sustainability
While our metals recycling business is inherently 
‘green’, Sims Metal Management strives to 
go beyond what is required and make lasting 
progress in the environmental impact and 
sustainability of our operations. 

Use of the recycled materials sold by Sims Metal 
Management during fiscal 2010 saved almost 
13 million MWh of energy as compared to the 
use of the same amount of virgin material. 
Our operations also reduced carbon emissions, 
pollution and energy consumption – 13.2 million 
tonnes of CO

2
 emissions were avoided by the 

use of scrap metal, a secondary raw material, 
instead of primary metallics.

Sims Metal Management was named, for the 
second year in a row, as one of the 100 Most 
Sustainable Corporations in the world, at the 
Davos World Economic Forum. We were honoured 
to again receive this award, which recognises 
companies that consistently demonstrate 
superior positioning and performance in 
environmental, social and governance issues 
relative to their industry peers. 

We were also pleased when Sims Recycling 
Solutions (SRS), the world’s largest electronics 
recycler, was named as the top electronics 
recycler in North America in the July 2010 
issue of Recycling Today magazine. Out of the 
20 largest recycling companies, SRS maintained 
the highest volumes of electronic scrap 
recycled in calendar 2009. 

We remain committed to our mission of 
enhancing the sustainability of our operations 
by continually improving safety, workplace 
conditions and environmental stewardship.

More information on Sims Metal Management’s 
commitment to sustainability can be found 
in this report under the heading ‘Managing 
Sustainability.’

Fiscal 2010 Financial Results
As major Western economies attempted, with 
varying degrees of lack of success, to transition 
from recession to modest growth trajectories, 
our industry continued to encounter diminished 
flows of scrap metal and uneven demand 
from steel and metal producers. In spite of 
these difficult market conditions, Sims Metal 
Management saw improvement in many of our 
markets in fiscal 2010.

Our non‑ferrous metals business achieved 
healthy margins and strong year‑on‑year 
growth. However, ferrous margins and scrap 
flows outside Australia continued to be 
disappointing, particularly in North America, 
our largest market, where the US economy 
continued (and continues) to struggle. 

Revenue for fiscal 2010 was approximately 
$7.5 billion, which included an adverse effect 
from foreign exchange, and we recorded a 
net profit after tax on a statutory basis of 
$126.7 million. Our scrap intake and shipments 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 were 13.3 million 
tonnes and 12.9 million tonnes, respectively. 

1

2

1.	� Electronics 
recycling plant at 
Daventry, UK, part 
of the Wincanton 
assets acquisition 
in Aug 2010.

2.	� A safety status 
sign at our North 
Haven, CT USA 
facility.
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Scrap intake increased 6% and scrap shipments 
decreased 2% on the prior year.

Sims Metal Management is financially strong. 
As of 30 June 2010, we had net cash balances of 
approximately $15 million, undrawn lines of credit 
of approximately $1.3 billion, and shareholder 
equity of $3.3 billion at the end of fiscal 2010. 
The Company believes that the strength of its 
balance sheet is without peer in its industry 
and notes that credit facilities available to 
the Company have recently been increased to 
$1.5 billion. Capital may indeed be amongst the 
world’s most precious commodities, and we 
are proud of our financial strength and deeply 
value our long‑standing relationships with our 
commercial banking partners.

Our Board of Directors determined a final 
dividend of $0.23 per share (74% franked) to be 
paid on 22 October 2010. Dividends for fiscal 
2010, including the interim dividend of $0.10 per 
share and the final dividend of $0.23 per share, 
represent a payout ratio of 51% of net profit. 
We are pleased to once again uphold, consistent 
with our dividend policy, our commitment to 
providing dividends from our earnings to our 
shareholders. 

Operational Results

North America 
Our North American metals business continued 
to face difficult conditions in fiscal 2010 as 
a result of inadequate scrap flows and tight 
ferrous margins associated with the weak and 
uneven US economic recovery. We have used this 
low point in the cycle to invest in our business 
and bolster our trading and processing 
capabilities. 

Sales revenue was down 21% on the prior 
corresponding period to $5 billion. On a US dollar 
equivalent basis, sales revenue was down 7% 
to US$4.4 billion as compared to fiscal 2009. 
EBIT (earnings before interest and tax) was 
$80 million. Scrap intake in North America 
increased 4% on the prior corresponding period 
to 10.2 million tonnes. 

During the year we created a new trading 
platform for ferrous metals called North 
America Trade that will further improve our 
penetration of the market. We anticipate that 
North America Trade will enhance our ability 
to market and trade third‑party generated 
material in North America, complementing our 
already strong global ferrous trading platform. 
As always, we continue to seek opportunities to 
execute on our industry consolidation strategy 
in North America. We remain confident that 

Sims Metal Management will generate high 
returns on capital in this historically scrap 
rich market as economic conditions allow for 
improved flows of scrap metals and margins.

Australasia
Our Australasian business performed extremely 
well in fiscal 2010 against the backdrop of a 
relatively healthy Australian economy. During 
fiscal 2010 we made significant investments in 
our processing capabilities and, in fiscal 2011, 
we expect to continue investing in this critical 
region, including improving the non‑ferrous 
recovery technology downstream of our 
shredders, among other capital projects. 
We anticipate that such investments will 
generate high returns and further enhance 
our leadership position in this market.

Sales revenue for the region was up 5% on the 
prior corresponding period to $1.2 billion. EBIT 
was up 227% to $61 million. Scrap intake in the 
region increased by 14% for the 2010 fiscal year 
to 1.7 million tonnes, on a year-on-year basis. 

in recognition of our dedication 
to sustainability, the Company 

was named, for the second year 
in a row, as one of the 100 Most 

Sustainable Corporations in 
the world, at the Davos World 

Economic Forum.

New state-of-the-
art non-ferrous 
shredder residue 
plant at Claremont 
Terminal, Jersey City,  
NJ, USA.
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Chairman’s and group Chief Executive officer’s Review

Europe 
Despite the macroeconomic headwinds, our 
European division also delivered outstanding 
performance in fiscal 2010. These impressive 
results were led by strong contributions 
from SRS, our electronics recycling business, 
and solid performance by our UK metals 
recycling business.

Sales revenue was up 7% on the prior 
corresponding period to $1.2 billion. EBIT was 
$67 million. Scrap intake in the region increased 
by 4% to 1.4 million tonnes in fiscal 2010, 
on a year-on-year basis. 

Acquisitions
We continued our expansion efforts in fiscal 
2010 through several quality acquisitions, 
including:

Fairless Iron & Metal–– , a ferrous and 
non‑ferrous recycler based in Pennsylvania 
on the East Coast of the United States, 
which closed in the beginning of the 2010 
fiscal year. Through this acquisition, 
we added two major facilities including 
a state‑of‑the‑art mega‑shredder, 
non‑ferrous recovery systems and a deep 
water port for the export of our products.

In September 2009, –– Technorecycle GmbH, 
a leading German electronics scrap recycler 
and asset recovery specialist located in 
Hochheim am Main near Frankfurt, and 
the Company’s second recycling solutions 
operation in Germany.

In November 2009, the remaining 50% of our ––
previous joint venture operation Port Albany 
Ventures, LLC, a mixed‑use bulk material 
stevedoring operation in the Albany region 
of New York, located on a 28 acre dock 
facility on the Hudson River. 

In addition, we are excited about the recent 
acquisition of the UK electronics recycling 
assets of Wincanton PLC which closed after 
the 2010 fiscal year ended on 13 August 2010. 
The transaction enhanced our geographical 
footprint within the UK market, allowing us to 
provide a more localised service to our growing 
client base. The retailer led capability and 
logistics expertise of Wincanton’s recycling 
division, together with its infrastructure, ideally 
complements our business model and processing 
expertise. Furthermore, the addition of a 
collaborative arrangement in reverse logistics 
with Wincanton PLC will allow us to offer an 
unparalleled level of recycling excellence and 
service convenience to our UK customer base. 

Investing In Technology
Sims Metal Management will emerge from the 
economic downturn a safer, stronger, more 
nimble and more efficient company. Part of our 
strategy in this regard involves investing in new 
technologies.

In North America, we installed new non‑ferrous 
separation and recovery systems at several 
East Coast locations – in Jersey City, New 
Jersey; North Haven, Connecticut; as well as 
Long Beach, California. In addition, investments 
were made to further improve our operational 
efficiency, environmental compliance and 
safety procedures. 

2

1

1.	� New state-of-the-
art non-ferrous 
shredder residue 
plant at St Marys, 
NSW, Australia.

2.	� Similar plant under 
construction at 
Rocklea, QLD, 
Australia.
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At our Canadian SRS operation, investment 
commenced on a new facility to process 
Ontario’s materials from that Province’s 
newly legislated e‑recycling program. 

In Australasia, we completed several major 
production and technology projects during the 
year. In Queensland, we significantly upgraded 
our Brisbane shredder which is delivering 
substantial capacity improvements while 
reducing energy consumption. We installed a 
state‑of‑the‑art non-ferrous shredder residue 
plant at St Marys, New South Wales. This plant 
is already delivering substantially improved 
recoveries, and similar plants will be installed 
throughout Australasia during the 2011 and 2012 
fiscal years.

In our Europe Division, the UK metals division has 
begun investment into technology for further 
separation to recover plastics and metals from 
residual waste streams; it is anticipated that 
these units will be commissioned in fiscal 2011. 
Sims Recycling Solutions has invested globally 
in value adding technologies including further 
investment in plastics and metals separation 
equipment. In Europe, SRS commissioned new 
TV and monitor glass recycling processes 
to automate processing and improve safety 
performance. 

In all, as we continued to expand our 
infrastructure and invest in new technology, 
our capital expenditure in fiscal 2010 totalled 
$121 million. We will, given our growth plans and 
intention to sustain our industry leadership 
position, continue to invest in our facilities and 
technology to serve the long-term interests of 
Sims Metal Management. 

The Board of Directors
At the November 2009 Annual General Meeting 
we had the pleasure of adding three new 
non‑executive members to our Board of 
Directors: Geoff Brunsdon, Jim Thompson 
and Paul Sukagawa. 

Geoff Brunsdon previously served on our Board 
for eight years, from 1999 until he voluntarily 
stepped down in 2007. 

Jim Thompson has an impressive background in 
the steel industry and has Australian experience, 
having served as Chairman of the joint venture 
company North Star/BlueScope Steel. 

Paul Sukagawa replaced Mike Iwanaga as a 
representative of Mitsui Group (Mike retired 
from the Board in November 2009). Paul has 
held various positions within Mitsui since 1973, 
including President & Managing Director of 
Mitsui Iron Ore Development from 2004 to 2007. 

Geoff, Jim and Paul have already proven 
themselves to be valuable additions to our 
Board, and we look forward to their on‑going 
contributions.

Looking Forward
Given our unique global metals and electronic 
recycling platform; and the best assets in 
our industry – our people; we are optimistic 
about our future prospects. We have taken 
steps to enhance our infrastructure and 
trading capabilities and we are confident that 
our operations will demonstrate tremendous 
operating leverage – particularly in North 
America – as and when scrap flows and 
margins normalise and macroeconomic trends 
demonstrate more meaningful economic 
recovery and growth characteristics. We will 
continue to grow and expand the leadership 
position enjoyed by our Sims Recycling Solutions 
division. Our solid balance sheet ensures that 
we have the financial flexibility to develop and 
implement new technologies, pursue acquisitions 
and expand and invest in our global business.

As always, we will continue to execute on our 
strategy to create substantial long‑term value 
for our shareholders while meeting the needs of 
our customers and other stakeholders. 

Paul J. Varello 
Chairman

Daniel W. Dienst  
Group Chief Executive Officer 
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Since we commenced reporting on sustainability 
in 2006, our systems for collecting information, 
analysing the data and managing the many 
non‑financial aspects of our business have grown 
significantly, both in scope and in application. 
This has presented many challenges, particularly 
considering that the number of Company sites 
has more than doubled in that period. The 
mergers and business acquisitions that the 
Company has been through bring the challenge 
not just of merging diverse information 
systems at various levels of maturity, but also 
of fostering a common culture, drawing on 
the very best of the skills, talents, views and 
beliefs of all our employees. It is great testimony 
to them that they continue to be committed 
to growing and improving our efforts in the 
areas of safety (which is now, and always will 
be, our number one priority), environmental 
management, energy and water use reduction, 
carbon emissions, waste generation, and the 
many other components that together form the 
basis for our journey towards being one of the 
world’s most sustainable businesses.

There is significant consensus among investors 
and analysts that companies that embrace 
sustainability as part of their management 

approach are better equipped to deal with the 
challenges of business and the ever-changing 
commercial, operational and political environment 
of the 21st century. While many continue to see 
sustainability reporting as a communications 
matter between a company and its stakeholders, 
Sims Metal Management has come to appreciate 
that sustainability provides a powerful tool 
to unite the men and women of our Company, 
continually inspiring us all to act with a common 
direction and determination to deliver excellence 
in all aspects of our business while further 
improving our internal management systems.

Of all the sustainability issues, the safety of 
our people, contractors and visitors remains 
the paramount goal at Sims Metal Management. 
Undertaking work safely is a non-negotiable 
work condition and, while we continue to make 
great improvements to our work environment 
and culture, we will never stop in our endeavour 
to create a zero harm workplace, where every 
person will go home in the same condition in 
which he or she came to work.

As the world increasingly focuses on the 
impact of global warming and how to mitigate 
its effects, it is inevitable that companies 
will need to change the way in which they do 

2010 Overview

managing sustainability

Sims Metal Management remains 
committed to the voluntary 

disclosure of its key sustainability 
performance for all stakeholders 

and is pleased to present the 
following summary of its efforts 

in fiscal 2010.

1.	� Upgraded 
shredder 
facility, Rocklea, 
QLD, Australia 
reducing energy 
consumption.

2.	� The world’s 
largest and 
most modern 
WEEE plant 
at Newport, 
Wales, UK.

3.	� An employee 
scans in an 
electronic device 
at the Dumfries, 
Scotland, UK 
Sims Recycling 
Solutions facility.
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business. In a world where energy, water and 
waste disposal costs continue to rise – either 
as a direct result of diminishing availability of 
resources, or as an indirect result of policy 
measures designed to change how we use these 
resources – it makes prudent business sense 
to manage our resources in a clearly directed 
strategic framework. While many of the policy 
signals in the regions in which we operate may 
be mixed or unclear in the near term, there is 
no doubt that significant changes will occur in 
the longer term. Sims Metal Management is 
positioning itself to manage the impact that 
such changes, if they should arise, will have on 
its business environment. 

Being a recycling company, our entire ethos is 
about resource efficiency and doing more with 
less. However, this of itself is not enough. In all 
of our regions, operational teams are formally 
tasked with finding ways to increase energy 
efficiency and reduce water usage and waste, 
thereby uniting our people in the common goal 
of finding better and more sustainable ways 
to conduct our operational activities. Our 
measuring and reporting on resource usage 
aspects of our business form a crucial basis 
for these efforts.

Being a recycling company, 
our entire ethos is about 
resource efficiency and 

doing more with less.

1

2

3
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Key Parameter Region F10 F09
percentage 
change (+/–)

Energy Use North America Total (GJ) 
Europe and UK Total (GJ) 
Asia Pacific Total (GJ) 
Group Total (GJ)

2,052,602 
443,711 
660,978 

3,157,291

2,091,203  
398,581  
674,740  

3,164,524 

–2 
11 
–2 

0

CO
2
 Emissions

 

North America Total (tCO
2
e) 

Europe and UK Total (tCO
2
e) 

Asia Pacific Total (tCO
2
e) 

Group Total (tCO
2
e) 

Scope 1 (tCO
2
e) 

Scope 2 (tCO
2
e)

200,797 
39,429 
73,219 

313,445 
142,256 
171,189

202,656  
37,200  
79,400  

319,256  
143,045  
176,211 

–1 
6 

–8 
–2 
–1 
–3

Water Consumption

 

 

North America Total (Cubic Metres) 
Europe and UK Total (Cubic Metres) 
Asia Pacific Total (Cubic Metres) 
Group Total (Cubic Metres)

1,062,125 
62,335 

106,092 
1,230,552

895,150  
55,238  

147,009  
1,097,397 

19 
13 

–28 
12

Waste Generation

 

 

North America Total (Tonnes) 
Europe and UK Total (Tonnes) 
Asia Pacific Total (Tonnes) 
Group Total (Tonnes)

1,291,903 
303,167 
243,139 

1,838,209

1,023,176  
319,617  
261,960  

1,604,753 

26 
–5 
–7 
15

Key OH&S Indicators Group LTIFR (LTIx1,000,000/exposed hours) 
Group MTIFR (MTIx1,000,000/exposed hours)

3.2 
14.2

4.8 
19.4

–33 
–27

Number of Employees Male 
Female 
Group Total

4,740 
878 

5,618

 4,699  
 855  

5,554

1 
3 
1

Training Group Total Hours (Corporate training only) 238,728  42,387 463

10

Sustainability at a Glance

LMS Generation’s 
jointly owned landfill 
gas renewable 
energy facility at 
Eastern Creek, NSW 
–Australia’s largest 
built this decade.
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We were particularly pleased that our ongoing 
efforts were recognised for the second 
consecutive year by the World Economic Forum 
in Davos, Switzerland, where Sims Metal 
Management again was nominated as one of the 
Global Top 100 Most Sustainable Corporations 
in the World. Our efforts also were recognised 
at the Ninth Australian Sustainability Awards, 
where Sims Metal Management received the 
“Special Award for Environment” for establishing 
best-of-sector low carbon intensity and 
for structuring its own strategies around a 
framework of energy efficiency, green energy 
usage and carbon offsets. Additionally, it was 
pleasing that our efforts were recognised by 
many other analysts and research organisations. 

The Company once again participated in 
the global Carbon Disclosure Project, our 
fifth year of participation, and in the Dow 
Jones Sustainability Index, our third year of 
participation. Further, our UK operations were 
privileged to join the Carbon Trust – an initiative 
of the UK Government.

One interesting measure of the contribution 
that Sims Metal Management makes to a 
sustainable future is the impact that the use 
of its recycled materials provides in reducing 
energy use and therefore carbon emissions. 
Based on research by the Imperial College in 
London, the tonnes of secondary metal materials 
that were recycled by Sims Metal Management in 
fiscal 2010, when compared to the use of virgin 
materials in the manufacture of steel and other 
metal products, saved close to 13 million MWh 
of energy. Further, and most importantly, it also 
avoided 13.2 million tonnes of CO

2
 being emitted 

to the atmosphere, more than that emitted by 
many small countries. 

In addition, LMS Generation Pty Ltd (LMS), our 
50% owned Australian based green energy 
provider, generated nearly 1.2 million tonnes 
of verified CO

2
 emissions abatement, while 

generating nearly 300 thousand MWh of 100% 
sustainable energy.

Thus, the contribution made by Sims Metal 
Management in preserving millions of tonnes 
of valuable and increasingly scarce recyclable 
materials that would otherwise have ended up 
in landfills, and reducing the energy and water 
used in the manufacture of raw materials, 
illustrates why it is one of the world’s most 
sustainable companies.

Nevertheless, in delivering these very 
sustainable outcomes, the Company uses energy 
and other resources in the collection, processing 
and ultimate sale of its recyclable materials.

As in prior years, the sustainability parameters 
presented in this report, together with its 
reporting on fiscal and corporate governance, 
form the Company’s core response to the 
benchmark guidelines set out in the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI). The GRI is a network 
based organisation that pioneered the world’s 
most widely used sustainability reporting 
framework and is committed to its continuous 
improvement and application worldwide. Our 
sustainability efforts are supported by a wide 
spectrum of corporate policies and initiatives, 
many of which are located on the Company’s 
website at www.simsmm.com.

As in previous years, this report is based around 
the key areas of environment, health and safety, 
and community, specifically broken into the 
sub‑categories of:

energy use and carbon footprint;––

water use;––

waste management and generation;––

key environmental indicators;––

key OH&S indicators;––

safety initiatives;––

employee retention and diversity;––

human rights; and––

training and development.––

Key sustainability parameters are briefly 
summarised in the table on page 10, while further 
details are provided in the explanatory text.

As illustrated in the table on page 10, there has 
been a decrease in energy use and resulting 
carbon emissions in most regions, as well as 
for the Group as a whole. The exception is 
in Europe and the UK, where two large Sims 
Recycling Solutions (SRS) recycling plants 
(including the world’s largest and most modern 
e-recycling plant) were brought on line during 
the fiscal year. It also should be noted that the 
energy and carbon figures include data from 
SA Recycling, our 50% owned joint venture 
operation located in the Southwest of the 
United States comprising approximately 
40 sites, with more than 1,000 employees. 
We chose to include the carbon profile of this 
operation for completeness and compatibility 
with last year’s data. 
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ENVIRONMENT

ENERGY and CARBON

Energy and Carbon Policy
Our formal ‘Energy and Carbon Emissions Policy’ 
was revised during the fiscal year to provide 
clear goals and articulate formal requirements 
for management and employees to identify, 
pursue and implement energy initiatives 
and carbon reduction opportunities. These 
objectives fit into our continuing strategic 
hierarchy of:

Efficient use of energy––  – Striving to employ 
production processes and transport 
activities that facilitate a commercially 
viable level of energy efficiency and 
associated carbon emissions profile.

The use of renewable and cleaner forms ––
of energy – Progressively striving, where 
commercially viable, to reduce the use of 
non-renewable energy sources and increase 
the use of energy sources with a lower 
carbon emissions profile.

The use of verifiable and accredited carbon ––
offsets – Although our view is that carbon 
offsets are a last resort measure to be 
employed only when other carbon reduction 
efforts have been exhausted, our affiliate 
LMS annually generates accredited 
carbon offsets nearly four times the size 
of the Company’s total fiscal year 2010 
carbon footprint.

Formal energy teams have been working for 
several years in each operating region to 
reduce our energy consumption and examine 
alternative energy sources, including the use 
of renewable fuels and co-generation. Once 
a project or operational development has 
been identified, a project team, which includes 
a “site energy champion”, is nominated to 
undertake implementation. Overall progress 
is monitored by the energy steering team and 
reported through the regional Safety, Health, 
Environment and Community (SHEC) Committees 
and communicated to the Company Board of 
Directors via the global SHEC Committee. 
Examples of projects undertaken during fiscal 
year 2010 include: 

North America––  – Shredder installations 
continue to be among our biggest users of 
electricity. The expanded use of capacitor 
banks at most of them, together with 
variable frequency drives for conveyors 
and higher efficiency motors, has provided 
improvements to power factors and energy 
efficiency. Where available and practical, 
energy demand-response programs are being 
used, and increased metering equipment 
is providing valuable data on energy usage 
and efficiency for the targeted equipment. 
Lighting audits have resulted in sweeping 
upgrades to more efficient lighting. A number 
of solar and wind energy proposals are under 
consideration. In addition, several initiatives 
with the potential for carbon reduction in 
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mobile equipment have been implemented or 
are under examination, including the use of 
higher efficiency engines, and policies and 
equipment to reduce motor idling.

Europe––  – A number of energy initiatives 
produced a comparative overall reduction 
in electrical energy usage of 9.4% compared 
to fiscal 2009, although the new operations 
of Newport and Ellesmere Port waste 
electrical and electronics equipment 
(WEEE) plants, as well as an expansion 
of our transport fleet, resulted in a net 
increase in energy consumption for Europe 
of 11%. An annual carbon saving of 777 tCO

2
 

was achieved through various efficiency 
measures at Stalybridge, while our plant 
at Dumfries reduced gas consumption by 
a very significant 53%. The general market 
downturn meant less feedstock and 
consequently a slight reduction in the energy 
efficiency of our UK shredders, but new 
operational measures such as idling policies 
and isolation of equipment provided for an 
absolute energy reduction. 

Australasia––  – As in North America, our 
shredder operations represent the major 
energy users within our scrap processing 
activities and continue to be the main 
focus for maximising our energy efficiency. 
Specifically, the Rocklea, Queensland 
shredder was upgraded, resulting in energy 
reductions per tonne processed in the 
order of 10%. Similarly, potential energy 

saving measures have been identified at 
the St Mary’s, NSW shredder, and are 
scheduled for implementation over the 
coming 12 months. Unfortunately, the 
amount of energy required for processing 
has increased as a result of rising demand 
for high density scrap in the challenging 
market conditions. While this has increased 
our energy consumption, lesser melt losses 
and higher transport efficiency for our 
customers mean an overall better outcome 
for the environment. The tilting rotary 
furnace system was upgraded at our 
Laverton North, Victoria aluminium smelter, 
resulting in increased energy efficiency 
and a reduction in emissions profile. Overall 
electricity consumption was reduced via the 
replacement of two older air compressors 
with a high efficiency unit, while furnace 
temperature monitoring was expanded, 
allowing for better burner management and 
temperature control, resulting in increased 
energy efficiency.

The continuing uncertainty surrounding 
government responses to carbon reduction 
measures in most of the regions in which we 
operate, combined with the overall sporadic 
availability and relatively high cost of renewable 
energy sources, makes it difficult for Sims Metal 
Management to formulate an absolute carbon 
reduction strategy. However, our systems for 
collecting and analysing data, combined with 
the innovation and skills of our energy teams, 

CO
2
 emissions profile  

by region and type
group CO

2
 emissions profile  

by energy type (tonnes CO
2
E)
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make us well prepared to respond quickly and 
efficiently to policy and economic drivers as 
they emerge. One example of this has been 
the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme (previously 
known as the Carbon Reduction Commitment), 
which is a new, mandatory, energy saving and 
carbon emissions reduction scheme for the 
UK. Our systems and data allowed Sims Metal 
Management to smoothly engage with the UK 
Government on this issue, as well as sign up 
with the Carbon Trust to gain recognition for 
the considerable energy initiatives that the 
Company has achieved over the years.

Fuel and Electricity
Total energy use for the Group in fiscal 2010 was 
3,157,291GJ, down by 7,233GJ from that in fiscal 
2009. This was achieved despite an 11% increase 
in energy consumption in the UK, primarily a 
result of the world’s largest and most modern 
WEEE plant being commissioned by the Company 
in Wales, and our new television and monitor 
glass treatment facility opening in Ellesmere 
Port. The reduction in overall energy use is 
testimony to the important and ongoing work 
being done by the energy teams in each region.

Diesel consumption remains the largest 
component of the Company’s energy profile, 
followed by electricity; gas used primarily in our 
Australian aluminium smelter and the SRS metals 
smelting operation in Franklin Park, Illinois, USA; 
and relatively small contributions from LPG 
and petrol.

Carbon Footprint
The energy profile of the operational activities 
at Sims Metal Management may be converted 
into a corresponding carbon profile. This has 
been done by independent external experts 
using the most recent factors that apply to the 
relevant operational region and in accordance 
with the procedures recommended under the 
international Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

The total CO
2
 equivalent profile for fiscal 

2010 was 313,445 tonnes, down by 2% on fiscal 
2009’s emissions profile. It should be noted that 
while diesel remains the highest component in 
terms of energy use, electricity accounts for 
the greatest contribution to the Company’s 
emissions profile. This is a result of the variation 
in the conversion factors applied under the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

A company’s CO
2
 profile may be divided into three 

different types of emissions: 

Scope 1––  – Emissions resulting from direct 
conversion of energy by the company, such 
as burning of fuels on site or in mobile 
equipment and transport; 

Scope 2––  – Emissions resulting from indirect 
conversion of energy, such as externally 
supplied electricity; and

Scope 3––  – Emissions associated with 
activities under external control, such as 
independently operated service providers, 
air travel and so on.

water consumption  
FOR F10 and F09

scope 1 and scope 2 
emissions profile
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Due to ongoing ambiguity in respect of boundary 
conditions and the practical difficulties of 
collecting reliable information from externally 
controlled entities, Sims Metal Management does 
not currently collect and account for Scope 3 
emissions, although it continues to examine the 
opportunities for doing so prospectively.

Compared to fiscal 2009, Scope 2 emissions 
were reduced by 3%, while Scope 1 emissions 
were reduced by 1%.

Various metrics are often applied to normalise 
a company’s energy and carbon profile, so as to 
allow a year-on-year comparison of performance, 
while allowing for changes to the operational 
scope of a company. Typically, such metrics are 
related to financial parameters such as earnings 
or revenue but, because of the extreme volatility 
of commodity prices, such metrics are not 
meaningful in the case of Sims Metal Management 
Limited. Equally, the complex interaction of 
transport, intake volumes, processing and 
distribution to market makes it difficult to 
define a simple, but adequate, alternative.

In the absence of an ideal metric, Sims Metal 
Management has historically reported on the 
amount of CO

2
 equivalent per shipped tonne.

Based on total shipped tonnes of 12.9 million 
tonnes, the CO

2
 emissions for fiscal 2010 

were 24kg/tonne, unchanged from fiscal 2009. 
This is largely because, while sales and intake 
volumes continue to be under pressure as a 
result of the global downturn, operational 
activity does not decrease proportionally. 
This continues to present challenges to the 
Company, and we are evaluating appropriate 

mitigating alternatives. There are also additional 
factors to consider. For example, the increased 
demand for higher density products requires 
more energy to produce. This raises the 
Company’s energy profile and yet also assists in 
decreasing the energy profile of its customers, 
resulting, overall, in a benefit to the environment.

To put our emissions profile into context, 
it is worth noting that while the Company 
emitted 313,445 tonnes of CO

2
 equivalent as 

a result of its operational activities, the use 
of our secondary products avoided 13.2 million 
tonnes of CO

2
 equivalent being released to 

the atmosphere, a ratio of 1 in 42. This again 
illustrates the very significant benefit to the 
environment of recycling.

Obligated External Reporting
Sims Metal Management is not required to 
report under the European carbon trading 
scheme, or under the USEPA or state-specific 
carbon reporting schemes in the US.

The Company does report under the Australian 
Energy Efficiencies and Opportunities Act 2006 
(EEO Act) and the National Greenhouse and 
Energy Reporting (NGER) Framework on matters 
relating to its Australian operations. Reports 
are prepared, with the assistance of qualified 
external specialists, and submitted annually. Not 
only do they identify energy initiatives covering 
80% of the total energy profile, but the reports 
also discuss progress made against initiatives. 
The reports are available to the public on the 
Company’s website at www.simsmm.com. 
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The Company’s aluminium operation in Victoria, 
Australia also reports under that state’s 
Environment and Resource Efficiency Plan (EREP) 
and WaterMap, a state initiative to identify and 
act on water efficiency.

The Company’s UK operations are captured 
under the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme 
(previously known as the Carbon Reduction 
Commitment). This scheme, which came into 
effect in April 2010, is a mandatory energy 
and climate change scheme administrated 
by the UK Environment Agency. The Company 
has registered with the scheme, and the 
systems it has developed for data collection 
and verification over several years, combined 
with the work undertaken by the energy teams, 
exceed the requirements of the legislation. 
Furthermore, Sims Metal Management has 
become the first metals and electronics 
recycling company in the UK to be awarded 
the Carbon Trust Standard, providing official 
recognition of our systems and the many energy 
initiatives undertaken to date.

Voluntary External Reporting
Sims Metal Management participated for the 
fifth consecutive year in the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP). The CDP is an independent 
not‑for-profit organisation which provides 
the largest database of corporate climate 
change information in the world. Since being 
formed in 2000, the CDP has become the global 
standard for carbon disclosure methodology 
and process, providing primary climate 
change data to the marketplace, institutional 
investors, purchasing organisations, analysts and 
government bodies. Details are available from the 

CDP website at www.cdproject.net, and, once 
the CDP completes its assessment, the annual 
submission will be available for viewing on our 
website as well. 

The Company also completed its third submission 
to the Dow Jones Sustainability Index. While we 
were pleased with the results, the Company was 
not designated a ranking as this global index is 
weighted towards the dominant presence of 
very large turnover companies.

Due to changes in some of the assessment 
criteria, the Company was prevented from 
meeting the deadline for participation in the 
FTSE4Good index in fiscal 2010. However, as 
it has participated in this important index in 
previous years, the Company intends to resume 
participation going forward. 

We continued our close working relationship with 
many external assessment and environmental 
research organisations, such as TruCost and 
Vigeo, which continue to rank us as a leading 
performer in our sector.

Most pleasing was the nomination of Sims 
Metal Management as one of the world’s 100 
most sustainable companies for the second 
year running by the World Economic Forum in 
Davos, Switzerland.

Equally pleasing was receiving the Special 
Award for Environment at the ninth Australian 
Sustainability Awards in recognition of 
“best‑of‑sector” low carbon intensity and for 
developing our own strategy and systems in a 
framework of energy efficiency, green energy 
and carbon offsets.
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Green Energy
LMS, the Company’s 50% owned Australian 
based green energy provider, continues to be 
prominent in the renewable energy industry, 
becoming the leading supplier of Renewable 
Energy Certificates (RECs) in Australia from 
electricity generation. A total of 272,722 RECs 
and 881,733 NSW Greenhouse Abatement 
Certificates were generated during fiscal 
2010, as well as 272,668MWh of green power. 
LMS also generated approximately 200,000 
verified Emission Reduction Units under the 
Department of Climate Change, Greenhouse 
Friendly Program. Being involved since its 
inception a decade ago, LMS’s has, under the 
program, successfully created more than 
1.3 million tonnes of verified abatement from 
the destruction of methane. 

Major achievements of our affiliate LMS during 
fiscal 2010 included the commissioning of a 
750kW renewable energy facility at the Birkdale, 
Queensland landfill and a 2200kW facility in NSW. 
Together with increases to existing facilities 
in NSW and Tasmania, LMS’s total generation 
capacity of green energy now stands at over 
320,000MWh.

As articulated in our Energy and Carbon 
Emissions Policy, we regard carbon offsets as 
a last resort once other reduction measures 
have been exhausted. At present, the Company 
has no plans to utilise carbon credit offsets. 
The option is, however, available at any time as 
the certified offsets generated by our affiliate 
LMS represent 3.7 times the global carbon 
footprint of Sims Metal Management.

WATER USE
Water is used in the Company’s shredder 
operations and mechanical separation processes 
and is recycled and re-used wherever possible. 
Where site layout and topography allow, runoff 
is harvested and, together with “grey water”, 
is always used in preference to town water. 
Nevertheless, many of our operations are 
located in warm climates with low rainfall/high 
evaporation characteristics which, coupled 
with the loss of water in the process chain, 
necessitate augmentation of water from 
external sources. 

While water consumption decreased by 28% in 
our Asia Pacific operations, it increased by 12% 
in Europe and the UK, primarily as a result of the 
new WEEE operations at Newport and Ellesmere 
Port being brought on stream. The apparent 
significant increase of 19% in water usage 

in North America is attributed to improved 
data collection, management and reporting. 
Previously, this information was collected 
manually at site level, but the introduction 
of new systems has meant that this data is 
centrally managed from information sourced 
directly from the providing utility, with increased 
data reliability. 

WASTE MANAGEMENT and GENERATION
The Company continues to invest significantly 
in new separation processes that increase the 
recovery of valuable materials and decrease the 
amount of waste generated as a by-product of 
recycling. In fact, the successful implementation 
of these downstream recovery projects is our 
second most important goal in fiscal year 2011, 
behind only safety. While we are well known for 
our processing capacity of metals, we have been 
increasing our focus on the recovery of valuable 
plastics as they are replacing metals in many 
consumer applications and therefore becoming 
a more significant portion of the waste stream. 
This, however, is a challenging area, as traditional 
metals separation technologies do not work 
for plastics. Furthermore, plastics need to 
be separated into primary polymers to have 
any real value in the marketplace and, with the 
proliferation of plastic types in modern‑day life, 
require a number of sophisticated and expensive 
separation technologies. Nowhere is this seen 
quite as starkly as in the processing of waste 
electronics, which have a very high percentage 
of plastic material. Glass, such as from 
television and computer screens, is another 
significant element of waste electronics, and 
our investment in new glass recovery and 
separation technologies has transformed 
these materials from a waste product to a 
recovered commodity.

Unfortunately, the combination of material 
complexity, available technology, regulatory 
obstacles, and costs does not always make 
recovery feasible. Consequently, our activities 
do generate a waste stream. However, the great 
benefit of recycling to the environment becomes 
apparent when considering that the 1.8 million 
tonnes of waste generated in total resulted 
from the production of 12.9 million tonnes of 
saleable material.

Despite decreases at its European and 
Australasian operations, the waste generated 
by the Company increased slightly overall, 
compared to fiscal 2009. With fiscal 2010 
shipped volumes being generally comparable 
to fiscal 2009, the increase is attributable to 
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the Company’s North American operations, 
primarily due to business acquisitions, as well 
as improved data collection procedures in 
fiscal 2010.

Of the Company’s total waste stream, 99.76% 
consists of simple waste or beneficial use 
material from our shredding operations. This 
material is classified as non‑hazardous, and is 
considered beneficial in many landfill uses ranging 
from hygienic daily cover control to drainage and 
methane recovery. 

It remains of particular concern that 
increasingly higher government taxes are being 
applied to this residual waste stream. While it 
is accepted that government taxes applied to 
waste disposal in general act as a driver towards 
recycling, the same taxes when applied to the 
unavoidable recycling residuals are a bottom line 
cost to the recycler, thus reducing the recycling 
outcome that otherwise could be delivered. 
By way of example, this report highlights the 
enormous energy and carbon savings that 
recycling can deliver, along with the preservation 
of resources and landfill, and governments 
should consider more sophisticated means 
of assisting, rather than hindering, the efforts 
of the recycling industry.

Sims Metal Management does generate a 
small portion of wastes classified as hazardous, 
accounting for 0.24% of its global waste stream. 
These wastes originate from the Company’s 
WEEE plants in the UK, the CFCs collected 
from our dedicated fridge recycling plants in 
Wales, UK, and certain residuals collected for 
specialised disposal in the USA. The UK fridge 
units are recycled in a fully enclosed environment 

and all refrigerants in the cooling circuit, as well 
as other chlorofluorocarbon compounds trapped 
in the insulation foam, are collected and sent 
to special government approved facilities for 
audited destruction.

KEY ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS

Environmental Policies
The Company revised its formal Environmental 
Policy during fiscal 2010 to more clearly 
articulate its commitment to protection of the 
natural environment and to its environmental 
performance, objectives and targets, as well as 
the continual improvement of standards and the 
training and education of all its employees.

While the vast majority of the Company’s 
operations are located in heavily industrialised 
or urban areas, and the very nature of its 
activities aids the conservation of resources 
and thus biodiversity, the Company recognises 
that the management of biodiversity is a 
fundamental part of its public responsibilities. 
Therefore, it was appropriate that the Company 
articulated a Biodiversity Policy which, together 
with its environmental policy and operational 
guidelines, sets standards for the protection 
of the environment, habitats and waterways.

Both policies are available on the Company’s 
website at www.simsmm.com.
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Accreditation
Sims Metal Management continues to pursue 
feasible and appropriate environmental 
accreditation across all its operating regions.

North America – All metal recycling facilities 
are covered by a rolling five year SHEC plan 
which is consistent with the core elements 
of ISO 14001. In fiscal 2011, North America 
is considering initial implementation at some 
facilities of a US‑based ISO-modelled quality, 
environmental and safety accreditation system 
designed specifically for the scrap industry 
incorporating most ISO parameters. Ten of 
the 12 SRS facilities in North America have 
ISO 14001 certification, while the remaining two 
are scheduled for certification in fiscal 2011.

Europe – All metal shredder operations have 
ISO 14001 accreditation, while all feeder yards 
meet ISO 9001 standards. The progressive 
upgrading of these operations to ISO 14001 
accreditation is currently under consideration. 
All SRS operations in the UK and Europe have 
ISO 14001 accreditation.

Australasia – Six of the metal recycling 
operations have ISO 14001 certification, while 
all other operations meet the requirements 
of ISO 9001. All but two of the most recent 
SRS acquisitions have ISO 14001 accreditation 
and these are scheduled for accreditation 
in fiscal 2011. Our aluminium facility also has 
ISO 14001 accreditation.

Audit program
All Sims Metal Management sites have an 
Environmental Management Plan that details, 
for each facility, the environmental issues that 
need consideration, the regulatory triggers 
for those issues, and the measures needed to 
respond appropriately. While these plans are 
based around a generic format developed over 
many years, each plan is tailored to the specific 
operational, compliance and environmental risk 
profile of the actual site.

These plans form an important part of 
our environmental monitoring and control 
systems that aim to prevent harm from our 
operations occurring. A central concept is our 
belief that the primary responsibility for good 
environmental performance lies firmly with the 
site, and that site management are the most 
appropriate persons to deal with such. In doing 
so, site management has the ability to draw on 
substantial internal resources available from 
environmental professionals across the Company, 
as well as external expertise as required.

To this end, each line manager is tasked with 
performing periodic environmental audits of 
his or her site. At many locations, the data is 
entered into a real-time interactive database 
which automatically generates follow-up 
actions, delegates responsibilities and deadlines, 
and informs responsible management of any 
deficiencies and corrective actions required. 
In turn, professionally trained environmental 
specialists audit these line management audits 
and conduct independent assessments to ensure 
comprehensive compliance. 
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The frequency of these audits is determined 
based on the site’s risk profile and compliance 
rating. Discussion with line management is 
initiated to resolve discrepancies or issues that 
are identified, identifying the root cause and 
preventing a recurrence. The system is based 
around using the audit process as an ongoing 
education of the Company’s employees, rather 
than being seen as a punitive measure. The 
system is fully supported by line management 
taking ownership of its own operation.

Overall progress and results are reported 
and discussed monthly by senior management 
in the region and shared via the regional 
SHEC committees. 

This key environmental management system 
is supported by several other tools, including 
a comprehensive and global electronic 
environmental (and safety) incident reporting 
system. This system utilises a computer-based 
data management system that allows information 
to be shared for learning purposes across the 
entire Sims Metal Management community. It 
also allocates responsibilities for corrective 
actions and deadlines which, if not met, result in 
the automatic commencement of notification to 
progressively senior management up to the Group 
CEO who may, if necessary, communicate same to 
the Board SHEC Committee.

Each region also operates a rolling five year 
environmental plan that identifies issues of 
an environmental nature that are considered 
of strategic importance for the continual 
improvement of the Company’s operations.

Statutory Environmental Breaches
While some environmental incidents did occur 
within our North American, European and Asia 
Pacific operations, there were no material 
statutory breaches.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY: KEY 
INDICATORS and SAFETY INITIATIVES
Safety is our number one priority. It is 
a non-negotiable condition of employment and we 
are committed to a “zero harm” workplace, where 
every employee, contractor or visitor will return 
home in the same condition as he or she arrived. 
These objectives are clearly articulated in our 
Safety and Health Policy, available on our website 
at www.simsmm.com and supported by our SHEC 
“Golden Rules” – 10 key rules which all employees 
are required to observe.

After many years of reducing our lost time 
and medically treated injury frequency rates 
year-on-year, we recognised that a new 
approach was needed to take the next step 
towards safety excellence.

Crucial to health and safety is the engagement of 
the employee and a genuine change in the culture 
and safety behaviour of every individual. This is 
not an easy task, nor something that is achieved 
in a short period of time.

After engaging DuPont Safety Resources 
(DSR) more than two years ago, the Company 
embarked on a fundamental revision of all its 
OH&S systems and core philosophy. While this 
journey is now well underway, it is by no means 
complete. Known throughout Global SRS and  
UK/Europe as the SimsMMway, in North America 
as SAAFE (Safe Acts Are For Everyone) and in 
Asia Pacific as TOM – Towards One Million (hours 
without a reportable injury), the core philosophy 
is based around the Observational Behaviour 
Audit (OBA) process – a “felt leadership” tool 
in which everybody from the Group CEO to 
shop floor employee engages in observing 
and discussing safe behaviour in a positive, 
empowering and non‑threatening manner.

Based on the premise that for each lost time 
injury there are 30,000 unsafe acts, the aim is to 
identify these unsafe acts and eliminate them so 
as to prevent an accident before it can occur.

At all our operations, OBAs are conducted 
throughout the day and recorded at the end of 
each shift, using the global SHEC database. Root 
cause analyses are performed for identified 
unsafe acts and for injuries, and corrective 
actions are allocated, together with deadlines 
and responsibilities, firmly aimed at a “No 
Repeat” outcome. If a deadline is missed, or a 
proposed action is not completed, the system 
automatically elevates the issue to the next in 
line manager, continuing up to senior executive 
management level. While this system ultimately 
ensures that appropriate measures are actioned, 
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it also provides for comprehensive reports to 
be generated in any format. This provides many 
ways for examining the collected data, resulting 
in an excellent tool for sharing safety information 
among all our employees.

While our safety culture is based on an open 
sharing of ideas in a positive and supportive 
environment, all employees can, if desired, report 
any safety concerns anonymously using the 
Company’s whistleblower reporting systems. 
Each report triggers a thorough investigation 
and, in cases where our safety culture is not 
being recognised and respected by employees 
or others at a facility, appropriate action is 
considered and taken.

This framework is complemented by hazard 
identification (HazReps), job cycle analysis, safety 
audits and pre-work assessment checks, as well 
as many other safety initiatives. Collectively, this 
allows the Company to concentrate on what is 
known as leading safety indicators – predicting 
what may happen – as opposed to the traditional 
lagging indicators – telling what has happened.

The leading indicators are continuously analysed 
to provide real-time information about possible 
safety hazards, and to structure inductions, 
toolbox talks, safety training and other safety 
communication with a direct and immediate 
relevance to the safety issues of the day. During 
fiscal 2010, a total of more than 60,000 OBAs 
were conducted and analysed, providing valuable 
insight into where to concentrate our safety 
efforts and supporting our ongoing efforts in 
creating a safe working environment.

While we can never stop in striving for a safer 
workplace, it is pleasing to note that, after 
many years of little or no change in our safety 
statistics, the lagging indicators are again 
reducing. The Lost Time Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 
– the number of lost time injuries multiplied by 
one million and divided by the number of hours 
worked – dropped from 4.8 in fiscal 2009 to 3.2 in 
fiscal 2010. Equally, the Medically Treated Injury 
Frequency Rate (MTIFR), similarly defined, fell 
from 19.4 in fiscal 2009 to 14.2 in fiscal 2010.

The Company also has in place a comprehensive 
occupational health regime, where pre-
employment and regular medical assessments are 
performed by doctors or qualified occupational 
hygienists. Specific tests such as audiometry, 
lung function, blood pressure, repetitive strain 
and others, are undertaken as needed to identify 
possible latent injuries or injuries.

In addition to this Company-wide framework, 
each region continues to add specific initiatives 
that enhance that region’s particular 
circumstances.

North America –The main focus for safety 
was the continuing implementation of SAAFE, 
working in consultation with DSR. The program 
is developed and refined through five process 
improvement teams (PITs). One PIT has 
implemented the North America OBA process, 
while another PIT has implemented the Incident 
Investigation process, including the use of root 
cause analysis and the closing out of incidents. 
The remaining PITs are for the development of 
rules and procedures, communication tools, 
and means for identifying and addressing 
organisational stress and Performance 
Management issues. The program has been 
successful in focusing accountability on line 
managers and supervisors, together with having 
employees accept responsibility for safety, with 
a significantly enhanced focus on safe work 
practices and injury reduction. North America 
has continued the highly successful “Bootcamp” 
program, aimed at providing hands-on training 
in the many SHEC responsibilities that face our 
front‑line management and workers, and how to 
act on those in a constructive manner.

In North America we achieved a 14% reduction 
in the All Accident Frequency Rate (AAFR) in 
fiscal 2010, when compared with fiscal 2009. The 
AAFR comprises the LTI, MTI and minor injuries 
frequency rate (minor injuries being those only 
requiring first aid).
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Europe – Two years ago, the UK metals division 
and SRS global set themselves a target of 
achieving a 50% reduction in the AAFR. It is a 
great testament to all our employees and safety 
professionals that this goal was achieved. A new 
strategic safety plan has been formulated for 
the coming two year period and another 50% 
reduction in the AAFR has been set as the safety 
target. The two year safety plan is cascaded 
into safety plans for each individual operation 
and further into personal safety plans which are 
reviewed and discussed on a regular basis and 
are linked to each employee’s Key Performance 
Indicators and, consequently, remuneration.

Many employees find conducting peer-to-peer 
OBAs challenging at a personal level. Therefore, 
it was decided to identify employees who were 
comfortable in undertaking them, and have them 
available as mentors – or “OBA champions” – to 
the broader workforce. This has proven to be 
a very positive initiative and has assisted in an 
accelerated uptake of this important safety 
tool.

At the end of fiscal 2010, 12 sites within Europe 
and SRS Global had attained OHSAS 18001 
accreditation, the highest safety standard 
in Europe, with plans for further sites to be 
accredited in fiscal 2011. 

Australasia – A new electronic induction 
system for truck drivers and contractors has 
been implemented throughout Australasia, 
allowing the tracking of any driver’s induction 
record before he or she is allowed to enter an 
operation.

A program of Safety Champions has been 
developed and implemented in the yards in 
conjunction with training, induction and toolbox 
tools to further the safety message among 
all employees.

The “Hearts and Minds” project Towards 
One Million (TOM) hours without a reportable 
incident continues to be on track, supporting our 
SHEC Golden Rules and emphasising that safety 
is a condition of employment. 

PEOPLE AND DIVERSITY

Employee Retention
The strength of Sims Metal Management lies 
firmly with the approximately 5,600 people who 
make up the Company. Their skills, dedication 
and pursuit of excellence, together with the 
cultural and social diversity they represent, 
are key components in the performance culture 
that has served the Company well over many 
years and which continues to make it stand out 
among its peers.

While the economic environment remains 
challenging in developed economies around the 
world, it did not result in a contraction of our 
workforce in fiscal 2010. Total turnover remained 
relatively steady, mostly due to staff leaving 
voluntarily in basic production related activities. 

Talent management and employee satisfaction 
are major priorities for Sims Metal 
Management. All salaried staff participate 
in annual performance assessments where 
job performance and career aspirations are 
constructively discussed with the one-up 
manager, and opportunities identified along 
with any training and/or further education that 
may be required. Many of our employees have 
been with the Company for 15 years or more, 
with several commencing in one of our trainee 
programs and working their way up into senior 
management positions, supported by both 
internal and externally delivered education 
programs, as well as mentoring schemes. 
While the Company has a policy of promoting 
from within, it supplements this with external 
recruitment. The relatively unique nature of 
our business means that there is often not 
a sufficient pool of experienced people to 
draw from. The Company therefore operates 
a number of well established programs to 
identify, hire and develop talented graduates in 
conjunction with tertiary education institutions.

Our formal grievance and fair treatment policy 
and procedures, together with its confidential 
complaints hotline, ensure that any employee 
concern is handled promptly, constructively and 
professionally without fear of retribution.
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Diversity
Close to 70% of our workforce is employed 
directly in production and, while gender equality 
and its promotion are priorities for Sims Metal 
Management, allowances must be made for the 
undeniably physical nature of this work, which 
presents an ongoing challenge in attracting 
female staff to yard positions.

HUMAN RIGHTS
Sims Metal Management is committed to 
being a respected and responsible corporate 
citizen by working constructively with its 
communities and other stakeholders and 
engaging in the honest and ethical conduct of its 
business. In this regard, we recognise that each 
employee is a representative of the Company 
and is required to act with courtesy, respect 
and integrity in all internal and external dealings. 
Furthermore, we are committed to respecting, 
promoting and upholding fundamental human 
rights, as set out in the UN Declaration of 
Human Rights and further defined in the OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. 
These commitments, as well as their specific 
application to our employees, are articulated 
in our Human Rights Policy, our Community 
Policy and our Code of Conduct, all available on 
our website at www.simsmm.com. Specifically, 
we recognise and uphold: 

the right to equal opportunity and ––
non‑discrimination;

the right to security of persons;––

the right to a safe and healthy workplace;––

the right to adequate remuneration; and––

the legal rights of our people pertaining ––
to the workplace in the regions in which 
we operate.

Sims Metal Management is also specifically 
committed to the prohibition and elimination 
of child and forced and compulsory labour 
throughout the communities in which it 
operates, and does not, to the extent of 
its ability, support products that rely on 
inappropriate labour processes.

Training and Development
In support of our people, their careers and 
our corporate vision, Sims Metal Management 
provides a range of comprehensive and ongoing 
training programs.

When joining the Company, all employees receive 
comprehensive induction training in the critical 
aspects of safety, environment and community. 
As an employee progresses through his or her 
career, refresher courses are provided on a 
regular basis, along with other job relevant 
training, allowing the employee to pursue 
professional enhancement and work skills.

During fiscal 2010, close to 240,000 hours of 
training was delivered, covering a range of 
issues. It should be noted that these training 
hours relate to corporate training only and 
exclude specific operational enhancement skills, 
which comprises many more training hours. The 
significant increase in the reported training 
hours delivered in fiscal 2009, as indicated in the 
table on page 10, reflects better tracking of 
these hours. A very large portion of this training 
(218,478 hours) was specifically related to safety 
training, again reflecting the high emphasis that 
Sims Metal Management places on the safety of 
its workers and in developing a genuine safety 
conscious culture.

Other training ranged from compliance matters 
such as Code of Conduct and Anti-Corruption 
Code training, to job enhancement training such 
as performance management, leadership and 
conflict resolution, and time management skills.
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The directors and management of Sims Metal 
Management Limited are committed to operating the 
Company’s business ethically and in a manner consistent 
with high standards of corporate governance. The 
directors consider the establishment and implementation 
of sound corporate governance practices to be a 
fundamental part of promoting investor confidence 
and creating value for shareholders, through prudent 
risk management and a culture which encourages 
ethical conduct, accountability and sound business 
practices. Sims Metal Management Limited’s corporate 
governance statement for the 2010 financial year 
has been prepared with reference to the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, 
2nd edition (August 2007) (Recommendations). Sims 
Metal Management Limited has complied with the 
Recommendations.

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS 
FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

1.1 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board is responsible for the corporate governance 
and overall performance of the Company and the Group 
and for providing strategic guidance for the Group. 
The board’s responsibilities encompass the setting of 
key objectives, monitoring performance and ensuring 
the Group’s internal control, risk management and 
reporting procedures are adequate and effective.

1.2 THE ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD 
AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES
The role and responsibilities of the board are formally 
set out in its charter. The board charter identifies the 
functions reserved for the board and those delegated 
to senior executives.

The board’s key responsibilities include:

overall corporate governance of the Group, including ––
oversight of its control and accountability systems;

appointing, removing and appraising the performance ––
of the Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

monitoring senior management’s performance ––
and implementation of strategy, and ensuring 
appropriate resources are available;

enhancing and protecting the reputation of the ––
Company by reviewing and ratifying systems of risk 
management and internal compliance and control, 
codes of conduct, and legal compliance; and

approving and monitoring the progress of major ––
capital expenditure, capital management, acquisitions 
and divestitures, and financial and other reporting.

The board has delegated general authority to manage 
the businesses of the Company to the CEO, who in turn 
may delegate functions to other senior management. 
However, the CEO remains answerable to the board and 
must comply with any limits on his authority established 
by the board from time to time.

Letters of appointment have been provided to all non-
executive directors, covering responsibilities, time 
commitments, performance evaluation, indemnity and 

insurance arrangements, and induction and development. 
The responsibilities and terms of employment of the CEO, 
the Group Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and certain other 
senior executives of the Group are also set out in formal 
contracts of employment.

1.3 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Annual performance objectives are set each financial 
year for all senior executives of the Group. These 
performance objectives include both financial and non-
financial measures. A year-end appraisal is conducted 
to assess performance against the executive’s personal 
priorities and the responsibilities and demands of their 
role. The outcome of the performance review process is 
reflected in tailored training and development programs 
and succession planning for each executive, as well as an 
annual remuneration review. For the 2010 financial year, 
annual performance reviews were completed in August 
2010, in accordance with the process disclosed.

The Remuneration Report on pages 38 to 55 contains 
further information regarding the process for evaluating 
the performance of senior executives for the purpose of 
determining their fixed and variable remuneration.

1.4 EXECUTIVE INDUCTION PROGRAMS
Senior executives are able to attend formal induction 
programs which provide an overview of the Group, and its 
key policies and processes. Meetings are arranged with 
other senior executives in the Group to brief the new 
executives on the Group’s businesses, strategic objectives, 
risk management practices and other information 
necessary to meet the requirements of their roles. Site 
visits are also arranged to familiarise the executives with 
the Group’s operations and key operating personnel.

A copy of the board charter is available from the 
corporate governance section on the Company’s website.

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

2.1 COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The board charter sets out the composition of the board 
and relevant criteria for assessing the independence 
of directors.

The board currently comprises nine non-executive 
directors and one executive director. Details of board 
members, including their skills, experience, qualifications 
and terms in office, are set out on pages 34 and 35.

2.2 BOARD ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
AND INDEPENDENT ADVICE
A director may, at the Company’s expense and subject to 
prior approval of the Chairperson, obtain independent 
professional advice relating to his or her duties and 
obligations as a board member. Board committees may 
also seek such independent professional advice. To the 
extent required to enable them to carry out their duties, 
all directors and board committees also have access to 
Company information and records and may consult senior 
management as required.

corporate governance statement
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2.3 INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS
The board charter states that board members 
shall be considered independent if they do not have 
any of the relationships identified in Box 2.1 of the 
Recommendations, and have been determined by the 
board to be independent, as defined in and to the extent 
required by the applicable rules of the United States 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the listing 
standards of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (NYSE) 
and other applicable laws and regulations, as they may be 
amended from time to time.

Having regard to these criteria, the board has determined 
that Messrs Paul Varello, Michael Feeney, Gerald Morris, 
Robert Lewon, Geoffrey Brunsdon and Jim Thompson were 
independent non-executive directors of the Company 
during the 2010 financial year. Mr Daniel Dienst, the CEO, 
is currently an executive director of the Company.

Mr Norman Bobins held the positions of President and 
Chief Executive Officer of LaSalle Bank Corporation 
(LaSalle) from 2002 to May 2007 and of Chairman from 
May 2007 until October 2007, at which time LaSalle 
was acquired by Bank of America (BoA). The Company 
has a US$200 million credit facility with BoA that 
was established by the former Sims Group Limited 
in September 2006. The Company also has a cash 
management services agreement in place with BoA, and 
processes cheque transactions and utilises lockbox 
services from BoA for certain of its subsidiaries in the 
United States. Transfer agent services previously utilised 
at LaSalle by the former Metal Management, Inc. were 
discontinued in March 2008. The board has determined 
that Mr Bobins is an independent non-executive director 
based on the fact that he was appointed a director of 
the Company in March 2008, well after the former Sims 
Group Limited had established the credit facility with BoA 
and that, in any event, he has no relationship with those 
responsible within BoA for that facility and, further, that 
the cash management systems relied upon at BoA by 
certain subsidiaries of the Company are non-material and 
routine in nature, and are determined by the Company 
acting at arm’s-length with BoA.

Mr Paul Sukagawa, a non-executive director, is not 
considered to be an independent director of the Company 
as a result of his association with Mitsui & Co., Ltd, 
which, through its affiliates, owns an 18% shareholding 
in the Company.

Notwithstanding the fact that Mr Christopher Renwick is 
a nominee of Mitsui & Co., Ltd, the board has determined 
that he is an independent non‑executive director. This 
view has been reached as Mr Renwick is not, and may not 
be, in accordance with the constitution of the Company, 
an Associate of the Mitsui Group (as those terms are 
defined in the constitution of the Company), and because 
Mr Renwick regards himself as an independent director.

In accordance with Recommendation 2.1, the board has 
a majority of directors who are independent.

The independence of the directors is regularly reviewed. 
In accordance with the board charter, all directors must 
disclose to the board any actual or perceived conflicts of 

interest, whether of a direct or indirect nature, of which 
the director becomes aware and which the director 
reasonably believes may compromise the reputation or 
performance of the Company.

2.4 CHAIRPERSON
Mr Paul Varello, an independent non-executive director, 
has held the position of Chairperson of the board since 
1 August 2009. Prior to that, Mr Paul Mazoudier, an 
independent non-executive director, held that position.

The roles of CEO of the Company and Chairperson of the 
board are separate, and the Chairperson must not 
also be the CEO. The Chairperson is responsible for the 
leadership of the board, establishing the agenda for 
board meetings, ensuring the board is effective, and 
chairing board and shareholders’ meetings.

2.5 BOARD PROCESSES
The board holds at least four scheduled meetings a 
year, and otherwise as it considers necessary. Details of 
directors’ attendances at board meetings in the 2010 
financial year are reported on page 36.

To assist directors in enhancing their understanding of 
the Company’s business, directors are briefed from time 
to time by members of the executive team on divisional 
performance and key operational and strategic issues, 
financial matters, risk management, compliance and 
governance. The directors are also provided with an 
explanation of those proposed activities of the Group 
which require board approval.

The Group Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring 
that board procedures and policies are followed, and 
provides advice to the board on corporate governance 
and regulatory matters. All directors have unrestricted 
access to the advice and services of the Group 
Company Secretary.

2.6 BOARD COMMITTEES
The board has established five board committees to assist 
in the execution of board functions. Each committee has 
a written charter which is approved by the board and 
reviewed periodically. The charters of each of the board 
committees are available on the Company’s website.

Membership of the board committees is set out in the 
biographies of directors on pages 34 and 35.

Details of directors’ attendance at each committee 
meeting in the 2010 financial year are set out on page 36.

To enable each of the committees to discharge its 
responsibilities adequately and effectively, each 
committee has the authority to retain advisers 
and external legal counsel as required.

Each committee reports to the board and, following 
preparation of the minutes of each committee meeting, 
provides the board with copies of those minutes at the 
next occasion the board meets.

2.7 NOMINATION/GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
The Nomination/Governance (Nom/Gov) Committee 
is responsible for recommending new nominees for 
membership of the board in accordance with the 
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committee’s Policy and Procedures for the Selection 
and Appointment of New Directors and the Re-election 
of Incumbent Directors. The Nom/Gov Committee also 
assesses necessary and desirable competencies of 
board members.

The Nom/Gov Committee is also responsible for reviewing 
the corporate governance procedures of the Company 
and recommending changes to the board as appropriate; 
developing a plan for Board succession, including the 
succession of the Chairperson of the Board and the CEO 
of the Company, and monitoring succession plans for 
the Company’s management levels and key resources; 
and establishing procedures for and overseeing the 
evaluation of the board.

The Nom/Gov Committee has a formal charter, a copy of 
which is available from the corporate governance section 
on the Company’s website, approved by the board.

COMPOSITION
The Nom/Gov Committee shall comprise at least 
three directors of the Company, with a majority being 
independent. The current members of the Nom/Gov 
Committee are Messrs Robert Lewon (Chairperson), Paul 
Varello, Gerald Morris and Michael Feeney, all independent 
non-executive directors, and Mr Daniel Dienst. The 
board may appoint additional directors to the Nom/Gov 
Committee or remove and replace members of the Nom/
Gov Committee by resolution. The Nom/Gov Committee 
Chairperson shall not be the Chairperson of the board.

MEETINGS OF THE NOMINATION/GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE
The committee charter provides that the Nom/Gov 
Committee shall meet at least twice each year on a 
formal basis and additionally as circumstances may 
require. The Nom/Gov Committee met four times during 
the 2010 financial year.

2.8 BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
The Nom/Gov Committee is responsible for establishing 
procedures and overseeing the evaluation of the 
board. A formal performance evaluation was conducted 
involving the directors self-assessing the collective 
performance of the board. As part of the review 
process, directors were also asked to assess the board’s 
composition and structure, and any areas where the 
board’s effectiveness could be improved. The results of 
the evaluation, and individual committee assessments, 
were independently documented and will form the basis 
for the development of appropriate action plans under 
the guidance of the Nom/Gov Committee for the 2011 
financial year.

2.9 RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Nom/Gov Committee considers and nominates 
to the board candidates for election as directors. 
The Company’s constitution requires that non‑executive 
directors appointed by the board during the year must 
offer themselves for election by shareholders at the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company. In addition, 
a non-executive director may not serve without seeking 
re-election beyond the third Annual General Meeting 

following the meeting at which the director was last 
elected or re‑elected, or three years, whichever is longer. 
At least one director, other than the CEO, must retire at 
each Annual General Meeting. Retiring directors may offer 
themselves for re-election by the shareholders. The board 
does not impose a pre‑determined restriction on the 
tenure of directors as it considers that this restriction 
may result in the loss of vital experience and expertise.

2.10 DIRECTOR EDUCATION
A new board member orientation process has been 
established to provide new directors with an 
understanding of, and insight into, the industry, 
Company, management and control environment of 
the Group. As part of this process, directors receive 
a new board member orientation binder, meet with key 
senior executives and are given the opportunity to 
conduct site visits at significant operational facilities 
in various locations.

PRINCIPLE 3: PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE 
DECISION-MAKING

3.1 CODE OF CONDUCT
The Company’s Code of Conduct applies to all directors, 
officers and employees of the Group. It underpins Sims 
Metal Management Limited’s commitment to integrity, 
fair dealing and compliance with the law in its business 
affairs, and sets out expected standards of conduct with 
respect to all stakeholders, including fellow employees, 
customers, suppliers, shareholders and the community.

The Code of Conduct is designed to encourage ethical 
and appropriate behaviour by all Group personnel, 
and addresses a wide range of responsibilities to 
stakeholders, including conflicts of interest, security 
of information, use of Company assets and resources, 
discrimination and harassment, occupational health and 
safety, and the prohibition of corrupt conduct and the 
consequences in the event thereof.

The Code of Conduct encourages employees to raise 
any matters of concern without fear of retribution. The 
Company has implemented the Sims Metal Management 
Limited Ethics & Compliance Hotline to enable employees 
to report serious misconduct or unethical behaviour 
within the Group to an external third party. The Company 
also conducts employee education and compliance 
programs on a regular basis to help ensure compliance 
with various laws around the world.

3.2 ANTI-CORRUPTION CODE
In addition to the Code of Conduct, the Company has 
adopted an Anti-Corruption Code which has been 
developed to aid Sims Metal Management Limited 
employees, agents, contractors, consultants and 
partners in ensuring that they comply at all times with 
applicable anti-corruption laws and policies. Among 
other matters, the Code of Conduct sets out the 
Company’s policy in relation to conflicts of interests, 
gifts and hospitality, relationships with governments and 
political contributions.
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Copies of the Company’s Code of Conduct and 
Anti‑Corruption Code are available from the corporate 
governance section on the Company’s website.

3.3 DEALING IN COMPANY SECURITIES
Directors and employees of the Group are bound by 
the Company’s policy on dealing in the securities of the 
Company. Under the policy, directors, senior executives 
and other designated persons may only buy or sell 
Company securities during the period 24 hours to 28 days 
after the release of the Company’s yearly, half-yearly or 
quarterly results announcements or during such period 
following the conclusion of the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting, or during the currency of any capital raising 
prospectus issued by the Company or takeover bid for 
the Company.

A copy of the Company’s policy titled ‘Dealing in Sims 
Metal Management Limited Securities’ is available 
from the corporate governance section on the 
Company’s website.

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL 
REPORTING

4.1 RISK, AUDIT & COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
The Risk, Audit & Compliance (RAC) Committee assists 
the board in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee 
the quality and integrity of accounting, auditing and 
reporting practices of the Company. In particular, the 
primary role of the RAC Committee is to assist the 
board in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight 
responsibilities in relation to the Company’s accounting 
and financial reporting, internal control structure, 
risk management systems (including the review of 
risk mitigation, which includes commercial insurance 
coverage), internal and external audit functions, and 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The RAC Committee has a formal charter approved by 
the board. The RAC Committee reports to the board 
on all matters relevant to the RAC Committee’s role 
and responsibilities. The specific functions of the RAC 
Committee are set out in its charter and include:

reviewing and assessing the internal and external ––
reporting of financial information;

assessing management processes supporting the ––
integrity and reliability of the Company’s financial 
and management reporting systems and its 
external reporting;

overseeing the relationship with and performance of ––
the external auditor and assessing the independence 
of the external auditor; and

overseeing the performance of the internal audit ––
function.

The RAC Committee charter establishes a framework for 
the RAC Committee’s relationship with the internal and 
external auditor, and a policy has been adopted for the 
selection and appointment of the external auditor and 
for rotation of external audit engagement partners.

A copy of the RAC Committee charter is available from the 
corporate governance section on the Company’s website.

4.2 COMPOSITION
The RAC Committee charter provides for the RAC 
Committee to have at least three members, all of whom 
must be non-executive independent directors. The 
current members of the RAC Committee are Messrs 
Gerald Morris (Chairperson), Michael Feeney, Jim 
Thompson and Geoffrey Brunsdon, all of whom are non-
executive independent directors. Further, all members 
must be financially literate and at least one member 
must have accounting or related financial management 
expertise. Messrs Morris, Feeney and Brunsdon satisfy 
this requirement. Under the RAC Committee charter, a 
director may not be both the Chairperson of the RAC 
Committee and the Chairperson of the board.

4.3 MEETINGS OF THE RAC COMMITTEE
In accordance with its charter, the RAC Committee is 
required to meet at least four times each year on a 
formal basis, and holds additional meetings as necessary. 
Meetings are attended by invitation by the other 
directors, the CEO, the CFO, internal auditors and the 
external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC).

The RAC Committee met seven times during the 2010 
financial year. Details of attendance at meetings of the 
RAC Committee are set out on page 36.

4.4 EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The external auditor is responsible for planning and 
carrying out the audit of the Group’s annual financial 
reports and reviewing the Group’s half-yearly financial 
reports. The auditor provides a written confirmation 
to the Company of its independence in connection with 
the Company’s financial reports for each half-year and 
financial year.

The external auditor, PwC, was appointed in 1991. The 
lead external audit engagement partner is next due for 
rotation after the 2012 financial year.

The RAC Committee may meet with the external auditor 
without management being present at any time during 
each financial year. The external auditor is also provided 
with the opportunity, on request, to meet with the board 
of directors without management being present.

The Company has adopted a policy titled ‘Procedures for 
the Selection and Appointment of the External Auditors 
and for the Rotation of External Audit Engagement 
Partners’, a copy of which is available from the corporate 
governance section on the Company’s website.

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

5.1 CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE
The Company is committed to ensuring that the market 
and its shareholders are provided with complete and 
timely information. The Company has adopted a Market 
Disclosure Policy, supplemented by specific procedures, 
to ensure that it complies with the continuous disclosure 
obligations imposed by the ASX, and with its disclosure 
obligations under the rules and regulations of the SEC 
and the NYSE. A copy of the policy is available from the 
corporate governance section on the Company’s website.
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The Company has formed a Disclosure Committee 
comprising the CEO (as Chairperson), the CFO and the 
Group Company Secretary. The committee has a formal 
charter approved by the board. The primary role of the 
committee is to manage the Company’s compliance with 
its continuous disclosure obligations by implementing 
reporting processes and controls and determining 
guidelines for the release of disclosable information.

The Group Company Secretary has been appointed as 
the person responsible for communications with the 
ASX, SEC and NYSE, which includes overseeing and 
co-ordinating information disclosure to the ASX, SEC 
and NYSE.

All announcements provided to the ASX are posted on 
the Company’s website as soon as practicable after 
release to the market.

5.2 COMMENTARY ON FINANCIAL RESULTS 
AND PERIODIC DISCLOSURE
Sims Metal Management Limited strives to provide 
investors with sufficient information to make an 
informed assessment of the Company’s activities and 
results. Results announcements and media/analyst 
presentations are released to the ASX, SEC and NYSE 
and made available on the Company’s website. The Annual 
Report contains an operating and financial review to 
assist shareholders in understanding the Company’s 
operating results, business strategies, prospects and 
financial position.

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

6.1 COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company has adopted a statement on communication 
with shareholders which is designed to promote effective 
communication with shareholders and to encourage 
informed shareholder participation at the Annual General 
Meeting. A copy of the statement is available from the 
corporate governance section on the Company’s website.

Where practical, the Company uses technology to 
facilitate communication with shareholders. The 
Company’s website includes links to announcements 
to the ASX and copies of the annual, half-yearly and 
quarterly reports, notices of meetings, presentations 
and other information released to the market. By 
registering with the Company’s registrar, shareholders 
can receive email notifications when the Company makes 
an announcement to the ASX, including the release of 
financial reports. Sims Metal Management Limited’s 
Annual Report currently remains one of the principal 
means of communicating with shareholders. The Company 
also files a report on Form 20-F annually with the SEC.

The Company continues to review and enhance its 
website and to consider other ways to utilise technology 
to improve shareholder communication. Webcasts of 
results briefings allow access by all interested parties.

6.2 SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS
Shareholders have the opportunity to raise matters 
with the members of the board at the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting. The external audit firm partner 
in charge of the Sims Metal Management Limited 
audit also attends the Annual General Meeting and is 
available to answer questions from shareholders on 
audit-related matters.

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

7.1 RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The board recognises that the effective management of 
risk is essential to achieving the Group’s objectives of 
maximising Group performance and creating long-term 
shareholder value while meeting its commitments to 
other stakeholders, including its employees, customers 
and the wider community.

The Company has adopted a Risk Management Policy and 
a statement on internal compliance and control systems.

The board is responsible for ensuring that there 
are adequate policies in place with respect to risk 
management. The board and senior management are 
responsible for determining the level of risks acceptable 
to Sims Metal Management Limited.

To help ensure all risks relevant to the Company are 
considered, a systematic approach to risk identification 
is followed. Identifiable risk areas which are considered 
include:

maintaining a safe work environment for the ––
Company’s employees;

the safeguarding and efficient use of assets;––

management of human resources;––

ensuring the Company complies with its ––
environmental obligations;

achieving established objectives and goals;––

the reliability and integrity of financial and ––
operational information;

compliance with internal policies and procedures;––

compliance with laws and regulations; and––

changes in the Company’s internal and external ––
environments.

Measures of consequence and likelihood have been 
determined and are used on a consistent basis.

The Company’s primary risk assessment process 
comprises a comprehensive annual risk review.

The board is responsible, on the recommendations of the 
RAC Committee, for ensuring that there are adequate 
policies in place in relation to internal control systems 
over financial reporting. The board places considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong internal control 
environment. The internal control system is based upon 
written procedures, policies, guidelines, job descriptions 
and organisational structures that provide an 
appropriate division of responsibility. It also relies upon 
the careful selection and training of key personnel.
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Internal control systems are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis to ensure that the systems are updated to reflect 
changes in Sims Metal Management Limited’s operations 
and the environment in which the Company operates. 
The Company has detailed written documentation 
covering critical areas. Internal Audit carries out regular 
systematic monitoring of control activities and reports 
to the RAC Committee and senior management. In the 
2009 and 2010 financial years, the Company validated 
its internal controls over financial reporting as required 
under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

An internal audit plan is prepared, with input from the 
RAC Committee and senior management, annually by 
the Global Head of Internal Audit. This annual internal 
audit plan takes into consideration the findings of an 
annual risk assessment report prepared by senior 
management. The RAC Committee approves this annual 
internal audit plan.

Sustainability reporting is part of, and is integrated into, 
the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s 
sustainability report, which provides stakeholders 
with an overview of Sims Metal Management Limited’s 
sustainability performance, is found on pages 8 to 23. 
The CEO has overall responsibility for Group sustainability 
matters, and a number of initiatives have been 
implemented to better enable the Group to measure, 
monitor and report on its sustainability performance.

SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY 
COMMITTEE
The board has established a Safety, Health, Environment 
& Community (SHEC) Committee.

The primary role of the SHEC Committee is to provide 
additional focus and advice to the board on key SHEC 
issues and to assist the board to fulfil and discharge 
its SHEC obligations.

The SHEC Committee shall comprise at least three 
directors of the Company, of whom one at least shall 
be independent. The SHEC Committee is composed 
of Messrs Christopher Renwick (Chairperson), 
Robert Lewon, Jim Thompson, Paul Sukagawa and 
Daniel Dienst.

FINANCE & INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The board has established a Finance & Investment (FIC) 
Committee. The primary role of the FIC Committee 
is to review, advise and report to the board on the 
management of the Company’s financial resources 
and invested assets, shareholder dividend policy and 
shareholder dividends, the Company’s capital plan and 
capital position, debt levels, hedging policies and other 
financial matters. The FIC Committee also reviews broad 
investment policies and guidelines for the Group and 
makes recommendations to the board.

The FIC Committee shall comprise at least three 
directors of the Company, of whom one at least shall 
be independent. The FIC Committee is composed of 
Messrs Norman Bobins (Chairperson), Robert Lewon, 
Paul Sukagawa, Christopher Renwick, Geoffrey Brunsdon 
and Daniel Dienst.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The board has responsibility for reviewing and ratifying 
internal compliance and control systems.

The RAC Committee reviews the effectiveness and 
adequacy of internal control processes relating to 
financial reporting on a regular basis and reports 
its findings to the board.

Management assumes the primary responsibility for 
implementing internal controls and for the internal 
control environment. In accordance with the Company’s 
policy, each regional President and regional Chief 
Financial Officer reports every six months to the CEO and 
the CFO and, if any exceptions, to the RAC Committee, on 
the operation and effectiveness of key internal controls. 
Any identified deficiencies in internal controls are 
followed up and addressed by division management.

In addition, the Company maintains an internal audit 
function to conduct internal audits and reviews of the 
Group’s operations.

The RAC Committee reviews the reports from the 
internal audit function on a regular basis, monitors its 
scope and resources, and approves the annual internal 
audit plan.

The Company monitors its control system on a continual 
basis and, where appropriate, enhances internal control 
processes to improve their effectiveness.

7.2 RISK MANAGEMENT ASSURANCE
The CEO and the CFO have stated in writing to the board 
in respect of the 2010 financial year that the Company’s 
financial reports present a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the Company’s financial condition 
and operational results and are in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards.

The board has also received a written statement of 
assurance from the CEO and the CFO that, in respect of 
the 2010 financial year, to the best of their knowledge 
and belief:

1.	 the declaration provided in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on 
a sound system of risk management and internal 
compliance and control which, in all material 
respects, implements the policies adopted by the 
board; and

2.	 the Group’s risk management and internal compliance 
and control system for the financial year is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to 
financial reporting risks.

Due to the geographic spread of the Group’s 
operations and the extensive delegation of authority 
and responsibility granted to senior business unit 
management, the CEO and the CFO, when attesting to 
the adequacy of the Company’s risk management and 
internal compliance and control system, rely significantly 
upon internal audit and the control certification reports 
received from each regional President and regional 
Chief Financial Officer regarding compliance with the 
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various risk management, compliance and internal control 
policies and procedures in the region for which each is 
responsible.

PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

8.1 REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The primary role of the Remuneration Committee 
(Remco) is to support and advise the board on the 
implementation and maintenance of coherent, fair 
and responsible remuneration policies at Sims Metal 
Management Limited which are observed and which 
enable it to attract and retain executives and directors 
who will create value for shareholders of the Company.

Remco has responsibility for, among other things, 
reviewing and making recommendations to the 
board on the:

remuneration and incentive performance packages ––
of the CEO and direct reports to the CEO;

Company’s recruitment, retention and termination ––
policies and procedures;

introduction and application of equity-based ––
schemes, including allocations; and

level of annual fees paid to the non‑executive ––
directors.

8.2 COMPOSITION
Remco shall comprise at least three directors of the 
Company, with a majority being independent. The Remco 
Chairperson is appointed by the board, and must be 
independent. Remco is composed of three independent 
non-executive directors, Messrs Michael Feeney 
(Chairperson), Paul Varello and Gerald Morris. The board 
may appoint additional directors to Remco or remove and 
replace members of Remco by resolution.

8.3 MEETINGS OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Remco has a charter, which provides for Remco to meet 
at least twice each year on a formal basis and additionally 
as circumstances may require. Details of the number of 
Remco meetings held, and attendance at those meetings, 
during the 2010 financial year are set out on page 36.

A copy of the Remco charter is available from the 
corporate governance section on the Company’s website.

8.4 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Remuneration Report sets out the total 
remuneration of non-executive and executive directors 
of the Company. Each of the non-executive directors 
is entitled to a fee for serving as a director of the 
Company and an additional fee for serving as Chairperson 
of a board committee. These fees are inclusive of 
any compulsory superannuation contributions (where 
applicable) and any retirement benefits. In general, no 
additional fees are payable to non-executive directors 
for other services performed outside the scope of their 
ordinary duties as a director or committee member.

The maximum aggregate remuneration of non‑executive 
directors is determined by a resolution of shareholders 
and is then divided between the directors as agreed 
by the board. The amount of aggregate remuneration 
sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner 
in which it is apportioned among non-executive directors 
is reviewed annually by Remco and recommendations are 
then made to the board. The board considers advice as to 
the fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable 
companies when undertaking the annual review process. 
When considered appropriate to do so, it will also obtain 
advice from external consultants.

8.5 REMUNERATION REPORT
The Company’s remuneration policy and procedures in 
respect of senior executives of the Company and Group 
are discussed in its Remuneration Report for the 2010 
financial year, which is set out on pages 38 to 55.

The Company’s statement prohibiting designated 
persons from entering into transactions in products 
associated with Company securities which operate to 
limit the economic risk of their security holding in the 
Company over unvested entitlements under any Company 
equity incentive plans, may be found in the Company’s 
policy titled ‘Dealing in Sims Metal Management Limited 
Securities’, available from the corporate governance 
section on the Company’s website.
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ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Reference Comply

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Establish and disclose the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to 
senior executives 1.1, 1.2 ✓

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives 1.3,  
Remuneration 
Report ✓

1.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1 website, 1.1–1.4 ✓

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors 2.3 ✓

2.2 The chair should be an independent director 2.4 ✓

2.3 The roles of chair and CEO should not be exercised by the same individual 2.4 ✓

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee 2.6, 2.7, 2.9 ✓

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees 
and individual directors 2.8, 2.10 ✓

2.6 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2 website, 
Directors’ 
Report, 2.1–2.10 ✓

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to the 
practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s integrity, the practices 
necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of 
their stakeholders, and the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting 
and investigating reports of unethical practices 3.1, 3.2 ✓

3.2 Establish and disclose a policy concerning trading in company securities by directors, 
senior executives and employees 3.3 ✓

3.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3 website, 3.1–3.3 ✓

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee 4.1 ✓

4.2 The audit committee should be structured to consist only of non-executive directors, 
a majority of independent directors and an independent chair (who is not chair of the 
board), and to have at least three members 4.2 ✓

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter 4.1 ✓

4.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4 website, 4.1–4.5 ✓

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Establish and disclose written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level 
for that compliance 5.1, 5.2 ✓

5.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5 website, 5.1, 5.2 ✓

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Design and disclose a communications policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging their participation at general meetings 6.1, 6.2 ✓

6.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6 website, 6.1, 6.2 ✓
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and 
disclose a summary of those policies 7.1 ✓

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the risk management 
and internal control system to manage the company’s material business risks and 
report to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively and should disclose 
that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material business risks  7.1, 7.2 ✓

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the CEO and CFO 
that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 
2001 is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control which is 
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks 7.2 ✓

7.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7 website, 7.1, 7.2 ✓

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee 8.1 ✓

8.2 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive director remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives

8.4,  
Remuneration 
Report ✓

8.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8 website, 8.1–8.5 ✓
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Appointed as a 

director in November 

2005, appointed 

Deputy Chairman in 

November 2008 and 

Chairman in August 

2009. Member of the 

Remuneration Committee 

and Nomination/

Governance Committee. 

Mr Varello is Chairman 

of Commonwealth 

Engineering and 

Construction (CEC), 

located in Houston, Texas. 

Prior to founding CEC in 

2003, he was Chairman 

and CEO of American 

Ref‑Fuel Company. He is 

a registered professional 

engineer and a member 

of the American Society 

of Civil Engineers and the 

American Institute of 

Chemical Engineers.

Executive Director and 

Group Chief Executive 

Officer since March 2008. 

Member of the Safety, 

Health, Environment & 

Community Committee, 

Nomination/Governance 

Committee and Finance & 

Investment Committee. 

Mr Dienst was formerly 

a director (since June 

2001), Chairman (since 

April 2003), Chief 

Executive Officer 

(since January 2004) 

and President (since 

September 2004) of 

Metal Management, Inc 

which entity merged 

with the Company on 

14 March 2008. From 

January 1999 to January 

2004, he served in 

various capacities 

with CIBC World 

Markets Corp., lastly 

as Managing Director 

of the Corporate and 

Leveraged Finance Group. 

From 2002 to 2005, he 

was Chairman of the 

Board of Metals USA, 

Inc., a NASDAQ-listed 

steel service center 

company until its sale 

to a private entity. He 

is a director of other 

Sims Metal Management 

Limited subsidiaries and 

associated companies. 

He is a graduate of 

Washington University 

and received a Juris 

Doctorate from The 

Brooklyn Law School.

Appointed as a director in 

March 2008. Chairman of 

the Finance & Investment 

Committee. He was 

formerly a director of 

Metal Management, Inc 

(since 2006). Mr Bobins is 

the Chairman of Norman 

Bobins Consulting LLC 

(since 2008). From May 

2007 until October 

2007, Mr Bobins was 

the Chairman of the 

Board of LaSalle Bank 

Corporation. From 2002 

to 2007, he was President 

and Chief Executive 

Officer of LaSalle Bank 

Corporation. From 2006 

to 2007, he was President 

and Chief Executive 

Officer of ABN AMRO 

North America. From 

2002 to 2007, he was 

Senior Executive Vice 

President at ABN AMRO 

Bank N.V., the Dutch 

parent of LaSalle Bank 

Corporation. Mr Bobins 

is the Non‑Executive 

Chairman of The 

PrivateBank and Trust 

Company. He is also a 

director of NICOR, Inc., 

Transco, Inc., and AAR 

CORP. He earned his BS 

from the University of 

Wisconsin and his MBA 

from the University of 

Chicago.

Appointed as a director 

in November 2009. 

Member of the Risk, Audit 

& Compliance Committee 

and Finance & Investment 

Committee. Until June 

2009, Mr Brunsdon was 

Managing Director and 

Head of Investment 

Banking of Merrill 

Lynch International 

(Australia) Limited. He is 

Chairman of ING Private 

Equity Access Limited 

(since 2004), a director of 

APN Funds Management 

Limited (since November 

2009), a director of 

Macquarie University 

Hospital and is a member 

of the Takeovers Panel. 

He was a member of 

the listing committee 

of the Australian Stock 

Exchange between 

1993 and 1997 and was 

a Director of Sims 

Group Limited between 

1999 and 2007. He is a 

Chartered Accountant, 

a Fellow of the Financial 

Services Institute of 

Australia and a Fellow of 

the Institute of Company 

Directors. Mr Brunsdon 

is also involved in several 

non‑profit organisations, 

including as Chairman 

of Redkite (supporting 

families who have 

children with cancer), 

and is a director of the 

Wentworth Group of 

Concerned Scientists and 

Purves Environmental 

Custodians.

Appointed as a 

director in September 

1991. Chairman of 

the Remuneration 

Committee and member 

of the Risk, Audit & 

Compliance Committee 

and Nomination/

Governance Committee. 

Mr Feeney was formerly 

an Executive Director 

of Collins Partners 

Corporate Advisory and 

prior to that Finance and 

Strategy Director for 

Philip Morris, Executive 

Director, Strategy & 

Corporate Affairs for 

Elders IXL and Executive 

Director, Corporate 

Strategy of Elders 

Resources NZFP.

Paul J Varello 

BCE (Civil Engineering)

Chairman and 
Independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 66)

Daniel W Dienst

JD 

Group Chief 
Executive Officer
(age 45)

Norman R Bobins 

BS, MBA

Independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 67)

Geoffrey N Brunsdon 

B Com

Independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 52)

J Michael Feeney 

B Com (Marketing) 

Independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 64)

board of directors
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Appointed as a director 

in March 2008. Chairman 

of the Nomination/

Governance Committee. 

Member of the Safety, 

Health, Environment & 

Community Committee 

and Finance & Investment 

Committee. He was 

formerly a director 

(since March 2004) of 

Metal Management, Inc. 

Mr Lewon has over 40 

years of experience in 

the scrap metal industry 

and has served as an 

executive of scrap 

companies, including 

President of Simsmetal 

USA Corp. He has been 

active in the Institute 

of Scrap Recycling 

Industries, Inc. and its 

predecessor ISIS, serving 

as director and national 

officer, among other 

positions. Additionally, 

he has served as a 

consultant to scrap 

metal companies since 

his retirement from 

Simsmetal in 1993, and, 

prior to his appointment 

as a director of the 

company, he was a 

long‑time advisor/

consultant to TAMCO, 

the only steel mill in 

California.

Appointed as a 

director in March 2008. 

Chairman of the Risk, 

Audit & Compliance 

Committee and member 

of the Remuneration 

Committee and 

Nomination/Governance 

Committee. He was 

formerly a director 

(since January 2004) 

of Metal Management, 

Inc. Mr Morris 

currently serves as 

President and CEO of 

Intalite International 

N.V., a diversified 

holding company with 

investments primarily in 

the metals fabrication 

industry. He also 

serves as Chairman and 

director of Beacon Trust 

Company. He previously 

served as a director of 

Metals USA, Inc., Rexel, 

Inc. and Tivoli Industries, 

Inc.; and as trustee of 

the Blanchard Group of 

Funds. He is a Certified 

Public Accountant.

Appointed as a 

director in June 2007. 

Chairman of the Safety, 

Health, Environment & 

Community Committee 

and member of the 

Finance & Investment 

Committee. Mr Renwick 

was employed with the 

Rio Tinto Group for over 

35 years rising, in 1997, to 

Chief Executive, Rio Tinto 

Iron Ore, a position he 

held until his retirement 

in 2004. He is Chairman 

and director of Coal and 

Allied Industries Limited 

(since 2004), a director of 

Downer EDI Limited (since 

2004) and Chairman of 

the Rio Tinto Aboriginal 

Fund (since 2004).

Appointed as a director 

in November 2009. 

Member of the Finance & 

Investment Committee 

and the Safety, 

Health, Environment & 

Community Committee. 

Mr Sukagawa joined 

Mitsui & Co., Ltd in 1973 

and has held various 

positions within that 

company, including 

President & Managing 

Director of Mitsui Iron 

Ore Development (2004 

to 2007), President & CEO 

of PT. Mitsui Indonesia 

(2007 to 2009) and, most 

recently, since April 2009, 

Senior Adviser of Mitsui 

Iron Ore Development.

Appointed as a director 

in November 2009. 

Member of the Safety, 

Health, Environment & 

Community Committee 

and the Risk, Audit & 

Compliance Committee. 

Mr Thompson was, from 

2004 until his retirement 

in 2007, Executive Vice 

President-Commercial 

for The Mosaic Company, 

one of the world’s largest 

fertiliser companies with 

sales of US$8 billion and 

some 7,500 employees, 

which is publicly traded 

on the New York Stock 

Exchange. Prior to that, 

he was engaged for 

30 years in the steel 

industry from 1974 to 

2004 in various roles at 

Cargill, Inc of Minnesota, 

United States leading to 

the position of President 

of Cargill Steel Group 

from 1996 to 2004. 

During that period he 

also served for a time 

as Co‑Chairman of the 

North Star BlueScope 

Steel joint venture, and 

was a member of various 

industry boards including 

AISI (American Iron and 

Steel Institute), SMA 

(Steel Manufacturers 

Institute) and MSCI 

(Metals Service Center 

Institute). Mr Thompson 

is currently a director 

of Hawkins Chemical, 

Inc. He has a BS from 

the University of 

Wisconsin‑Madison.

Robert Lewon 

BS 

Independent 
non‑executive 
director 
(age 67)

Gerald E Morris 

BA 

Independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 78)

Chris J Renwick 

AM, FAIM, FAIE, FTSE – BA, LLB

Independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 67)

M Paul Sukagawa 

BA

Non‑independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 59)

JAMES T THOMPSON 

BS

independent 
non‑executive 
director
(age 60)

The following persons 
were directors during 
the 2010 financial year:

Masakatsu Iwanaga –  
retired  
20 November 2009

Paul K Mazoudier –  
retired  
20 November 2009

Jeremy L Sutcliffe –  
agreement terminated 
by way of redundancy 
on 26 August 2009



36

directors’ report

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (Group) consisting of Sims Metal Management Limited 
(Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2010.

Names and particulars of directors
The names of the directors of the Company in office at the date of this report together with their qualifications and 
experience are set out on pages 34 and 35 of this annual report.

Company secretaries

Frank Moratti  
B Com, LLB, MBA (Executive)
Mr Moratti was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in 1997. Before joining the Company, he held positions 
of assistant company secretary/legal counsel in a number of publicly listed companies over a period of some 12 years 
and, prior to that, worked as a solicitor with a major legal practice.

Scott Miller  
BS, MS, JD, PE
Mr Miller was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in 2008. Since joining the Company in 1997, Mr Miller 
has held positions as legal counsel and manager for environmental affairs for North American operations. Before 
joining the Company, he held positions at an environmental mediation firm, as an attorney with a major legal practice, 
and as a consulting engineer.

Directors’ Meetings
The following table shows the actual board and committee meetings held during the financial year and the number of 
meetings attended by each director.

Board of
 Directors2

Risk, Audit &
 Compliance

 Committee3

Safety,
 Health,

 Environment
 & Community

 Committee
Remuneration

 Committee4

Finance &
 Investment
 Committee5

Nomination/
Governance

 Committee6

Meetings held 11 7 5 6 6 4

P Varello 11 – – 2 4 4

D Dienst 10 – 5 – 6 4

N Bobins 10 – – – 6 –

G Brunsdon 4 5 – – 2 –

JM Feeney 11 6 – 6 – 4

M Iwanaga 5 – – – – –

R Lewon 8 – 5 – 6 3

P Mazoudier 7 2 2 2 – –

G Morris 10 7 – 6 – 3

C Renwick 9 – 5 – 2 –

M Sukagawa 3 – 2 – 1 –

J Sutcliffe1 – – – – – –

J Thompson 4 4 2 – – –

1	 Mr Sutcliffe’s agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009.
2	� Messrs Iwanaga and Mazoudier retired from, and Messrs Sukagawa, Thompson and Brunsdon were appointed to, the Board of Directors on 

20 November 2009.
3	 Messrs Thompson and Brunsdon were appointed to the Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee on 20 November 2009.
4	 Mr Varello was appointed to the Remuneration Committee on 20 November 2009.
5	� Mr Varello resigned from, and Messrs Renwick, Sukagawa and Brunsdon were appointed to, the Finance & Investment Committee on 

20 November 2009.
6	 Mr Lewon was appointed to the Nomination/Governance Committee on 28 August 2009.
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Directors’ interests
As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares, options, or performance rights of the 
Company are set forth below. Shares owned by each director are either in the form of ordinary shares or American 
Depositary Shares (ADS).

Shares Options over Shares Performance Rights

P Varello (ADS) 52,125 – –

D Dienst (ADS) 601,293 769,691 258,098

N Bobins (ADS) 54,600 – –

G Brunsdon 3,870 – –

JM Feeney 27,789 – –

R Lewon (ADS) – 91,000 –

G Morris (ADS) 25,000 205,000 –

C Renwick 3,144 – –

M Sukagawa – – –

J Thompson – – –

Principal activities
The Group operates predominantly in the secondary 
metal recycling industry. Its core businesses include:

Ferrous secondary recycling, which comprises the ––
collection, processing and trading of iron and steel 
secondary raw material.

Non‑ferrous secondary recycling, which comprises ––
the collection, processing and trading of other metal 
alloys and residues, principally aluminium, copper and 
nickel bearing materials.

Recycling solutions, which comprises the provision ––
of environmentally responsible solutions for the 
disposal of post‑consumer electronic products.

Secondary processing, which comprises a ––
value‑added process involving the melting, refining 
and ingoting of certain non‑ferrous metals; the 
reclamation and reprocessing of plastics; and landfill 
gas renewable energy.

Review of operations
A review of the operations of the Company during the 
financial year and the results of those operations are set 
out in the Chairman’s and Group Chief Executive Officer’s 
Review on pages 2 to 7 of this annual report .

Dividends
The board determined a 74% franked final dividend of 
23 cents per share for the financial year to be paid on 
22 October 2010. The interim dividend for the financial 
year was 10 cents per share fully franked and was paid 
on 9 April 2010.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs 
of the Group during the financial year not otherwise 
disclosed elsewhere in this annual report.

Subsequent events after the balance 
sheet date
The directors are not aware of any other matter or 
circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial 
year which will significantly affect, or may significantly 

affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the 
results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity in subsequent financial years.

Likely developments
Information as to the likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity is set out in the 
Chairman’s and Group Chief Executive Officer’s Review on 
pages 2 to 7 of this annual report.

Environmental regulation and greenhouse gas 
and energy data reporting requirements
The Group has licences and consents in place at each of 
its operating sites as prescribed by environmental laws 
and regulations that apply in each respective location. 
Further information on the consolidated entity’s 
performance in relation to environmental regulation is 
set out on pages 8 to 23 of this annual report.

The Group’s Australian operations are subject to the 
reporting requirements of both the Energy Efficiency 
Opportunities Act 2006 and the National Greenhouse and 
Energy Reporting Act 2007 of Australia.

The Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 requires 
the Company to assess the energy usage of its 
Australian operations, including the identification, 
investigation and evaluation of energy saving 
opportunities, and to report publicly on the assessments 
undertaken, including what action the Company intends 
to take as a result. As required under this Act, the 
Company has registered with the Department of 
Resources, Energy and Tourism as a participant entity 
and submitted its assessment plan and reporting 
schedule prior to 31 December 2009. The assessment 
is available for review on the Company’s website at 
www.simsmm.com.

The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 
requires the Company to report its annual greenhouse gas 
emissions and energy use of its Australian operations. The 
Company has implemented systems and processes for the 
collection and calculation of the data required to enable it to 
prepare and submit its report to the Greenhouse and Energy 
Data Officer by 31 October 2010.
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Insurance and indemnification of officers
During the financial year, the Company had contracts 
in place insuring all directors and executives of the 
Company (and/or any subsidiary companies in which it 
holds greater than 50% of the voting shares), including 
directors in office at the date of this report and those 
who served on the board during the year, against 
liabilities that may arise from their positions within the 
Company and its controlled entities, except where the 
liabilities arise out of conduct involving a lack of good 
faith. The directors have not included details of the 
nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the 
premium paid as such disclosure is prohibited under the 
terms of the contracts.

Share options and rights

Unissued Shares
As of the date of this report, there are 3,275,367 share 
options outstanding and 1,395,186 rights outstanding in 
relation to the Company’s ordinary shares. Refer to Note 
24 of the consolidated financial statements for further 
details of the options and rights outstanding as at 30 
June 2010. Option and right holders do not have any right, 
by virtue of the option or right, to participate in any 
share issue of the Company.

Shares issued as a result of the exercise 
of options and vesting of rights
During the financial year, there were 32,000 ordinary 
shares issued upon the exercise of share options and 
192,361 ordinary shares issued in connection with the 
vesting of rights. Refer to Note 24 of the consolidated 
financial statements for further details of shares issued 
pursuant to share‑based awards. Subsequent to the 
financial year, 10,021 ordinary shares were issued in 
connection with vesting of rights.

Non‑audit services
The Company may decide to employ its external auditor 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers) on assignments additional 
to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the Company and/or the 
Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor 
for audit and non‑audit services provided during the 
financial year are set out in Note 26 of the consolidated 
financial statements.

The board has considered the position and, in accordance 
with advice received from the Risk, Audit & Compliance 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the 
non‑audit services is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied 
that the provision of non‑audit services by the 
auditor, as set forth in Note 26 of the consolidated 
financial statements, did not compromise the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 for the following reasons:

All non‑audit services have been reviewed by the ––
Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee to ensure they 
do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the 
auditor; and

None of the services undermine the general principles ––
relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on page 120 of this annual report.

Rounding of amounts
The amounts in this report, where appropriate and unless 
otherwise stated, have been rounded off to the nearest 
hundred thousand dollars in accordance with ASIC Class 
Order 98/100.

REMUNERATION REPORT

REMARKS BY THE CHAIRMAN OF 
THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dear Shareholder,

We are pleased to present your Company’s 2010 
Remuneration Report and hope that you will find it to be 
clear, informative and easy to comprehend.

During the past year, we engaged in conversations with 
key shareholders and shareholder advisory groups to 
solicit feedback on last year’s remuneration report. 
We have taken this feedback into consideration in 
the development of this year’s report and executive 
remuneration framework and will continue to liaise with 
shareholders and their advisors in the future.

In light of the above, and as part of our objective to provide 
simple transparent information, we have made the following 
enhancements to the remuneration report for the 2010 
financial year:

A table of contents has been added to page 40.––

The new “Target Remuneration Components” ––
chart on page 42 provides a summary of fixed, 
Short Term Incentive (STI) and Long Term Incentive 
(LTI) remuneration as a percentage of total 
target remuneration.

We have moved to a tabular formatting of the STI ––
and LTI Plan information on pages 43 to 46 and added 
expanded commentary on the STI “Financial measures 
and Targets”.

Two new charts on page 48 provide more ––
transparency around the STI plan performance and 
reward for the 2010 financial year.

The presentation of executive contract information ––
on pages 50 and 51 has been simplified.

A new table on page 52 provides full transparency on ––
current year Option activity.

The Rights activity table (also found in the ––
financial section) on page 53 provides a more 
complete picture of equity activity within the 
remuneration report.
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In the 2010 financial year, the Company completed the 
successful integration of executive remuneration 
practices and adopted a formal remuneration philosophy. 
This philosophy is designed to provide a remuneration 
program that:

attracts, motivates and retains the best and ––
brightest in its senior executive, leadership and 
staff positions;

drives the Company’s business strategy of ––
continued growth and success as a major global 
corporation; and

aligns reward opportunities with shareholder ––
interests.

The Company continues to use demanding financial and 
non‑financial performance criteria focused on delivering 
short‑term and long‑term value to shareholders.

The Company endeavours to achieve simplicity and 
transparency in remuneration design while balancing 
the complexities of Australian and US based 
incentive practices.

The following provides a summary of remuneration 
activity in the 2010 financial year:

Fixed remuneration merit increases were suspended ––
in the 2010 financial year due to poor market 
conditions. The only exceptions to this suspension 
were increases in fixed remuneration based 
on promotions, significant market benchmark 
deficiencies or increased scope of responsibility.

A new global STI Plan, approved by the Remuneration ––
Committee, was introduced for the 2010 financial 
year. The financial goals for this plan were determined 
using the Company’s strategic plan and were in 
alignment with the Company’s cost of capital. Overall, 
the STI plan performance against such goals came in 
below target, although, as shown on page 48, some 
regions did out‑perform their targets.

The Company made LTI Plan awards, to selected ––
Company executives, in the form of Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR) based Performance Rights (Rights) 
and Share Options (Options), consistent with the 
awards made to the executive director as approved 
by shareholders in November 2009. These awards 
provide meaningful remuneration opportunities 
aligned with the Company’s performance, and reflect 
the importance of retaining the Company’s world 
class management team. We note that one of the 
specific areas of feedback from key shareholders 
and shareholder advisory groups was with regard to 
the use of re‑testing in the LTI Plan. The Company 
and the Remuneration Committee maintain a firm 
belief that re‑testing motivates executives to exert 
an extra level of effort in the years subsequent to 
the failed performance period to bring performance 
above the median (or higher) of the comparator 
group. This extra effort translates to enhanced 
shareholder value in those subsequent years.

The Committee retained the services of Mercer, ––
an outside consultant, to perform an external 
benchmarking review of senior executives’ 
remuneration. The analysis revealed Messrs 
Davy’s and McGree’s total remuneration to be 
below regional market data. This was addressed 
by increasing their LTI targets from 75% to 100% 
of fixed remuneration. In addition, to align with 
benchmark data and in recognition of an expansion 
of his role to include the Australian Manufacturing 
business, Mr McGree’s fixed remuneration was 
increased by approximately 7.5%.

A special bonus was paid to Mr Larry to recognise his ––
extraordinary efforts in the successful and timely 
implementation of Sarbanes‑Oxley requirements 
(SOX 404) and his integral role in managing the 
Company’s capital structure during a tumultuous 
period in financial markets.

There was no increase in the fees paid to non-––
executive directors (NEDs) in the 2010 financial year.

We will keep our remuneration policy and practices under 
constant review as we continue to strive to achieve “best 
practice” in the alignment of remuneration with corporate 
strategy and shareholder wealth.

We welcome and value your feedback as we continue 
to find ways to improve communications with our 
shareholders.

Yours sincerely,

Michael Feeney 
Remuneration Committee Chair
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CONTENTS AND SCOPE OF THIS REMUNERATION REPORT (audited)
The directors of Sims Metal Management Limited present the Remuneration Report for the Company and the Group 
for the 2010 financial year. The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited.

The Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ Report and is set out as follows:

Page # Section Description

41 A The Role of the Remuneration Committee

41 B Executive Remuneration Policy

42 C Executive Remuneration Framework

47 D Remuneration outcomes for executives during the 2010 financial year, including discussion 
of remuneration and Company performance linkages

50 E Executive contracts

51 F Additional executive disclosures

54 G Non‑executive director remuneration

As required, the scope of this Remuneration Report is limited to Key Management Personnel (KMP) as defined by 
Australian Accounting Standard (AASB) 124 (Related Party Disclosures), and the five most highly remunerated 
executives of the Group and Company as defined in the Corporations Act 2001. KMP consist of the executive and 
non‑executive directors (NEDs) and other key management personnel who are referred to as ‘senior executives’ 
in this report, as outlined below:

The following persons were directors of the Company during the financial year:

Name Position

Paul Varello Independent Non‑Executive Director, and Chairman (since 1 August 2009)

Paul Mazoudier Independent Non‑Executive Director (Chairman up to 1 August 2009 retired 
20 November 2009)

Daniel W Dienst Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer

Jeremy Sutcliffe Executive Director (terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009)

Norman Bobins Independent Non‑Executive Director

Geoff Brunsdon Independent Non‑Executive Director (since 20 November 2009)

Michael Feeney Independent Non‑Executive Director

Mike Iwanaga Non‑Independent Non‑Executive Director (retired 20 November 2009)

Robert Lewon Independent Non‑Executive Director

Gerald Morris Independent Non‑Executive Director

Chris Renwick Independent Non‑Executive Director

Paul Sukagawa1 Non‑Independent Non‑Executive Director (since 20 November 2009)

Jim Thompson Independent Non‑Executive Director (since 20 November 2009)

1	 Mr Sukagawa was appointed to the board as Mitsui’s nomination to replace Mr Iwanaga upon his retirement on 20 November 2009.

The following persons were senior executives of the Company during all or part of the financial year:

Name Position

Thomas Bird Managing Director – United Kingdom Metals (resigned 17 August 2009)

Graham Davy Chief Executive Officer – European Metals and Sims Recycling Solutions, Global Operations

Robert Kelman President – Commercial North America

Robert Larry Group Chief Financial Officer

Darron McGree Managing Director Australia and New Zealand

Alan Ratner President – Operations North America
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A. THE ROLE OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The primary role of the Remuneration Committee 
(Committee) is to support and advise the board on the 
implementation and maintenance of coherent, fair and 
responsible remuneration policies and practices which 
are observed by the Company and which enable the 
Company to attract and retain executives and directors 
who will create value for shareholders of the Company. 
The Committee reviews and makes recommendations 
to the board on:

executive remuneration philosophy;––

executive remuneration policies;––

executive remuneration and incentive performance ––
packages;

introduction and application of equity‑based ––
schemes;

the establishment and review of performance ––
goals for the Group Chief Executive Officer;

executive recruitment, retention and termination ––
policies; and

the non‑executive directors’ remuneration ––
framework.

In fulfilling these responsibilities, the Committee engages 
external advisers from time to time. The relevant advisers 
report directly to the Committee in completing this work.

Members of the Committee during the financial year were:

Michael Feeney – Chairman;––

Gerald Morris – Member;––

Paul Varello – Member  ––
(since 20 November 2009); and

Paul Mazoudier – Member  ––
(from 1 July 2009 to 20 November 2009).

The Committee’s charter, which is available on the 
Company’s website at www.simsmm.com, provides 
further information on the role of the Committee.

B: EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION POLICY

Approach to determining executive remuneration policy 
and framework
The Committee recognises that the Company 
operates in a global environment and that the 
Company’s performance depends on the quality of its 
people. The Committee considers recommendations 
presented by management in developing an executive 
remuneration philosophy, policy and framework 
aligned to the Company’s overall strategic direction. 
The Committee seeks input directly from external 
advisors, as appropriate, to assist in its reviews. Final 
recommendations are approved by the board.

The policy and framework are continually reviewed by 
the Committee to ensure alignment to the Company’s 
remuneration philosophy, business strategy and the 
needs of its shareholders. The Company also undertakes 
an annual remuneration review to determine the total 
remuneration positioning of its executives against 
the market.

Aims of the executive remuneration policy and framework
The overall aim of the Company’s remuneration policy 
and framework is to attract, motivate and retain high 
calibre executives. To do so, the Company provides 
executive remuneration packages that are competitive, 
referencing market data, and commensurate with 
employee duties, responsibilities and accountabilities. 
The Committee also recognises that remuneration for 
the executive director and senior executives should:

reward capability, experience and performance ––
against business strategy;

provide a competitive reward for contribution ––
to growth in shareholder wealth;

provide a clear structure for earning rewards;––

provide recognition for non‑financial contributions ––
in areas key to best business practice, such as 
safety, talent management, corporate social 
responsibility and sustainability; and

support the Company’s core values of safety, ––
teamwork, respect, integrity, financial discipline 
and entrepreneurialism.
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The executive remuneration framework has three components. These remuneration components, and the factors 
that determine them, are summarised in the table below:

Component Provided as Variables determining reward Purpose

Fixed Remuneration Annual salary and 
benefits

Set with reference to market 
data for role, experience and 
performance

Reward based on capability, 
experience, responsibilities and 
accountability commensurate 
with role. 

Short‑term incentives Cash Financial 
performance 
targets 
measured by 
Return on 
Controlled 
Capital  
Employed 
(ROCCE)

Personal 
performance 
goals; e.g. safety, 
operational 
efficiencies,  
talent 
management, 
corporate social 
responsibility

To reward for business 
performance and individual 
contribution to annual financial 
performance. To drive alignment 
with Company values through 
achievement of non‑financial 
goals.

Long‑term incentives Equity Relative TSR targets 
and continued service 

Retain executives and ensure 
they focus on delivering 
long‑term value to shareholders 
through sustained growth in 
shareholder wealth, consisting 
of dividends and growth in 
share price and superior market 
performance relative to a 
relevant peer group.

Fixed and variable (“at risk”) remuneration mix
In line with the Company’s intent to ensure the executive 
remuneration framework is aligned to the Company’s 
performance, a significant portion of an individual’s 
remuneration is “at risk”. The following chart sets out 
the target remuneration mix; that is, fixed remuneration 
(salary/package), target short‑term incentive and 
long‑term incentive for the Group Chief Executive Officer, 
Group Chief Financial Officer and other senior executives.

  Target Remuneration Components

  Fixed

At Risk

STI LTI

Group CEO 19% 25% 56%

Group CFO 31% 31% 38%

Other Senior 
Executives 34% 33% 33%

Securities Trading Policy
The trading by the non‑executive directors, executive 
director and senior executives of securities issued 
pursuant to the Company’s LTI Plan is subject to, 
and conditional upon, compliance with the terms of 
the Company’s policy titled ‘Dealings in Sims Metal 
Management Limited Securities’ (a copy of which is 
available on the Company’s website at www.simsmm.
com). Executives are prohibited from entering into any 
hedging arrangements over unvested awards under 
the Company’s LTI Plan.

C: EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK

(a) Fixed remuneration policy
Fixed remuneration comprises base salary and benefits. 
Base salary is determined on an individual basis, taking 
into consideration the individual’s capability, experience, 
responsibilities and accountability, as well as external 
market factors.

Benefits programs may include health insurance, 
life and disability insurance, retirement programs 
(depending on national government and tax regulations) 
and car allowances.

Fixed remuneration generally does not vary over the 
course of a year based on an individual’s performance. 
However, remuneration packages (including fixed 
components of base salaries and benefits) are reviewed 
annually. The Committee references market‑based 
comparable positions in public surveys and obtains advice 
from external remuneration consultants where necessary, 
in reviewing any changes to executive remuneration. There 
are no guaranteed increases to any components of fixed 
remuneration for senior executives.

(b) At‑risk remuneration policy
At‑risk remuneration comprises both short‑term (annual) 
and long‑term incentives. “At‑risk” means an absence 
of certainty regarding the payment of a particular 
component of remuneration in the event agreed‑upon 
performance hurdles or employment conditions are not 
met during the performance period. The remuneration 
of the executive director and senior executives is linked 
to performance through short‑ and long‑term incentives 
as follows:
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(b)(1)(i) Short Term Incentive Plan (STI Plan)

The Company’s executives are eligible to participate in the Company’s STI Plan.

The table below summarises the key aspects of the STI Plan.

Frequency, timing and  
form of award

Executives have an opportunity to receive an annual cash‑based incentive ––
based on the achievement of targets over the financial year.
Individual targets are set on an annual basis.––
Payment is made in September following the finalisation of the audited ––
financial results. 

Financial measures and targets Group or business unit performance is based on achievement of ROCCE targets.––
ROCCE is computed as Profit Before Interest and Taxes (PBIT) divided by ––
Average Controlled Capital Employed (CCE).
ROCCE has been approved by the Committee as the appropriate measure for ––
the STI as the Committee believes that ROCCE is a key performance driver of 
the Group. ROCCE focuses on the effective management of invested capital 
while encouraging maximisation of operating profits.
The Company understands the desire for greater transparency of specific ––
targets. However, given the Company’s size and position in the industry, we 
believe disclosing precise financial targets would put us at a competitive 
disadvantage due to commercial sensitivity. The Company’s practice is to take 
into account Group or business unit cost of capital when setting payout targets.
In the 2010 financial year the Company’s overall financial performance, along ––
with the performance of its business units, significantly improved versus the 
2009 financial year.
The financial component of the STI payments and business unit performance ––
compared to target are discussed in section D.
Financial targets are determined by taking into consideration stretch ––
performance targets in the context of the economic cycle.
The financial targets for senior executives are recommended each year ––
by the Group Chief Executive Officer and reviewed by the Committee for 
recommendation to the board for approval. The financial targets for the Group 
Chief Executive Officer are recommended by the Committee and approved by 
the board.

Individual measures and targets Individual goals are set in several key performance areas, which focus on individual ––
initiatives which are critical to the overall success of the Company. Individual 
targets may include safety, succession planning, management development, 
as well as shareholder and community relations.
Individual measures and targets are recommended on an annual basis by the ––
Group Chief Executive Officer, and approved by the Committee, taking into 
consideration the Company’s stretch performance targets. The targets for 
the Group Chief Executive Officer are recommended by the Committee for 
approval by the board.

Weighting of performance 
measures

Payments from the STI Plan are determined based on the financial performance ––
of the Group or business unit, and individual performance. Approximately 
80% of the STI payment is determined by Group or business unit financial 
performance and approximately 20% of the STI payment is determined by 
individual performance. The financial component for Group executives is based 
wholly on overall Group performance. The financial component for the Regional 
Executives is based wholly on the results of their own business units.
Executives may receive a payment of up to 20% of their target STI for ––
achievement of individual performance goals regardless of ROCCE achievement, 
as the Company seeks to drive and reinforce the desired individual behaviors 
and outcomes even in difficult economic and financial times.
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Key aspects of the STI Plan (continued)

Assessment of performance 
against measures

Threshold, target and maximum individual award opportunities have been ––
established and vary by position.
A minimum ROCCE target and individual level of performance must be met for ––
individuals to be eligible for payment. Payment between threshold and maximum 
is then determined by reference to ROCCE and individual performance 
outcomes against pre‑defined targets.
At the end of the financial year, each executive’s individual performance is assessed ––
based on appropriate ROCCE performance (e.g., overall Company performance or 
the relevant business unit) and a review of individual performance achievement 
against defined key performance areas. The individual’s performance is rated 
on a scale of 0 to 4.0. Participants must receive a rating of at least 2.0 (meets 
expectations) to receive a payment based on the individual performance component. 
Senior executive performance is assessed by the Group Chief Executive Officer, 
and recommended payments are considered and, if appropriate, approved by the 
Committee. For the Group Chief Executive Officer, performance is assessed by the 
Committee and a recommended payment is approved by the board.
The STI target is expressed as a percentage of fixed remuneration. The payout ––
for performance ranges from 0% to 200% of target.

Service condition A voluntary termination or termination for cause prior to the annual ––
assessment date will result in no STI being paid for the year unless the 
Committee determines otherwise. Upon termination due to death, disability or 
redundancy, STI performance for the relevant period will be assessed and paid.

(b)(1)(ii) Other bonuses

From time to time, the board, following recommendations from the Committee, chooses to pay bonuses outside the 
scope of the annual STI Plan to recognise significant performance of individual executives which the STI structure 
does not adequately address.

In February 2010, a special bonus in the amount of US$800,000, consisting of US$500,000 in a cash award and a 
share award equivalent to US$300,000, was awarded to Mr Larry in recognition of his extraordinary efforts in the 
successful implementation of Sarbanes‑Oxley requirements (SOX 404) as well as his integral role in managing the 
Company’s capital structure during an extremely tumultuous period in the global financial markets. The share award 
vests annually in three equal instalments, provided that Mr Larry remains an employee of the Company, subject to a 
qualifying cessation, at the date of vesting. A qualifying cessation is ceasing to be an employee by reason of death, 
permanent disability, termination without cause, or other circumstances determined at the discretion of the board.

(b)(2) Long‑term incentives
The Committee believes that executive participation in equity‑based incentive plans is a key element which aligns 
executive and shareholder objectives. The Company’s Long‑Term Incentive (LTI) Plan is the principal means of allowing 
the Group Chief Executive Officer and senior executives the opportunity to be rewarded for the Company’s growth in 
share price and total shareholder return.

The LTI Plan creates a direct link between the value created for shareholders, and the reward earned by the Group 
Chief Executive Officer and senior executives. In addition, the LTI Plan assists in retention of the Group Chief 
Executive Officer and senior executives.

The LTI Plan allows for grants of Rights and Options. The LTI Plan structure is designed to focus on two key 
aspects of future performance. First, Rights recognise shareholder value creation relative to companies within 
the Company’s industry, as measured by TSR. Second, Options reflect creation of absolute shareholder value, as 
recognised by growth in the Company’s share price.

Due to the strong correlation with the peer group used in the Company’s relative TSR measure, the Company must 
outperform its peers regardless of how the broader stock market is performing. The second part of the award 
consists of Options, which require continuous service in order to vest, and require a higher share price than the 
exercise price in order to generate value.

It is common practice in Australia for Rights to be issued subject to a relative TSR hurdle. However, in the US, where 
the Company competes for much of its talent and business, Options are more commonly utilised and based only on 
a continuous service vesting condition. The board believes that the combined Rights/Options structure provides an 
appropriate balance in terms of ensuring that rewards for the Group Chief Executive Officer and senior executives 
are competitive, aligned to the business and shareholders, and reflect market practice in both Australia and the US.



sims metal management annual report 2010 45

In the 2010 financial year the following changes were made to the LTI Plan:

All awards were granted after the Annual General Meeting in November 2009 to enable the grant date of all ––
awards to be aligned with that of the Group Chief Executive Officer’s grant.

The award structure was standardised so that all LTI Plan participants received a mix of TSR hurdled Rights and ––
service‑based Options. Previously, some executives below senior executive level had received only Option awards.

The following table summarises the details of the LTI Plan as they relate to grants made in the 2010 financial year.

Options Rights

Form of award An Option is a contract that gives ––
the holder the right, but not the 
obligation, to acquire an ordinary 
share at a fixed price over a specified 
period of time. US participants 
may have their Options settled in 
American Depositary Shares.

A Right is a contractual right to ––
acquire an ordinary share for nil 
consideration. US participants may 
have their Rights settled in American 
Depositary Shares.

Frequency and timing of awards The Company’s shareholders approved an LTI award for the Group Chief ––
Executive Officer at the Company’s 2009 Annual General Meeting. In 
conjunction with that meeting, the Committee approved and granted LTI 
awards for other senior executives.
Awards are typically made on an annual basis.––

Valuation of grants The fair value of Options and Rights are calculated by Mercer, the Company’s ––
external valuation consultant, at their grant date using a Black‑Scholes, 
Binomial or Monte Carlo simulation option pricing model as appropriate. See 
Note 24 of the financial report for assumptions used in determining the fair 
value. 

Treatment of dividends Holders of Rights or Options are not entitled to dividends over the term of the ––
relevant vesting period (and in the case of Options, until exercised). 

Performance 
conditions

Performance 
measure and 
rationale

In order for Options to deliver value ––
to participants, the Company’s share 
price must increase above the exercise 
price. This aligns the award’s value to 
absolute growth in shareholder wealth, 
as measured by share price. 

In order for Rights to vest, the ––
Company’s TSR must be at the 
51st percentile or higher against a 
comparator group of companies. Above 
51% vesting is prorated. TSR aligns the 
vesting of executive awards to relative 
shareholder wealth creation.

Performance 
period

All Options granted in the 2010 financial ––
year vest in three equal instalments 
over a three year period. This vesting 
schedule reflects common US practice. 
Each instalment vests following the 
date the Company announces its annual 
financial results to the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) for its 2010, 
2011 and 2012 financial years. Options 
expire seven years after the date of 
grant.

Performance is measured during a ––
three‑year period, starting at the 
beginning of the financial year of the 
award. The initial performance period is 
the three‑year period from 1 July 2009 
through 30 June 2012.
If any Rights remain unvested at the ––
end of year three, they will be re‑tested 
at the end of year four using the 
four‑year performance period.
If any Rights remain unvested at the ––
end of year four, they will be re‑tested 
at the end of year five using the 
five‑year performance period.
Any unvested Rights outstanding after ––
the final re‑test will immediately lapse.
Re‑testing is limited to two re‑tests, ––
each over the extended performance 
period.
Re‑testing may require the executive ––
to exert considerable effort to bring 
performance above the median of the 
comparator group and higher.
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Options Rights

Performance 
conditions 
(continued)

Exercise price The exercise price of Options is set ––
at grant, and is equal to the volume 
weighted average price for the five 
days preceding the grant date. For 
US executives, Option awards are 
not Incentive Stock Options for the 
purposes of section 422 of the United 
States Internal Revenue Code.

Nil––

Comparator  
group

N/A–– The following companies comprise the ––
current comparator group, chosen 
from comparable industry sectors:

AK Steel Posco

Allegheny 
Technologies

Reliance Steel

ArcelorMittal Schnitzer Steel

BlueScope Steel Steel Dynamics

Commercial Metals The Timken 
Company

Gerdau Ameristeel Tokyo Steel

Mueller Industries U.S. Steel

Nucor Worthington 
Industries

OneSteel

Vesting 
schedule

N/A–– The vesting schedule for those Rights ––
measured against relative TSR is set 
out below:
TSR growth relative to 
the comparator group

Proportion of TSR 
grant vesting

Less than  
51st percentile

0%

51st percentile 50%

51st percentile to  
75th percentile

Pro‑rata  
straight line

75th percentile or 
higher 100%

Sales restrictions post vesting Australian residents are restricted from selling or disposing of any shares issued ––
on exercise of Rights and Options until the board approves the release of shares, 
the executive ceases to be an employee, or seven years from the grant date.

Treatment of awards on 
cessation of employment

Where participants resign, or are terminated for cause, awards are forfeited.––
Where cessation of employment is as the result of death, total or permanent ––
disablement, or other circumstances at the discretion of the board, participants 
will be entitled to unvested awards in accordance with the original vesting schedule.
Unvested awards will continue to be held by participants and tested at the end of ––
the performance period. However, no additional re‑testing will be permitted. Any 
unvested awards lapse at the end of the initial performance period, subject to the 
board’s discretion.

Treatment of awards on 
change of control

Typically a change in control of the Company may trigger full vesting of awards, ––
subject to board discretion.

Details of the LTI Plan as they relate to grants made in the 2010 financial year (continued) 
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D: REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR EXECUTIVES DURING THE 2010 FINANCIAL YEAR, INCLUDING DISCUSSION 
OF REMUNERATION AND COMPANY PERFORMANCE LINKAGES

Overview of the link between remuneration and performance
The board believes that, notwithstanding the impact of the more difficult external environment in the 2009 and 
2010 financial years, the operational and financial performance of the Company over the last five years has been 
strong relative to industry benchmarks. The board is of the view that the financial rewards provided to executives 
are consistent with the Company’s performance. The Company’s performance over the last five years is summarised 
in the table below:

2010 20091  2008 2007 2006

Total revenue (A$m) 	 7,458.5 	 8,641.0 	 7,670.5 	 5,550.9  3,754.5

Profit/(Loss) after tax (A$m) 	 126.7 	 (150.3) 	 440.1 	 239.9 184.9

Diluted EPS (cents)2 	 64.5  (82.5) 306.3 	 191.0  163.4

Total dividends (cents) 	 33.0 	 38.0 130.0 120.0 105.0

Share price at 30 June A$ 	 17.11 	 26.51 41.69 26.50 20.00

1	 A $191 million non‑cash goodwill impairment charge was made in the 2009 financial year.
2	� Diluted EPS for the prior periods have been adjusted to reflect the shares issued in connection with the institutional placement and share 

purchase program in November and December 2009. See Note 32 of the financial report.

The TSR graph below compares the Company’s TSR against the comparator group (as referenced above) for the 
five year period ending 30 June 2010. TSR is the return to shareholders provided by share price appreciation 
plus dividends (which are assumed to be reinvested in the Company’s shares) expressed as a percentage of the 
share price at the beginning of the measurement period, adjusted where appropriate for bonus issues, capital 
consolidation or equivalents. Relative TSR is the Company’s TSR divided by the mean of the comparator group 
expressed as a percentage.
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Short‑term incentives
As noted previously in this report, STI measures are based on financial ROCCE and individual targets. The table below 
outlines business unit performance against STI ROCCE targets.

Area ROCCE performance against target

Group Under target

North America Metals Under target

Australia/New Zealand Metals Above target

United Kingdom Metals and Global SRS Above target

The following table outlines the proportion of the target STI that was paid and forfeited in relation to the 2010 
financial year. Both ROCCE and individual performance influences individual STI payments.

Name
Proportion of target STI paid during  
the 2010 financial year 

Proportion of target STI forfeited during  
the 2010 financial year

D Dienst 20% 80%

G Davy 168% 0%

R Kelman 20% 80%

R Larry 20% 80%

D McGree 148% 0%

A Ratner 20% 80%

Long‑term incentives
Performance Rights awards vesting in the 2010 financial year had up to three performance metrics: TSR, Earnings 
Per Share (EPS) and Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA). Rights based on a TSR 
performance of 55.6% vested at 59.6% and Rights based on EBITDA performance vested at 56.2%. No Rights vested 
based on EPS performance. All the Performance Rights contain re‑testing provisions for two years subsequent to 
the initial performance period.
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Remuneration disclosure for the 2010 financial year (and comparatives)
Certain executive directors and senior executives (as disclosed below) are not residents of Australia. Their respective 
remuneration paid in foreign currency has been converted to Australian dollars at an average exchange rate for the 
year. Both the amount of any remuneration and any movement in comparison to the prior year may be influenced by 
changes in the respective currency exchange rates.

Short‑term benefits

Post-
employment

benefits

(A$) Location Year
Cash 

salary1

Cash
bonus2 

Other 
benefits3

Pension & 
super-

annuation

Other
 long‑term

 benefits4

Termin-
ation

benefits

Share-
based

payments5 Total

Executive Directors:

D Dienst6 USA 2010 1,417,073  368,439  394,689  7,507 13,657 –  2,574,459  4,775,824

2009 1,328,038 	 2,665,438 195,796  – 15,915 – 1,357,334 5,562,521

J Sutcliffe7 Australia 2010  449,095 	 387,000  35,209  484,290 1,981,054  1,551,200  1,328,297  6,216,145

2009 1,347,284 2,630,160 144,071 219,798 43,554 – (613,272) 3,771,595

R Cunningham10Australia 2010  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –

2009 255,915 192,545 	 2,809 51,550 26,437  3,130,316 364,243 4,023,815

Senior Executives:

T Bird6, 9 UK 2010  56,192  –  5,714  5,878  – –  (664,803)  (597,019)

2009 451,112 272,664 	 41,441 42,631 28,229 – 476,240 1,312,317

G Davy6 UK 2010  483,361  943,588  34,288  35,273  – –  899,728  2,396,238

2009 584,198 440,969 	 41,441 42,631 – – 765,199 1,874,438

R Kelman6, 8 USA 2010  708,536  141,707  204,684  22,257  – –  724,993  1,802,177

2009 835,875 1,221,782 	 43,031 15,373 – – 682,840 2,798,901

R Larry6 USA 2010  708,536  708,536  113,461  20,006  14,001 –  867,373  2,431,913

2009 835,875 417,938 	 50,068  – 15,915 – 398,833 1,718,629

D McGree Australia 2010  573,743  1,029,977  21,449  100,580  27,328 –  712,110  2,465,187

2009 536,651 315,870 	 17,513 105,772 20,379 – 578,093 1,574,278

A Ratner6, 8 USA 2010  708,536  141,707  34,091  7,507  14,001 –  807,306  1,713,148

2009 835,875 1,434,696 36,683  – 15,915 – 1,098,471 3,421,640

Total 2010 5,105,072  3,720,954  843,585  683,298 2,050,041  1,551,200  7,249,463  21,203,613

2009 7,010,823 9,592,062 572,853 477,755 166,344 3,130,316 5,107,981 26,058,134

1	� Cash salary includes amounts sacrificed in lieu of other benefits at the discretion of the individual.
2	� Cash bonus amount for 2010 reflects the amount accrued for the 2010 STIP for all executives, except Mr Sutcliffe, as well as a special bonus for 

Mr Larry. Cash bonus amount for 2009 reflects the amount accrued for the “bridge” bonus for all executive and the integration bonuses paid to 
Messrs Dienst, Sutcliffe, Kelman and Ratner. The “bridge” payment plan enabled the Company to offer a retention incentive for the first half of 
the 2009 financial year to participants who assisted in the early and smooth integration of MMI and Sims Group into Sims Metal Management.

3	� Other short‑term benefits include auto allowances, health and life insurance benefits, and amounts accrued for annual leave during the period. 
The amount for Messrs Dienst, Larry and Kelman includes a one‑time payment to buy out accrued annual leave from a discontinued plan for all 
US employees. The amount for Mr Dienst also includes payments for personal security and a $172,236 reimbursement for a redundant state tax 
payment (including gross‑up) made due to a state tax jurisdiction dispute.

4	� Other long‑term benefits include amounts accrued for cash‑based long‑term incentive plans, long service leave and deferred compensation 
plans.

5	� Share‑based payments represent the accounting expense (as computed pursuant to AASB 2, Share‑based Payment) recognised by the Company for 
share‑based awards. Certain share‑based awards made in the 2007 and 2008 financial years only vest upon satisfaction of non‑market based performance 
hurdles. These performance hurdles were not expected to be achieved and therefore previously recognised share‑based payments were reversed in the 
2009 financial year and resulted in a reduction in total 2009 remuneration for the impacted individuals, consistent with the accounting policy outlined in 
Note 1(x)(iv) of the financial report.

6	� Messrs Dienst, Larry, Ratner and Kelman are residents of the United States and receive their cash payments in US dollars. Messrs Bird and Davy 
are residents of the United Kingdom and receive their cash payments in pounds sterling.

7	� Mr Sutcliffe’s agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Please refer to Section E – Service Agreements for further 
information on termination benefits paid to Mr Sutcliffe.

8	� Share‑based payments for Messrs Kelman and Ratner in 2009 include the value of 30,048 American Depositary Shares that they each received as 
part of their integration bonuses.

9	� The Company accepted the resignation of Mr Bird on 17 August 2009. Under the terms of his resignation, Mr Bird forfeited any entitlement to an 
STI “bridge” bonus payment and unvested LTI awards.

10	� Mr Cunningham retired on 21 November 2008. Termination benefits represent payments for severance, but do not include payments for unused 
leave as these accruals were previously disclosed as remuneration. In addition, share‑based payments for Mr Cunningham in 2009 represent the 
acceleration of expense for awards which have not yet vested, but contain “good‑leaver” provisions.
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Fixed and actual At Risk remuneration for the 2010 financial year
The table below sets out, for the executive directors and senior executives, the percentage of their actual financial year 
annual remuneration which was At‑Risk versus Fixed, and the percentage of the value of their total remuneration that 
consisted of Options and Rights.

Fixed Remuneration
%

At‑Risk Remuneration
%

Remuneration
consisting of Rights

%

Remuneration 
consisting of Options

%

Executive Directors: 

D Dienst  38  62  37  17

Senior Executives:

G Davy  23  77  27  11

R Kelman  52  48  19  22

R Larry  35  65  16  20

D McGree  29  71  18  11

A Ratner  45  55  24  23

E: EXECUTIVE CONTRACTS

Group Chief Executive Officer
The Group Chief Executive Officer’s contract with Metal Management, Inc. (MMI), entered into as of 26 July 2007, 
was amended as of 1 August 2009 and expires on 30 June 2012. The contract may be extended thereafter on an 
annual basis, provided however that the Company may terminate the contract at any time for Cause.

Consistent with the underlying agreement with MMI, if Mr Dienst is terminated involuntarily other than for Cause, 
then the Company will continue to pay Mr Dienst his fixed remuneration and target bonus for 24 months following 
termination. All unvested share options, share grants, and LTI Plan awards vest upon involuntary termination.

Prior to the merger between MMI and the former Sims Group Limited, the MMI board amended certain grants of 
restricted stock pursuant to Mr Dienst’s previous employment contract with MMI which caused vesting of such 
restricted stock upon a change of control.

The amended employment contract with the Company requires that Mr Dienst pays back up to US$3 million (Clawback 
Amount), amortising over a four‑year period, should he resign or terminate his agreement other than for good reason, as 
defined by the agreement. The amortisation of the Clawback Amount for the 2010 financial year was A$800,229 and has 
been included as part of Mr Dienst’s remuneration under the heading “Share‑Based Payments” in the remuneration table. 
As at 30 June 2010, the remaining Clawback Amount is A$1,605,757.

Other senior executives
The details of executive contracts, other than the Group Chief Executive Officer, are summarised in the following table.

Contract term Messrs Davy and McGree have fixed term contracts with automatic renewal.––

Mr Larry’s contract expires on 30 June 2012 with no automatic renewal.––

Messrs Kelman and Ratner do not have employment contracts. ––

Notice period Contracts typically may not be terminated during the fixed term, other than for Cause.––

For Messrs Davy and McGree, after the expiration of the term, the Company must typically ––
provide 12 months prior written notice or payment in lieu of notice. The executive is typically 
required to provide three months prior written notice to terminate the agreement. 

Termination provisions 
(other than for Cause)

Mr Larry is entitled to receive an amount equivalent to 12 months base salary and all ––
unvested share awards will vest.

Change of control Mr Larry is entitled to an amount equal to two times his fixed remuneration, and all ––
unvested share awards will vest, if his employment is terminated within 12 months of 
a result of change in control. This is a carryover from Mr Larry’s contract with MMI.

Mr McGree is entitled to a payment equivalent to six months total annual remuneration ––
if he remains in the employ of the employer six months after a takeover of the Company 
(or if he is terminated within six months of such a takeover). 

Redundancy In the event of redundancy, Messrs Davy and McGree are each entitled to the greater of ––
12 months’ notice or payment in lieu, or a benefit calculated by reference to the Sims Metal 
Management Redundancy Policy up to a maximum of 18 months’ remuneration depending 
upon years of service.
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Additional legacy 
contractual 
entitlements

In recognition of Mr Davy’s contribution to the growth of the Company and the Company’s ––
desire to retain his services, a grant of Rights in respect of Sims Metal Management 
shares was provided to Mr Davy on 1 July 2007. This grant vested in March 2010.

In recognition of Mr McGree’s contribution to the growth of the Company and the ––
Company’s desire to retain his services, a grant of Rights in respect of Sims Metal 
Management shares was provided to Mr McGree on 17 September 2007. This grant vested 
in April 2010.

Former executives
Executive Director

The Executive Director Mr Sutcliffe’s Agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009.

As disclosed in last year’s report, Mr Sutcliffe received a lump‑sum redundancy payment of A$1,551,000, comprising 
his notice period, salary for a three month period of A$337,000 and a pro‑rated STI payment for the 2010 financial 
year of A$387,000. He was also paid a cash settlement of A$1,273,000 for performance rights scheduled to vest 
on 31 August 2009 and A$700,000 for performance rights scheduled to vest on 31 October 2010, pursuant to an 
employment contract amendment made in September 2007. All other outstanding equity awards were retained as a 
result of “good‑leaver” provisions which resulted in the Company recognising an accelerated share‑based payment 
expense of A$870,000 in the 2010 financial year. Mr Sutcliffe received statutory entitlements under long service leave 
and annual leave, and entitlement to defined benefit plans, as if employment continued through 31 October 2009 and 
31 October 2010, respectively. Mr Sutcliffe also received a Superannuation payment in the amount of A$467,436 on 
1 July 2010.

Managing Director United Kingdom Metals

The Company accepted the resignation of Mr Bird on 17 August 2009. Under the terms of the Company’s LTI Plans, 
equity awards that were unvested at the time of his resignation were forfeited by Mr Bird.

F: ADDITIONAL EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

(a) Share based remuneration
(a)(1) Options provided as remuneration

Details of Options affecting remuneration of senior executives in the previous, this or future reporting periods are 
as follows:

No options were exercised or lapsed in the 2009 or 2010 financial years, other than Mr Bird’s 39,347 Options which ––
lapsed in August 2009 on ceasing his employment.

No Options will vest if the conditions are not satisfied; hence, the minimum value of unvested awards is nil.––

The maximum value of the unvested awards has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair value that is yet ––
to be expensed.

The following table summarises the terms of Options grants with shares remaining unvested.

Name Grant date
Number

granted
Exercise 

price
Fair value at

grant date

Date next
tranche can
be exercised

Expiry
date

Maximum
total value

of unvested
grant

Ordinary shares (A$)

J Sutcliffe1 24 Nov 08 135,435 $13.11 $2.78–$3.35 31 Aug 10 24 Nov 15 –

G Davy 23 Nov 09
02 Apr 09

37,231
 48,950

$21.95
$17.79

$6.06–$7.53
$5.12–$6.43

31 Aug 10
31 Aug 10

23 Nov 16
02 Apr 16

	 146,450
 62,377

D McGree 23 Nov 09
02 Apr 09

46,908
 47,534

$21.95
$17.79

$6.06–$7.53
$5.12–$6.43

31 Aug 10
31 Aug 10

23 Nov 16
02 Apr 16

	 184,514
 60,573

ADS (US$)

D Dienst 23 Nov 09
24 Nov 08

178,037
181,654

$20.57
 $8.39

$6.13–$7.70
$2.33–$2.82

31 Aug 10
31 Aug 10

23 Nov 16
24 Nov 15

	 715,394
 87,404

R Kelman 23 Nov 09
02 Apr 09

 44,914
87,664

$20.57
$12.19

$6.13–$7.70
$4.11–$5.25

31 Aug 10
31 Aug 10

23 Nov 16
02 Apr 16

	 180,475
 91,196

R Larry 23 Nov 09
02 Apr 09

 56,142
109,580

$20.57
$12.19

$6.13–$7.70
$4.11–$5.25

31 Aug 10
31 Aug 10

23 Nov 16
02 Apr 16

	 225,591
 113,997

A Ratner 23 Nov 09
02 Apr 09

44,914
 87,664

$20.57
$12.19

$6.13–$7.70
$4.11–$5.25

31 Aug 10
31 Aug 10

23 Nov 16
02 Apr 16

	 180,475
 91,196

1	� Mr Sutcliffe’s agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Please refer to Section E – Executive Contracts for further 
information relating to “good‑leaver” provisions in Mr Sutcliffe’s share grants.
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The following table summarises the Option holdings of Key Management Personnel for the 2010 financial year.

Name

 Number 
of options 

held at 
1 July 2009 

 Options
granted

during the
financial 

year 

 Options
exercised

during the
financial 

year 

 Options
lapsed during
the financial

year 

 Number of
options 
held at

 30 June 2010 

 Number
of options

vested during
the financial

year 

 Number
of options

vested at 
30 June 2010 

Value of
options

granted
as part of

remuneration
and that were

exercised or
sold during

the financial
year

Ordinary shares (A$)

J Sutcliffe  135,435 – – –  135,435  45,145  45,145 –

T Bird  39,347 – –  39,347 – – – –

G Davy  48,950  37,231 – –  86,181  16,317  16,317 –

D McGree  47,534  46,908 – –  94,442  15,845  15,845 –

ADS (US$)

D Dienst  591,654  178,0371 – –  769,691  60,551  470,551 –

R Kelman  87,664  44,914 – –  132,578  29,221  29,221 –

R Larry  109,580  56,142 – –  165,722  36,526  36,526 –

A Ratner  87,664  44,914 – –  132,578  29,221  29,221 –

1	 Approval for this issue was obtained under ASX Listing Rule 10.14.

(a)(2) Rights provided as remuneration

Details of Rights affecting remuneration of executive directors and senior executives in the previous, this or 
future reporting periods are as follows. For each grant of Rights, the percentage of the available grant that was 
vested in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person did not meet the service and 
performance criteria, are set out below.

No Rights will vest if the conditions are not satisfied; hence, the minimum value of Rights yet to vest is nil.––

The maximum value of the Rights yet to vest has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair value that ––
is yet to be expensed.

(a)(3) Additional retention awards

Special retention awards granted in 2007 to Messrs Davy and McGree vested in the 2010 financial year.––

Mr McGree’s vesting of 21,044 rights occurred as scheduled on 30 April 2010.––

Mr Davy’s vesting of 44,803 rights was accelerated by 30 days to 31 March 2010. The vesting acceleration allowed ––
the preservation of some of the intended award value and resulted in an insignificant additional accounting 
expense for the Company.



sims metal management annual report 2010 53

The table below summarises the terms of outstanding grants of Rights.

Name Grant date
Number

granted
Fair value at

grant date
Vested

%
Forfeited

%

Date next
tranche

vests
Expiry

Date

Maximum
total value

of unvested
grant

Ordinary shares (A$)
J Sutcliffe1 25 Sep 07 59,492 $ 28.04 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 10 –

25 Sep 07 44,218 $ 24.03 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 10 –
24 Nov 08 44,440 $ 9.04 – – 31 Aug 11 31 Aug 11 –

G Davy 01 July 07 44,803 $ 22.26 100 ‑  –  – –
25 Sep 07 13,703 $ 29.78 72.1 27.9  –  – –
25 Sep 07 13,100 $ 28.04 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 12 –
25 Sep 07 9,737 $ 24.03 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 12 –
02 Apr 09 18,312 $ 15.46 – – 31 Aug 11 31 Aug 13 	 104,482
23 Nov 09  16,928 $ 15.97 31 Aug 12 31 Aug 14  185,129

D McGree 17 Sep 07 21,044 $ 27.28 100 – – – –
25 Sep 07 12,664 $ 29.78 72.1 27.9 – – –
25 Sep 07 12,107 $ 28.04 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 12 –
25 Sep 07 8,998 $ 24.03 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 12 –
02 Apr 09
23 Nov 09

16,313
 20,728

$ 15.46
$ 15.97 – –

31 Aug 11
31 Aug 12

31 Aug 13
31 Aug 14

93,076
 226,687

ADS (US$)
D Dienst 24 Nov 08 61,092 $ 5.70 – – 31 Aug 11 31 Aug 13 	 128,515

23 Nov 09  197,006 $ 11.99 31 Aug 12 31 Aug 14 1,617,571
R Kelman 01 Nov 05 14,931 $ 10.26 100 – – – –

25 Sep 07 14,137 $ 24.33 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 12 –
25 Sep 07 10,507 $ 20.84 – – 31 Aug 10 31 Aug 12 –
02 Apr 09 38,580 $ 10.32 – – 31 Aug 11 31 Aug 13 	 146,939
23 Nov 09  25,531 $ 11.99 31 Aug 12 31 Aug 14  209,629

R Larry2 02 Apr 09 48,225 $ 10.32 – – 31 Aug 11 31 Aug 13 	 183,674
23 Nov 09  31,914 $ 11.99 – – 31 Aug 12 31 Aug 14  262,038
18 Feb 10  5,260 $ 17.45 – – 28 Feb 11 28 Feb 11  59,320
18 Feb 10  5,261 $ 16.76 – – 28 Feb 12 28 Feb 12  72,348
18 Feb 10  5,261 $ 16.11 – – 28 Feb 13 28 Feb 13  74,572

A Ratner 14 Mar 08 25,625 $ 25.27 67 – 14 Mar 11 14 Mar 11  52,552
02 Apr 09 38,580 $ 10.32 – – 31 Aug 11 31 Aug 13 	 146,939
23 Nov 09  25,531 $ 11.99 31 Aug 12 31 Aug 14  209,629

1	� Mr Sutcliffe’s agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Please refer to Section E – Executive Contracts for further 
information relating to “good leaver” provisions in Mr Sutcliffe’s share grants.

	� As a result, a share‑based payment expense has been recognised for all awards scheduled to vest.
2	 The Company made a one‑time award to Mr Larry on 18 February 2010 as part of a special bonus as described in section (b)(1)(ii).

The following table summarises the Rights holdings of Key Management Personnel for the 2010 financial year.

Name 
 Balance at

30 June 2009 Granted Vested Forfeited
Other

Changes
Balance at

30 June 2010

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) 61,092 197,0061 – – – 258,098

J Sutcliffe2 258,344 – – (23,982) (86,212) 148,150

Senior Executives:

T Bird3 62,773 – – (62,773) – –

G Davy 99,655 16,928 (54,683) (3,823) – 58,077

R Kelman (ADS) 78,155 25,531 (14,931) – – 88,755

R Larry (ADS) 48,225 47,696 – – – 95,921

D McGree 71,126 20,728 (30,175)  (3,533) – 58,146

A Ratner (ADS) 55,664 25,531 (8,542) – – 72,653

1	 Approval for this issue was obtained under ASX Listing Rule 10.14.
2	� Mr Sutcliffe’s service agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Pursuant to the good‑leaver provisions in his award 

agreement, Mr Sutcliffe retained his rights. Other changes represent rights which were cash‑settled as part of Mr Sutcliffe’s redundancy.
3	 The Company accepted Mr Bird’s resignation on 17 August 2009 and, as a result, he forfeited his unvested rights.
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G: NON‑EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION

Approach to determining NED fees
Remuneration for NEDs reflects the Company’s desire to attract, motivate and retain high quality directors and to 
ensure their active participation in the Company’s affairs for the purposes of corporate governance, regulatory 
compliance and other matters to maximise shareholder value. The Company aims to provide a level of remuneration 
for NEDs taking into account, among other things, fees paid for similar roles in comparable companies, the time 
commitment, risk and responsibility accepted by NEDs, and recognition of their commercial expertise and experience.

Approved fee pool
Annual NED fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit which is periodically recommended 
for approval by shareholders. The current pool limit is A$3,000,000, as approved at the Annual General Meeting 
of the Company held on 20 November 2009. At that time, the pool was increased from A$2,500,000 to enable the 
appointment of an additional NED and to respond to foreign exchange fluctuations in the payment of fees to existing 
NEDs who are paid in currency other than Australian dollars: i.e. US dollars or Japanese yen. The Committee believes 
that the current pool limit is adequate and that no changes are necessary at this time.

Base and committee fee policy
NEDs receive an annual fee, paid either monthly or quarterly, for their services.

NED fees are inclusive of superannuation, where applicable, and are made up of a base fee for each NED, and a base 
fee for the Chairman of the board. In addition, the Chairman of each board committee receives a fee for acting in 
such capacity. All of those fees are as outlined in the table below.

NED FEES IN A$ (EFFECTIVE 1 JULY 2009)

Base fee (Chairman) 433,200

Base fee (Non‑Executive Director) 195,600

Chairman Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee 60,000

Chairman Safety, Health, Environment & Community Committee 30,000

Chairman Remuneration Committee 30,000

Chairman Finance & Investment Committee 30,000

Chairman Nomination/Governance Committee 30,000

A NED does not receive a fee for being a member (other than as a chair) of a board committee.

NEDs also receive reimbursement for reasonable travel, accommodation and other expenses incurred in travelling 
to or from meetings of the board or when otherwise engaged in the business of the Company in accordance with 
board policy.

NEDs are not currently covered by any contract of employment and therefore have no contract duration, notice 
period for termination or entitlement to termination payments other than as noted below under Retirement benefits.

NED equity arrangements
NEDs may participate in the Sims Metal Management Deferred Tax Director and Employee Share Plan (NED Plan). 
Under the NED Plan, a NED agrees to contribute a nominated percentage of the annual fees received from the 
Company to fund the acquisition of shares in the Company by the NED Plan trustee. There was no participation  
in this plan during the 2010 financial year.

NEDs do not participate in any incentive (cash or equity‑based) arrangements. Messrs Lewon and Morris hold stock 
options as a result of grants made by MMI prior to the merger with Sims in 2008.

Retirement benefits
The Company’s NEDs’ Retirement Allowance Scheme was discontinued effective 30 June 2006. The accrued amounts 
in respect of the remaining NEDs who had participated (Messrs Mazoudier and Feeney) were frozen and have been 
indexed at 5% per annum until payment. For Australian resident NEDs, the Company withholds 9% of their fees and 
contributes on behalf of each such NED to a complying superannuation fund, as required by legislation. Mr Mazoudier 
received A$977,123 from the Company’s NED Retirement Allowance Scheme upon retirement.
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Fees paid to NEDs during the 2010 financial year (and comparatives)
Details of the fees paid to NEDs are set out below. Fees for the financial year that were paid in US dollars were 
converted at a rate of A$1 to US$.9626. Fees paid in Japanese yen were converted at a rate of A$1 to ¥ 101.04, both 
being the exchange rates set by the board in July 2008. For NEDs who receive payments in foreign currencies, the 
tables below reflect the Australian dollar equivalent of the fees paid to each such NED based on the exchange rate 
at the date of payment.

Short‑term 
benefits Post‑employment benefits

Share‑based 
payments

(A$) Location Year
Cash 
Fees8

super-
annuation

benefits
Retirement

benefits

NED 
Share 

Plan Total

P Varello1,9 USA 2010 	 511,861 – – – 511,861

2009 	 284,897 – – – 284,897

N Bobins1,9 USA 2010 	 279,017 – – – 279,017

2009 	 284,897 – – – 284,897

G Brunsdon2 Australia 2010 	 109,993 10,878 – – 120,871

2009 – – – – –

J DiLacqua1,3,9 USA 2010 – – – – –

2009 	 87,768 – – – 87,768

JM Feeney Australia 2010 	 205,296 20,304 22,150 – 247,750

2009 	 173,504 17,389 21,096 19,708 231,697

M Iwanaga4,9 Japan 2010 	 97,101 – – – 97,101

2009 	 293,526 – – – 293,526

R Lewon1,9 USA 2010 	 262,853 – – – 262,853

2009 	 247,013 – – – 247,013

P Mazoudier5 Australia 2010 	 87,239 8,628 18,773 – 114,640

2009 	 397,432 35,769 45,636 – 478,837

G Morris1,9 USA 2010 	 316,120 – – – 316,120

2009 	 322,782 – – – 322,782

C Renwick Australia 2010 	 205,296 20,304 – – 225,600

2009 	 167,351 18,628 – 39,622 225,601

P Sukagawa6 Japan 2010 	 119,533 – – – 119,533

2009 – – – – –

J Thompson1,7,9 USA 2010 	 125,325 – – – 125,325

2009 – – – – –

Total 2010 	 2,319,634 60,114 40,923 – 2,420,671

2009 	 2,259,170 71,786 66,732 59,330 2,457,018

1	 Messrs Bobins, DiLacqua, Lewon, Morris, Thompson and Varello are residents of the United States and received their payments in US dollars.
2	 Mr Brunsdon retired from the board on 21 November 2007 and was re‑appointed 20 November 2009.
3	 Mr DiLacqua retired from the board on 21 November 2008.
4	� Mr Iwanaga is a resident of Japan and received his payments in Japanese yen. He retired from the board 20 November 2009. Mr Mazoudier 

retired from the board on 20 November 2009.
6	� Mr Sukagawa was appointed to the board on 20 November 2009 as a representative director of Mitsui. He is currently employed by a subsidiary 

of Mitsui and as a result his director fees are paid to a Mitsui affiliate.
7	 Mr Thompson was appointed to the board on 20 November 2009.
8	 Figure shown is after fee sacrifice to either superannuation and/or NED Share Plan.
9	� Fees for the financial year that were paid in US dollars were converted at a rate of A$1 to US$.9626. Fees paid in Japanese yen were converted 

at a rate of A$1 to ¥ 101.04, both being the exchange rates set by the board in July 2008. For NEDs who receive payments in foreign currencies, 
the table reflects the Australian dollar equivalent of the fees paid to each such NED based on the exchange rate at the date of payment.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors and is signed for and on behalf of the 
board of directors.

	

P J Varello	 D W Dienst 
Chairman 	 Group Chief Executive Officer

Houston	 Sydney  
26 August 2010	 27 August 2010
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consolidated income statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Revenue 5 7,458.5 8,641.0 7,670.5

Other income 6 25.2 33.7 55.7

Raw materials used and changes in inventories 10 (5,344.3) (6,272.6) (5,324.6)

Freight expense (716.0) (919.3) (778.7)

Employee benefits expense (433.0) (592.4) (404.9)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (143.9) (170.8) (95.1)

Repairs and maintenance expense (111.7) (147.8) (126.2)

Other expenses (538.4) (542.2) (363.0)

Finance costs 7 (16.4) (21.5) (34.4)

Goodwill impairment charge 13 – (191.1) (3.3)

Share of pre-tax profit of investments accounted for using the 
equity method 29 14.5 60.8 64.6

Profit/(loss) before income tax 194.5 (122.2) 660.6

Income tax expense	 8 (67.8) (28.1) (220.5)

Profit/(loss) for the year 126.7 (150.3) 440.1

A¢ A¢ A¢

Earnings/(loss) per share:

Basic 32 64.9 (82.5) 309.3

Diluted 32 64.5 (82.5) 306.3

The consolidated income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Note
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Profit/(loss) for the year 126.7 (150.3) 440.1

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Other financial assets 20 (1.4) – –

Cash flow hedge instruments 20 (1.5) 0.6 (14.3)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 20 (121.3) 337.1 (130.8)

Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans 18(c) (3.8) (8.2) (11.2)

Income tax on other comprehensive income 8 2.1 3.1 8.0

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (125.9) 332.6 (148.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year 0.8 182.3 291.8

The consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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consolidated statements of financial position
as at 30 june 2010

Note
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 33 132.3 69.5

Trade and other receivables 9 576.2 350.3

Current tax receivable – 96.2

Inventory 10 776.9 469.2

Other financial assets 8.7 0.7

Total current assets 1,494.1 985.9

Non-current assets

Receivables 9 7.9 17.6

Investments accounted for using the equity method 29 369.5 400.2

Other financial assets 21.4 –

Property, plant and equipment 12 925.8 947.7

Deferred tax assets 8 74.1 71.6

Goodwill 13 1,151.7  1,146.8

Other intangible assets 14 195.2 238.8

Total non-current assets  2,745.6 2,822.7

Total assets 4,239.7 3,808.6

Liabilities 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 614.2 521.8

Borrowings 16 0.6 0.8

Other financial liabilities 5.0 10.5

Current tax liabilities 23.2 5.9

Provisions 17 31.1 38.0

Total current liabilities 674.1 577.0

Non-current liabilities

Payables 3.3 4.3

Borrowings 16 116.6 174.3

Deferred tax liabilities 8 133.7 148.8

Provisions 17 22.2 34.0

Retirement benefit obligations 18 11.0 11.2

Total non-current liabilities 286.8 372.6

Total liabilities 960.9 949.6

Net assets 3,278.8 2,859.0

Equity

Contributed equity 19 2,795.2 2,352.9

Reserves 20 58.1 166.0

Retained earnings 20 425.5 340.1

Total equity 3,278.8 2,859.0

The consolidated statements of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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consolidated statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note

Contributed
equity

A$m 
Reserves

A$m

Retained
earnings

A$m

Total
Equity

A$m

Balance at 1 July 2007 812.0 (64.6) 424.7 1,172.1

Total comprehensive income for the year – (140.5) 432.3 291.8

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Dividends provided for or paid 21 – – (174.7) (174.7)

Share-based payments 5.7 30.8 	 – 36.5

Acquisition of Metal Management Inc 1,490.1 – 	 – 1,490.1

Dividend Reinvestment Plan 21 18.1 – 	 – 18.1

1,513.9 30.8  (174.7) 1,370.0

Balance at 30 June 2008 2,325.9 (174.3) 682.3 2,833.9

Total comprehensive income for the year – 338.0 (155.7) 182.3

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Dividends provided for or paid 21 – – (186.5) (186.5)

Share-based payments 0.4 2.3 – 2.7

Dividend Reinvestment Plan 21 26.6 – – 26.6

27.0 2.3  (186.5) (157.2)

Balance at 30 June 2009 2,352.9 166.0 340.1 2,859.0

Total comprehensive income for the year 	 	 – (123.2) 124.0 0.8

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Dividends provided for or paid 21 – – (38.6) (38.6)

Share-based payments 0.5 15.3 – 15.8

Issue of shares under Institutional Placement 19 391.4 – – 391.4

Issue of shares under Share Purchase Plan 19 41.2 – – 41.2

Dividend Reinvestment Plan 21 9.2 – – 9.2

442.3 15.3 (38.6) 419.0

Balance at 30 June 2010 2,795.2 58.1 425.5 3,278.8

The consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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consolidated statements of cash flows
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008 
A$m

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 7,230.3 9,232.8 7,353.9

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and 
services tax) (7,305.1) (8,475.6) (6,943.1)

Interest received 2.8  2.3 2.9

Interest paid (16.2) (20.9) (34.4)

Dividends from associates and jointly controlled entities 29 19.6 41.5 5.1

Insurance recoveries 1.0 12.3 7.6

Income taxes refunded (paid) 20.1 (238.0)  (144.5)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 33 (47.5) 554.4  247.5

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 12 (120.9)  (187.5) (129.7)

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 27 (113.4)  (76.0) (58.5)

Payments for other financial assets (22.8) – –

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8.1 5.5 2.0

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries	 – 39.7 –

Return of capital from jointly controlled entities 29 0.4 3.6 48.5

Net cash outflow from investing activities (248.6) (214.7) (137.7)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings	 3,009.9 1,847.3 815.7

Repayment of borrowings	 (3,051.1) (2,112.6) (678.3)

Fees paid for loan facilities (3.2) (2.0) –

Proceeds from issue of shares 441.9 0.4 5.7

Transaction costs associated with issue of shares (8.8) – –

Dividends paid 21 (29.4) (159.9) (156.6)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 359.3 (426.8) (13.5)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 63.2 (87.1) 96.3

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial	year 69.5 133.5 38.6

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (0.4) 23.1 (1.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 33 132.3 69.5 133.5

The consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note 1 – Summary of significant  
accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. These financial statements are 
for the consolidated entity consisting of Sims Metal 
Management Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”). 

(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting 
Standards, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations 
(“UIGI”) and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”). 

Compliance with IFRS as issued by the IASB
The consolidated financial statements also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of certain derivative contracts, available-
for-sale financial assets and post-retirement assets and 
liabilities. The Group’s policy in respect of these items is 
set out in the notes below. 

Reclassifications 
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period 
amounts to conform to the current period financial 
statement presentation with no significant impact 
effect on the previously reported consolidated financial 
statements. The Group reclassified legal provisions of 
A$16.2 million which were included within trade and other 
payables as at 30 June 2009 to current provisions to be 
consistent with the presentation as at 30 June 2010.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with Australian Accounting Standards and IFRS requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, 
are disclosed in Note 3.

Financial statement presentation
The Group adopted revised AASB 101 (IAS 1) Presentation 
of Financial Statements on 1 July 2009. The revised 
standard requires the separate presentation of a 
statement of comprehensive income and a statement of 
changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity must 
now be presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income. As a consequence, the Group had to change the 

presentation of its consolidated financial statements. 
Comparative information has been re-presented so that 
it is also in conformity with the revised standard.

(b) New accounting standards 
and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations 
have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 
2010 reporting periods. The Group’s assessment of the 
impact of these new standards and interpretations is 
set out below.

(i) AASB 2009-5, Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from the Annual Improvements Project 
(Improvements to IFRS issued in April 2009)

Various accounting standards have been amended for 
minor changes in presentation, disclosure, recognition 
and measurement purposes. The amendments, which will 
become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2011 financial 
statements, are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

(ii) AASB 2009-8 (Amendment to IFRS 2), 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Group Cash-Settled 
Share‑Based Payment Transactions 
The amendments clarify the scope of AASB 2 (IFRS 2) 
as well as accounting for cash-settled (by the parent) 
share-based payment transactions in the separate or 
individual financial statements of a subsidiary receiving 
the goods or services when another subsidiary or 
shareholder has the obligation to settle the award. 
The amendments, which will become mandatory for the 
Group’s 30 June 2011 financial statements, are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

(iii) AASB 124 (IAS 24) Related Party Disclosures
A revised AASB 124 (IAS 24) was issued to primarily simplify 
the definition of a related party and clarify its intended 
meaning. The standard is effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The Group will apply 
the amended standard from 1 July 2011. The amendments 
are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

(iv) AASB 2009-14 (IFRIC 14) Amendments to 
Australian Interpretations – Prepayments 
of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
The amendments remove an unintended consequence 
of the interpretation related to voluntary prepayments 
when there is a minimum funding requirement in regard to 
the entity’s defined benefit scheme. It permits entities to 
recognise an asset for a prepayment of contributions made 
to cover minimum funding requirements. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2011, and must be applied retrospectively. The 
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group 
intends to apply the amendment from 1 July 2011.
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note 1 – Summary of significant  
accounting policies (continued)

(b) New accounting standards and 
interpretations (continued)

(v) AASB 9 (IFRS 9) Financial Instruments
AASB 9 (IFRS 9) addresses the classification 
and measurement of financial assets. This new 
standard represents the first phase of the AASB’s 
(IASB’s) project to replace AASB 139 (IAS 39) 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
The new standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 but is available 
for early adoption. AASB 9 (IFRS 9) introduces new 
requirements for classifying and measuring financial 
instruments, including:

The replacement of the multiple classification and ––
measurement models in AASB 139 (IAS 39) with a single 
model that has only two classification categories: 
amortised cost and fair value.

The replacement of the requirement to separate ––
embedded derivatives from financial assets with a 
requirement to classify a hybrid contract in its entity 
at either amortised cost or fair value.

The replacement of the cost exemption for unquoted ––
equities and derivatives on unquoted equities with 
guidance on when cost may be an appropriate 
estimate of fair value.

The Group has not yet completed its assessment of AASB 9 
(IFRS 9).

(vi) AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project and AASB 2010-4 Further 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
(IASB Improvements to IFRS issued in May 2010)
The AASB has made a number of amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards as a result of the 
IASB’s annual improvements project. The Group will apply 
the amendments from 1 July 2010. The Group has not yet 
completed its assessment of the amendments.

(c) Principles of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect 
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether 
the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from 
the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

(ii) Associates
An associate is an entity, that is neither a subsidiary nor a 
joint venture, over whose operating and financial policies 
the Group exercises significant influence. Significant 
influence is presumed to exist where the Group has 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights, but can also 
arise where the Group holds less than 20% if it has the 
power to be actively involved and influential in policy 
decisions affecting the entity. The Group’s share of the 
net assets, post-tax results and reserves of associates 
are included in the financial statements using the equity 
method. This involves recording the investment initially 
at cost to the Group, which therefore includes any 
goodwill on acquisition, and then, in subsequent periods, 
adjusting the carrying amount of the investment to 
reflect the Group’s share of the associate’s results less 
any impairment of goodwill and any other changes to the 
associate’s net assets such as dividends. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group 
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

(iii) Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby 
two or more parties undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control such that 
significant operating and financial decisions require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. In 
some situations, joint control exists even though the 
Group has an ownership interest of more than 50% 
because of the veto rights held by joint venture partners. 
The Group has two types of joint ventures:

Jointly controlled entities
A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves 
the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other 
entity in which each venture has a long-term interest. 
Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the 
equity method. In addition, for both associates and jointly 
controlled entities, the carrying value will include any 
long-term debt interests that in substance form part of 
the Group’s net investment.

Joint venture operations
A joint venture operation is a joint venture in which the 
venturers have joint control over assets contributed to 
or acquired for the purpose of the joint venture. A joint 
venture operation does not involve the establishment of 
a corporation, partnership or other entity. This includes 
situations where the participants derive benefit from the 
joint activity through a share of the production, rather 
than by receiving a share of the results of trading. The 
Group’s proportionate interest in the assets, liabilities, 
revenues, expenses and cash flows of joint venture 
operations are incorporated into the Group’s financial 
statements under the appropriate headings.
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

(iv) Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change 
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between 
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests 
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount 
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and 
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a 
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners 
of the Company.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control 
or significant influence, any retained interest in the 
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change 
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as 
an associate, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. 
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity 
or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

(v) Change in accounting policy
The Group has changed its accounting policy for 
transactions with non-controlling interests and the 
accounting for loss of control, joint control or significant 
influence from 1 July 2009 when a revised AASB 127 (IAS 
27) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
became operative. The revisions to AASB 127 (IAS 27) 
contained consequential amendments to AASB 128 
(IAS 28) Investments in Associates and AASB 131 (IAS 31) 
Interests in Joint Ventures.

Previously transactions with non-controlling interests 
were treated as transactions with parties external to the 
Group. Disposals therefore resulted in gains or losses in 
profit or loss and purchases resulted in the recognition of 
goodwill. On disposal or partial disposal, a proportionate 
interest in reserves attributable to the subsidiary was 
reclassified to profit or loss or directly to retained 
earnings. The revised standard affected the acquisition 
of a jointly controlled entity which is detailed in Note 29.

Previously when the Group ceased to have control, 
joint control or significant influence over an entity, the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date control, 
joint control or significant influence ceased became its 
cost for the purposes of subsequently accounting for 
the retained interests as associates, jointly controlled 
entity or financial assets.

The Group has applied the new policy prospectively to 
transactions occurring on or after 1 July 2009. As a 

consequence, no adjustments were necessary to any of 
the amounts previously recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

(d) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account 
for all business combinations, regardless of whether 
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. 
The consideration transferred to the acquisition of 
a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity 
interests issued by the Group. The consideration 
transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-
existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, 
the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net 
identifiable assets. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity 
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are 
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all 
amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised 
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. Where 
settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, 
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to 
their present value as at the date of the exchange. The 
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could 
be obtained from an independent financier under 
comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity 
or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Change in accounting policy
A revised AASB 3 (IFRS 3) Business Combinations became 
operative on 1 July 2009. Accordingly, while its adoption 
has no impact on previous acquisitions made by the 
Group, the revised standard has affected the accounting 
for the acquisitions disclosed in Note 27.

The revised standard introduces significant changes 
in the accounting for business combinations. Changes 
affect the valuation of non-controlling interests 
(previously “minority interests”), the accounting for 
transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent 
measurement of contingent consideration and business 
combinations achieved in stages. These changes will 
impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported 
results in the period when an acquisition occurs and 
future reported results. 
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Note 1 – Summary of significant  
accounting policies (continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of 
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars (“A$”), which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year 
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as qualifying 
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges 
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a 
foreign operation. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried 
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or 
loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial 
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss 
as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation 
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities 
classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 
included in the fair value reserve in equity.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all Group entities 
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

statement of financial position items are translated ––
at the closing rate at the date of that statement of 
financial position;

income statement items and statement of ––
comprehensive income items are translated 
at average exchange rates (unless this is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect 
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case they are translated at the date of the 
transaction); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in ––
other comprehensive income. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, 
borrowings and other financial instruments designated 
as hedges of such investments, or borrowings that 
qualify as quasi-equity loans, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a loss of control occurs 
over a foreign operation, a proportionate share of such 
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal where applicable. 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the 
closing rate. 

(f) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed 
as revenue are net of returns and trade allowances. 
Amounts billed to customers in respect of shipping and 
handling are classified as sales revenue where the Group 
is responsible for carriage, insurance and freight. All 
shipping and handling costs incurred by the Group are 
recognised as operating costs. 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of 
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 
activities as described below. The amount of revenue 
is not considered to be reliably measurable until all 
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities 
as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when there 
is persuasive evidence, usually in the form of an executed 
sales agreement at the time of delivery of goods to the 
customer, indicating that there has been a transfer 
of risks and rewards to the customer, no further work 
or processing is required, the quantity and quality of 
the goods has been determined, the price is fixed and 
generally title has passed. 

(ii) Service revenue
Service revenue principally represents revenue earned 
from the collection of end-of-life post-consumer 
products for the purpose of product recycling. Service 
revenue is recognised when the services have been 
provided. Service revenue received in advance of the 
service being rendered is deferred.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis 
using the effective interest method. 

(iv) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established. 
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(g) Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair 
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all 
attached conditions. 

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and 
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary 
to match them with the costs that they are intended to 
compensate. 

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, 
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities 
as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the 
related assets. 

(h) Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is 
the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate for each 
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and 
unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the 
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period in the countries 
where the Group’s subsidiaries and associates operate 
and generate taxable income. Management periodically 
evaluates provisions taken in tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject 
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for 
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and are expected to apply when 
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where 
the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Entities within the Group may be entitled to claim 
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying 
assets (investment allowances). The Group accounts 
for such allowances as tax credits, which means that 
the allowance reduces income tax payable and current 
tax expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised 
for unclaimed tax credits that are carried forward 
as deferred tax assets. 

(i) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment in which the 
Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception 
at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in borrowings. Each lease payment 
is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease 
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period. Property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful life 
or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the 
lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group 
as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments 
made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Lease 
income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor 
is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. The respective leased assets are included in 
the statement of financial position based on their nature.

(j) Segment information
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the Group Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) who is the chief operating 
decision maker. Details on the Group’s segments are set 
out in Note 4.
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(k) Impairment of assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite 
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate a potential for 
impairment. Other assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash generating units “CGUs”). Non-
financial assets, other than goodwill, that suffered 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting period. 

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions and other short‑term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. 

(m) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision 
for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 to 60 days following shipment, 
except in the case of ferrous shipments made to export 
destinations which are generally secured by letters of 
credit that are collected within 10 days of shipment.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Individual debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written-off by reducing the carrying 
amount directly. An allowance account (a provision for 
impairment of trade receivables) is used when there 
is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivable. Indicators of impairment would include 
significant financial difficulties of the debtor, likelihood of 
the debtor’s insolvency, default or delinquency in payment 
or a significant deterioration in credit worthiness. The 
amount of the impairment provision is recognised in 
profit or loss within other expenses. 

When a trade receivable for which an impairment 
provision had been recognised becomes uncollectible 
in a subsequent period, it is written-off against the 
provision for impairment account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written-off are credited against 
other expenses in profit or loss. 

(n) Inventory
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct 
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and 
fixed overhead expenditures, the latter being allocated 
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are 
assigned to inventory on the basis of weighted average 
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale. 

Stores consist of consumable and maintenance stores 
and are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost is determined using weighted average costs.

(o) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) 
held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as 
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use and a sale is considered highly 
probable. They are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except 
for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising 
from employee benefits and financial assets that are 
carried at fair value, which are specifically exempt from 
this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or 
subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) 
to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for 
any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to 
sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of 
any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. 
A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of 
the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is 
recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a 
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while 
they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other 
expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group 
classified as held for sale continue to be recognised. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the 
assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
are presented separately from the other assets in 
the statement of financial position. The liabilities of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from other liabilities in the statement of 
financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity 
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale 
and that represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations, is part of a single 
coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or 
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively 
with a view to resale. The results of discontinued 
operations are presented separately in profit or loss.
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(p) Investments and other financial assets

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial 
assets. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and re‑evaluates this designation at the end 
of each reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is 
classified in this category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on 
financial assets held for trading are recognised in profit 
or loss and the related assets are classified as current 
assets in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.

(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current 
assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 
months after the reporting period which are classified as 
non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included 
in trade and other receivables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non–derivative 
financial assets that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not classified in any other category. They are 
included in non-current assets unless the investment 
matures or management intends to dispose of the 
investment within 12 months of the end of the reporting 
period. Investments are designated as available‑for‑sale 
if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or 
determinable payments and management intends to hold 
them for the medium-to long-term.

Financial assets – reclassification
The Group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative 
trading financial asset out of the held-for-trading 
category if the financial asset is no longer held for the 
purpose of selling it in the near-term. Financial assets 
other than loans and receivables are permitted to be 
reclassified out of the held-for-trading category only 
in rare circumstances arising from a single event that 
is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term. 
In addition, the Group may choose to reclassify financial 
assets that would meet the definition of loans and 
receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-for-
sale categories if the Group has the intention and ability 
to hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the 
reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost 
or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair 
value gains or losses recorded before reclassification 
date are subsequently made. Effective interest rates 
for financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables 
are determined at the reclassification date. Further 
increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective 
interest rates prospectively.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade date – the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value and transaction costs are expensed in profit 
or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, 
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried 
at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of the “financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss” category are presented in profit or loss 
within other income or other expenses in the period in 
which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss as part of revenue from continuing operations when 
the right to receive payments is established. 

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is 
determined are disclosed in Note 2.

Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the 
case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, 
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a 
security below its cost is considered as an indicator 
that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence 
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss – measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss – is reclassified from equity 
and recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in profit or 
loss on equity instruments classified as available-for-
sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
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(p) Investments and other financial assets 
(continued) 
Impairment (continued)
If there is evidence of impairment for any of the Group’s 
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred. The cash flows are discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(q) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition and 
installation of the items. Cost may also include transfers 
from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow 
hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant 
and equipment. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted 
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All 
other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or 
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets 
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their cost net of their residual values, over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings––  – 25 to 40 years

Plant and equipment––  – 3 to 20 years

Leasehold improvements –– – lesser of life of asset  
or life of the lease

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written-
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount as set out in Note 1(k). Gains 
and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amounts and recognised in profit 
or loss. 

(r) Derivatives and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent 
changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative 
is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the 
nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates 
certain derivatives as either: (i) hedges of the fair value 
of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment 

(“fair value hedges”); or (ii) hedges of a particular risk 
associated with the cash flows of recognised assets 
and liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions 
(“cash flow hedges”).

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge 
accounting, despite being valid economic hedges of the 
relevant risks. Changes in the fair value of any derivative 
instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss and are included 
in other income or other expenses and are classified in the 
statement of financial position as a current asset or liability.

The Group documents at the inception of the hedging 
transaction the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. The Group also documents 
its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an 
ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used 
in hedging transactions have been and will continue to 
be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or 
cash flows of hedged items. 

The fair values of various derivative financial 
instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed 
in Note 11. Movements in the hedging reserve in equity 
are shown in Note 20. The full fair value of a hedging 
derivative is classified as a non-current asset or 
liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item 
is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current 
asset or liability when the remaining maturity is less 
than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a 
current asset or liability.

(i) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded 
in profit or loss, together with any changes in the 
fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. 

(ii) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the hedging reserve in equity. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Amounts accumulated in 
equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when 
the hedged item affects profit or loss (for instance when 
the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or 
loss relating to the effective portion of forward foreign 
exchange contracts hedging export sales is recognised in 
profit or loss within revenue. 

Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial 
asset or liability, such as a forecast transaction for the 
purchase of property, plant and equipment, the amounts 
recognised within other comprehensive income are 
transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-
financial asset or liability. 
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When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity 
at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or 
loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gains or losses that were deferred in 
equity are immediately transferred to profit or loss.

(s) Goodwill and intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/
associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on 
acquisitions of associates is included in investments 
accounted for under the equity method. Goodwill is not 
amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment 
annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and 
is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose of 
impairment testing to those CGUs or groups of 
CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose. 

(ii) Trade Name
Trade name relates principally to the “Metal Management” 
trading name. This intangible asset has a finite useful life 
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate the cost of the trade name over its estimated 
useful life, which is 20 years.

(iii) Supplier relationships and contracts
Supplier relationships and contracts acquired as part 
of a business combination are recognised separately 
from goodwill. The supplier relationships and contracts 
are carried at their fair value at the date of acquisition 
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is calculated based on the timing of 
projected cash flows of the supplier relationships or 
straight-line method (as appropriate) over their estimated 
useful lives, which currently vary from 1 to 19 years.

(iv) Permits
Permits acquired as part of a business combination 
are recognised separately from goodwill. Permits are 
issued by state and local governments and are renewable 
at little or no cost and are thus considered to have an 
indefinite life. Permits are carried at their fair value at 
the date of acquisition and are not amortised. Instead, 
permits are tested for impairment annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that they might be impaired, and are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Permits that relate to 
facilities that close or relocate are written-off to nil at 
the time the facility is closed or relocated.

(t) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of a financial year 
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are 
usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(u) Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not 
an incremental cost relating to the actual draw‑down 
of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and 
amortised to finance costs on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the loan facility.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated 
statement of financial position when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income 
or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless 
the Group has the unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. 

(v) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of 
time required to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use. Other borrowing costs are recognised as 
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

(w) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can 
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as 
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of 
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to 
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as interest expense. 
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(x) Employee benefits

(i) Salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for salaries and annual leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the end of the period 
in which employees render the related service are 
recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
end of the reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

(iii) Superannuation, pensions and other 
post‑retirement benefits
The Group operates or participates in a number of 
pension (including superannuation) schemes throughout 
the world. The funding of the schemes complies with local 
regulations. The assets of the schemes are generally held 
separately from those of the Group and are administered 
by trustees or management boards.
For defined contribution schemes or schemes operated 
on an industry-wide basis where it is not possible to 
identify assets attributable to the participation by the 
Group’s employees, the cost is calculated on the basis of 
contributions payable.

For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing 
pensions is charged to profit or loss so as to recognise 
current and past service costs, interest cost on defined 
benefit obligations, and the effect of any curtailments 
or settlements, net of expected returns on plan assets. 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
recognised in the period in which they occur, directly 
in other comprehensive income. An asset or liability is 
consequently recognised in the statement of financial 
position based on the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, less any 
unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of 
plan assets at that date. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
calculated by independent actuaries by discounting 
expected future payments using market yields at the 
reporting date on high quality corporate bonds in 
countries that have developed corporate bond markets. 
However, where developed corporate bond markets do 
not exist, the discount rates are selected by reference 
to national government bonds. In both instances, the 
bonds are selected with terms to maturity and currency 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash flows. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Details relating 
to retirement benefit obligations are set out in Note 18.

(iv) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to 
certain employees via the schemes set out in Note 
24. For share‑based arrangements, the fair value is 
measured at grant date and recognised as an employee 
benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. 
For cash-settled share‑based arrangements, the fair 
value is measured at grant date and recognised as an 
employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase 
to a liability.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined 
using either a binomial model or a Monte-Carlo simulation 
model. The model takes into account the exercise price, 
the term, the share price at grant date and expected 
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected 
dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rate for the 
term of the grant. The fair value is adjusted to reflect 
market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of 
any non-market vesting conditions (for example, earnings 
per share targets). Non-market vesting conditions are 
included in assumptions about the number of shares 
that are expected to become exercisable. At the 
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its 
estimate of the number of shares that are expected 
to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense 
recognised each period takes into account the most 
recent estimate. The impact of the revision to original 
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

(v) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination 
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either 
terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of 
withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result 
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits due more than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period are discounted to present value.
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(y) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(z) Dividends
A provision is made for the amount of any dividends 
declared on or before the end of the reporting period but 
not distributed at the end of the reporting period. 

(aa) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net 
profit by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in 
the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest 
and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average 
number of additional ordinary shares that would have 
been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares.

(ab) Goods and services or other value-added 
taxes (“GST”) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case, 
it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included with other receivables or payables 
in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority are presented as 
operating cash flows.

(ac) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, Sims 
Metal Management Limited, disclosed in Note 31 has been 
prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial 
statements, except as set out below.

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint venture entities
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 
entities are accounted for at cost in the financial 
statements of the Company. Dividends received from 
subsidiaries and associates are recognised in the 
Company’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted 
from the carrying amount of the investments. 

(ii) Tax consolidation legislation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled 
entities have implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation. The head entity, Sims Metal Management 
Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. These amounts are measured as 
if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to 
be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its current and deferred tax amounts, 
the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding 
agreement under which the wholly-owned entities 
fully compensate the Company for any current tax 
receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused 
tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred 
to the Company under the tax consolidation legislation. 
The funding amounts are determined by reference to 
the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ 
financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding 
agreement are due upon receipt of the funding 
advice from the head entity, which is issued as soon 
as practicable after the end of each financial year. 
The head entity may also require payment of interim 
funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay 
tax instalments.

Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding 
agreements with the tax consolidated entities are 
recognised as current amounts receivable from or 
payable to other entities in the Group.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and 
amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding 
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or 
distribution from) wholly‑owned tax consolidated entities.

(iii) Financial Guarantees
Where the Company has provided financial guarantees 
in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries without 
compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are 
accounted for as contributions and recognised as part 
of the cost of the investment.

(ad) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 
98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding 
off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts 
in the financial statements have been rounded off 
in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest 
hundred thousand dollars or as otherwise indicated.
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Note 2 – Financial risk management
In the normal course of business, the Group’s activities 
expose it to the following financial risks: 

market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign ––
exchange risk and commodity price risk); 

credit risk; and ––

liquidity risk. ––

This note presents information about the Group’s 
exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, 
and their management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated 
financial statements.

The Group’s overall financial risk management strategy 
seeks to mitigate these risks and minimise potential 
adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments 
in certain circumstances in accordance with Board of 
Directors (“Board”) approved policies to hedge exposure 
to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates or commodity 
prices. Derivative financial instruments are used for 
hedging purposes and not as trading or other speculative 
instruments. The Group uses different methods to 
measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. 
These methods include monitoring key movements in 
interest rates, key transactions affected by foreign 
exchange and commodity prices, and ageing analysis for 
credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by a limited number 
of employees as authorised by the Board. The Board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, 
as well as written policies covering specific areas, 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and 
non‑derivative financial instruments, and the investment 
of excess liquidity.

The Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee (“RAC”) of the 
Board oversees how management monitors compliance 
with the Group’s risk management framework in relation 
to the risks faced by the Group. The RAC is assisted 
in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit 
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures, the results of 
which are reported to the RAC. 

(a) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. The market risks 
to which the Group is exposed are discussed in further 
detail below.

(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of 
a financial instrument or cash flows associated with 
the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. The Group primarily borrows at variable 
interest rates. The Group does not use any derivative 
financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest 

rate risk. Cash deposits and borrowings issued at fixed 
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

The Group’s borrowings are sourced primarily from 
domestic but also offshore markets. Some of the 
Group’s borrowings consist of foreign currency 
denominated borrowings. The Group’s regional operations 
can borrow in the currency of their geographic locations 
as all but one of the Group’s facilities are multi-option/
currency facililties. The Group’s borrowings are managed 
in accordance with targeted currency, interest rate, 
liquidity and debt portfolio maturity profiles.

Specifically, interest rate risk is managed on the Group’s 
net debt portfolio by:

providing access to diverse sources of funding;––

reducing risks of refinancing by establishing and ––
managing in accordance with target maturity 
profiles; and

negotiating interest rates with the Group’s banks ––
based on a variable pricing matrix which generally 
involves a LIBOR rate plus a margin.

The Group’s weighted average interest rate on interest-
bearing liabilities for the year ended 30 June 2010 was 
2.1% (2009: 3.6%). If interest rates had increased by 
100 basis points as at the balance date and with all 
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the 
year ended 30 June 2010 would have been A$0.8 million 
lower (2009: A$1.1 million lower). A sensitivity of 100 basis 
points is deemed reasonable based on current and 
past market conditions. The calculations are based on 
interest-bearing financial instruments with variable 
interest rates at the end of the reporting period. A 
100 basis points decrease in interest rates would have 
an equal and opposite effect.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk, primarily with respect to 
transactions settled in US dollars. Foreign exchange 
risk arises when future commercial transactions and 
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The 
exposure of an entity to transaction risk is minimised by 
matching local currency income with local currency costs.

The Group seeks to denominate borrowings in the 
currencies of its principal assets and cash flows. These 
are primarily denominated in Australian dollars, US dollars, 
British pounds and Euros.

In accordance with Board approved policies, the Group 
enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to buy 
and sell specific amounts of various foreign currencies 
in the future at pre-determined exchange rates. The 
forward foreign exchange contracts are used to hedge 
transactions denominated in currencies which are not 
the functional currency of the relevant entity. These 
contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted 
transactions for the ensuing financial year. The contracts 
are timed to mature when monies from the forecasted 
sales are scheduled to be received or when payments for 
purchases are scheduled to be made. The Group does not 
hedge its exposure to recognised assets and liabilities.
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Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of an entity are 
periodically restated to their functional currency, and the associated gain or loss is taken to profit or loss. The table 
below shows the carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period. 

Net financial 
assets/(liabilities)

Currency:
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

US dollar 69.5 (58.3)

Euro 16.4 (57.5)

British pound 0.8 49.9

The table below shows the impact of a 10% appreciation of the relevant currency for the Group’s net foreign 
currency denominated financial assets. A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable, given 
the current level of exchange rates and the volatility observed both on a historical basis and on market expectations 
for future movements.

US dollar Euro British pound

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Impact on post-tax profit –  
higher/(lower) 4.5 (3.8) 1.1 (3.7) 0.1 3.2

Impact on equity 36.1 28.2 – – 9.9 –

A 10% depreciation of the relevant currency would have an equal and opposite effect. 

Forward foreign exchange contracts
The table below shows the Group’s sensitivity to foreign exchange rates on its forward foreign exchange contracts 
which are hedging future expected transactions. A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered 
reasonable, given the current level of exchange rates and the volatility observed both on a historical basis and on 
market expectations for future movements. 

US dollar Euro British pound

2010
A$m
+/–

2009
A$m
+/–

2010
A$m
+/–

2009
A$m
+/–

2010
A$m
+/–

2009
A$m
+/–

Impact on post-tax profit 1.2 – – – – 3.3

Impact on equity 5.4 1.7 0.3 0.4 1.4 4.8
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Note 2 – Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risks (continued)

(ii) Foreign exchange risk (CONTINUED)
The financial statements for each of the Group’s foreign 
operations are prepared in local currency, being their 
functional currency. For the purposes of preparing the 
Group’s consolidated financial information, each foreign 
operation’s financial statements are translated into 
Australian dollars using the applicable foreign exchange 
rates as at the balance date. A translation risk therefore 
exists on translating the financial statements of the 
Group’s foreign operations into Australian dollars for the 
purposes of reporting consolidated financial information. 
As a result, volatility in foreign exchange rates can 
impact the Group’s net assets, net profit and the foreign 
currency translation reserve. 

(iii) Price risk

Commodity price risk
The Group is exposed to risks associated with 
fluctuations in the market price for both ferrous and 
non-ferrous metals and to a lesser extent precious 
metals which are at times volatile. The Group attempts 
to mitigate commodity price risk by seeking to turn 
its inventories quickly instead of holding inventories 
in anticipation of higher commodity prices. Where 
appropriate, the Group enters into forward commodity 
contracts matched to purchases or sales of metal and 
precious metal commitments. 

The Group’s normal policy is to sell its products at 
prevailing market prices. Exceptions to this rule are 
subject to limits and policies approved by the Board 
and to systems of internal controls and compliance 
monitoring. The Group’s exposure to commodity 
prices is to an extent diversified by virtue of its 
broad commodity base. 

At the end of the reporting period, none of the Group’s 
forward commodity contracts qualified for hedge 
accounting, despite being valid economic hedges of the 
relevant risk. Accordingly, any movement in commodity 
rates that impact the fair value of these forward 
commodity contracts are recorded in profit or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s commodity 
contracts consisted primarily of copper and nickel 
contracts. The table below shows the carrying amount of 
the Group’s copper and nickel commodity contracts at the 
end of the reporting period. 

Net financial assets/
(liabilities)

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Copper 0.7 (4.6)

Nickel 4.4 (4.8)
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The following table shows the effect on post-tax profit from a 10% appreciation in commodity prices at the end of 
the reporting period based on the outstanding commodity contracts, with all other variables held constant. A 10% 
sensitivity has been selected as this is considered reasonable, given the current level of commodity prices and the 
volatility observed both on a historical basis and on market expectations for future movements.

Copper prices Nickel prices

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Impact on post-tax profit – higher/(lower) (2.7) (4.5) (2.4) (0.4)

A 10% depreciation of the stated commodity prices would have an equal and opposite effect. 

Equity securities price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk through investments in marketable securities. These marketable 
securities are listed securities which are publicly traded in major financial markets. The price risk for these 
investments is immaterial in terms of possible impact on profit or loss.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause 
a financial loss to the Group. The Group has exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in the Group’s 
statement of financial position. 

The Group establishes credit limits for its customers. Trade and other receivables consist of a large number of 
customers, spread across the consumer, business and international sectors. The Group does not have any significant 
credit risk exposure to a single customer or groups of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the 
financial condition of the Group’s customers and, where appropriate, an impairment provision is raised. Generally, the 
Group does not insure itself against collection risks.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk arising from the Group’s transactions in derivative contracts. For credit 
purposes, there is only a credit risk where the counterparty is liable to pay the Group in the event of a closeout. The 
Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial institution. Derivative counterparties and 
cash transactions are limited to financial institutions that have a minimum credit rating of A by either Standard & 
Poor’s or Moody’s. Management also monitors the current credit exposure with each counterparty. Any changes to 
counterparties or their credit limits must be approved by the Group Chief Financial Officer. 

(c) Liquidity risks
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when they come due and the ability to 
close out market positions. 

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of the Group’s operational liquidity requirements:

the Group will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the due date;––

the Group will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth;––

the Group may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all; ––

the Group may be required to refinance the Group’s borrowing facilities; or––

the Group may have insufficient access to capital to fund growth projects or in extreme instances, its ––
operations.

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. Due to the dynamic and volatile nature of the underlying businesses, the Group aims at 
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available with a variety of counterparties. 

The Group has access to unsecured global multi-currency/multi-option loan facilities. Unsecured global multi-
currency/multi-option loan facilities are provided by a number of the Group’s bankers. The loan facilities are subject 
to annual review, in which pricing considerations are undertaken, and have maturities in excess of one-year and less 
than three-years. 
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Note 2 – Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risks (CONTINUED)
The Group had access to the following credit standby arrangements at the balance date.

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Unsecured global multi-currency/multi-option loan facilities 1,422.9 1,063.0

Amount of credit unused 1,276.0 856.5

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

2010 2009

Less than
 1 year

 A$m

Between 
1 and 

2 years
 A$m

Between 
2 and 

5 years
 A$m

Less than 
1 year

 A$m

Between
 1 and 

2 years
 A$m

Between 
2 and 

5 years
 A$m

Non-derivatives:

Trade and other payables (614.2) – – (521.8) – 	 –

Payables – non-current – (0.9) (2.4) – (2.0) (2.3)

Borrowings (including interest payments) (15.4) (111.3) (16.5) (9.6) (177.9) 	 –

 (629.6) (112.2) (18.9) (531.4) (179.9) (2.3)

Derivatives:

Net settled (commodity contracts) (4.4) – – 9.7 – 	 –

Gross settled:

–	 (inflow) (274.4) – – (174.7) – 	 –

–	outflow 278.7 – – 174.8 – 	 –

 (0.1) – – 9.8 – 	 –

For purposes of the above table, interest payments have been projected using interest rates applicable at the 
balance date on borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period. The Group’s borrowings fluctuate and 
are subject to variable interest rates. 

(d) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes.

As of 1 July 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to AASB 7 (IFRS 7) Financial Instruments: Disclosures which 
requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.––

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, ––
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). ––

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the 
statement of financial position in accordance with the fair value measurement hierarchy. Comparative information 
has not been provided as permitted by the transitional provisions of the new rules.

Level 1
A$m

Level 2
A$m

Level 3
A$m

Total
A$m

Assets

Other current financial assets 8.3 0.4 – 8.7

Other non-current financial assets 21.4 – – 21.4

Total Assets 29.7 0.4 – 30.1

Liabilities

Other current financial liabilities 0.3 4.7 – 5.0

Total Liabilities 0.3 4.7 – 5.0

Other financial assets include derivative financial instruments and marketable securities. Other financial liabilities 
represent derivative financial instruments. The fair value of commodity derivative financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on the closing price at the reporting date. These derivatives are deemed to be level 1. The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using the forward exchange market rates at the 
end of the reporting period. These derivative financial instruments are included in level 2. Marketable securities are 
comprised primarily of listed securities and mutual funds which are included in level 1.
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Note 3 – Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in 
the consolidated financial statements. Management 
continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, 
revenue and expenses. Management bases its 
judgements and estimates on historical experience and 
on other various factors it believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the result of which forms the 
basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. 

Management has identified the following critical 
accounting policies for which significant judgements, 
estimates and assumptions are made. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions and may materially affect 
financial results or the financial position reported in 
future periods. Further details of the nature of these 
assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

(a) Inventories
The Group’s inventories primarily consist of ferrous and 
non‑ferrous scrap metals. Quantities of inventories 
are determined based on various inventory systems 
used by the Group and are subject to periodic physical 
verification using estimation techniques, including 
observation, weighing and other industry methods. 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value, with due allowance for excess, 
obsolete or slow moving items. Net realisable value 
is based on current assessments of future demand 
and market conditions. Impairment losses may be 
recognised on inventory within the next financial year if 
management needs to revise its estimates in response 
to changing market conditions. 

(b) Taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia and 
jurisdictions where it has foreign operations. Significant 
judgement is required in determining the worldwide 
provision for income taxes. Judgement is also required 
in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised in the statement 
of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including 
those arising from unused tax losses, capital losses 
and temporary differences, are recognised only where 
it is considered more likely than not that they will be 
recovered, which is dependent on the generation of 
sufficient future taxable profit.

Assumptions about the generation of future taxable 
profit depend on management’s estimates of future 
cash flows. These depend on estimates of future 
sales volumes, operating costs, capital expenditure, 
dividends and other capital management transactions. 
Judgements are also required about the application of 
income tax legislation. These judgements are subject 
to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that 
changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which 

may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities recognised on the statement of 
financial position and the amount of other tax losses 
and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such 
circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of 
recognised deferred income tax assets and liabilities may 
require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit 
or charge to the profit or loss.

(c) Impairment of goodwill and intangibles 
with indefinite useful lives
Annually, the Group tests whether goodwill and 
intangibles with indefinite useful lives have suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated in Note 1(s). For goodwill impairment testing, the 
recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined 
based on either value-in-use or fair value less costs 
to sell calculations. These calculations require the use 
of assumptions. Refer to Note 13 for details of these 
assumptions and the potential impact of changes to 
the assumptions.

(d) Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity settled 
transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date of grant. 
The fair value is determined independently using a 
binomial model or a Monte-Carlo simulation model, using 
the assumptions detailed in Note 24. The accounting 
estimates and assumptions relating to equity-
settled share-based payments (i.e. in relation to the 
assessments of the probability of achieving non-market 
based vesting conditions) would have no impact on the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
annual reporting period but may impact expenses and 
equity.

(e) Defined benefit plans
Various actuarial assumptions are required when 
determining the Group’s pension schemes. These 
assumptions and the related carrying amounts are 
disclosed in Note 18. 

(f) Estimation of useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has 
been based on historical experience. In addition, the 
condition of the assets is assessed at least annually and 
considered against the remaining useful life. Adjustments 
to useful lives are made when considered necessary.
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Note 4 – Segment Information

(a) Description of segments
The Group is principally organised geographically and 
then by line of business. While the CEO evaluates results 
in a number of different ways, the geographical areas of 
operation is the primary basis for which the allocations 
of resources and financial results are assessed. The 
major geographic areas of operations are as follows:

North America – comprising the United States of ––
America and Canada.

Australasia – comprising Australia, New Zealand, ––
Papua New Guinea, India, Singapore, Hong Kong 
and South Africa.

Europe – comprising the United Kingdom, Sweden, ––
the Netherlands and Germany.

The Group also reports revenues by the following 
product groups:

Ferrous secondary recycling – comprising the ––
collection, processing and trading of iron and steel 
secondary raw material.

Non-ferrous secondary recycling – comprising the ––
collection, processing and trading of other metal 
alloys and residues, principally aluminium, lead, 
copper, zinc and nickel bearing materials.

Secondary processing – comprising value-added ––
processes involving the melting, refining and ingoting 
of certain non‑ferrous metals and the reclamation 
and reprocessing of plastics.

Recycling solutions – comprising the provision ––
of environmentally responsible solutions for the 
disposal of post‑consumer electronic products, 
including IT assets recycled for commercial 
customers. The Group offers fee‑for‑service 
business opportunities in the environmentally 
responsible recycling of negative value materials 
including refrigerators, electrical and electronic 
equipment.

There have been no changes to the basis of segmentation 
or the measurement basis for the segment profit before 
income tax since 30 June 2009.
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(b) Information about reportable segments
North

America
A$m

Australasia
A$m

Europe
A$m A$m

2010

Total sales revenue 5,040.0 1,221.3 1,191.3 7,452.6

Other revenue/income 1.8 3.8 0.3 5.9

Total segment revenue 5,041.8 1,225.1 1,191.6 7,458.5

Segment EBIT 80.3 61.2 66.6 208.1

Interest income 2.8

Finance costs (16.4)

Profit before income tax 194.5

Segment total assets 3,032.3 562.8 644.6 4,239.7

Segment total liabilities 532.0 222.9 206.0 960.9

Net assets 2,500.3 339.9 438.6 3,278.8

Other items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 97.4 21.2 25.3 143.9

Share of pre-tax profit of investments accounted for using the 
equity method 10.1 4.4 – 14.5

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities 348.9 20.6 – 369.5

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 67.6 21.7 31.6 120.9

Impairment charge/(reversal):

	 Property, plant and equipment 15.8 (1.3) – 14.5

	 Intangible assets 0.9 – – 0.9

16.7 (1.3) – 15.4

North
America

A$m
Australasia

A$m
Europe

A$m A$m

2009

Total sales revenue 6,368.5 1,158.6 1,109.1 8,636.2

Other revenue/income 2.8 1.5 0.5 4.8

Total segment revenue 6,371.3 1,160.1 1,109.6 8,641.0

Segment EBIT (88.6) 18.7 (33.1) (103.0)

Interest income 2.3

Finance costs (21.5)

Loss before income tax (122.2)

Segment total assets 2,770.0 485.5 553.1 3,808.6

Segment total liabilities 465.9 175.5 308.2 949.6

Net assets 2,304.1 310.0 244.9 2,859.0

Other items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 122.7 21.4  26.7 170.8

Share of pre-tax profit of investments accounted for using the 
equity method 55.2 5.6 – 60.8

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities 381.1 19.1 – 400.2

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 106.4 39.8 41.3 187.5

Impairment charge:

	 Property, plant and equipment 7.6 2.4 – 10.0

	 Goodwill 190.2 0.9 – 191.1

197.8 3.3 – 201.1
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Note 4 – Segment Information (CONTINUED)

(b) Information about reportable segments (continued)
North

America
A$m

Australasia
A$m

Europe
A$m A$m

2008

Total sales revenue 4,607.9 1,745.1 1,312.5 7,665.5

Other revenue/income 2.3 1.2 1.5 5.0

Total segment revenue 	 4,610.2 	 1,746.3 	 1,314.0  7,670.5

Segment EBIT 	 415.7 	 182.4 94.0 692.1

Interest income 2.9

Finance costs  (34.4)

Profit before income tax 660.6

Segment total assets 3,372.1 597.2 677.2 4,646.5

Segment total liabilities  767.4 526.9 518.3 1,812.6

Net assets 2,604.7 70.3 158.9  2,833.9

Other items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 55.7 16.6  22.8 95.1

Share of pre-tax profit of investments accounted for using the 
equity method 60.3 4.3 – 64.6

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities 318.1 14.1 – 332.2

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 59.9 32.7 37.1 129.7

Impairment charge:

	 Property, plant and equipment – – 0.1 0.1

	 Goodwill – 3.3 – 3.3

– 3.3 0.1 3.4

(c) Sales to external customers
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Australia 505.3 475.8 773.0

China 1,189.1 1,320.6 600.1

Malaysia 362.4 449.1 664.0

USA 1,966.4 2,045.9 1,175.4

Turkey 843.3 1,352.9 1,072.7

South Korea 660.5 643.5 412.1

Other 1,925.6 2,348.4 2,968.2

7,452.6 8,636.2 7,665.5

(d) Intersegment sales
Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between segments. Such transfers are priced on an 
“arm’s-length” basis and are eliminated on consolidation. 

(e) Revenue by product
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Ferrous metal recycling 5,071.2 6,642.7 5,421.1

Non-ferrous metal recycling  1,525.5 1,193.4 1,324.1

Secondary processing 198.5 221.6 361.1

Recycling solutions 657.4 578.5 559.2

7,452.6 8,636.2 7,665.5
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(f) Material non-current assets
Material non-current assets (excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets) are held in the following countries:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Australia 193.3 189.1

USA 2,153.5 2,238.4

United Kingdom 160.8 170.6

Benelux 50.8 65.2

Germany 42.1 44.7

Canada 32.5 23.2

New Zealand 7.1 7.8

Other 10.0 12.1

2,650.1 2,751.1

Note 5 – Revenue
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Sales of goods 7,391.9 8,417.4 7,517.2

Service revenue 60.7 218.8 148.3

Total sales revenue 7,452.6 8,636.2 7,665.5

Interest income 2.8 2.3 2.9

Rental income 3.1 2.5 2.1

Total other revenue 5.9 4.8 5.0

 7,458.5 8,641.0  7,670.5

Note 6 – Other income
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Remeasurement at fair value of existing interest in Port Albany Ventures LLC 
(“Port Albany”) (Note 29c) 8.7 – –

Net gain on held for trading derivatives 7.0 29.8 3.9

Net gain on revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 0.4 – –

Government grants 0.7 0.8 0.9

Net foreign exchange gain – – 0.3

Insurance recovery 1.0 1.8 11.8

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3.0 0.9 –

Negative goodwill on acquisition – 0.4 –

Net gain on contribution of assets to SA Recycling LLC (Note 29d) – – 38.8

Other 4.4 – –

 25.2  33.7  55.7
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Note 7 – Expenses
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

(a) Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following  
specific expenses:

Depreciation and amortisation:

	 Depreciation expense 109.1 120.7 65.8

	 Amortisation expense 34.8 50.1 29.3

 143.9  170.8  95.1

Finance costs 16.4 21.5 34.4

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – – 1.9

Net loss on held for trading derivatives 15.4 10.3 –

Rental expenses relating to operating leases 60.1 71.7 43.9

Net foreign exchange loss 15.6 – –

Defined contribution superannuation expense 4.1 8.0 6.3

Share-based payments expense 17.0 9.3 13.4

(b) Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following  
expenses which are included due to their size or nature:

Write-down of inventory to net realisable value 18.5 119.4 –

Sarbanes-Oxley related professional fees1 – 9.7 –

Withdrawal liability related to a multi-employer pension plan2 – 3.4 –

Impairment provisions for trade receivables3 1.2 23.7 0.6

Professional fees and other costs incurred in connection  
with Fairless Iron & Metal acquisition4 (0.8) 2.5 –

Loss on sale of subsidiaries – 2.6 –

Impairment loss on fire destroyed assets – – 0.1

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and yard closure costs5 14.5 13.7 4.6

Intangible asset impairments6 0.9 – –

Impairment of jointly controlled entity (Note 29)7 5.7 – –

Merger costs8 – 4.0 1.4

Redundancies 5.7 5.5 5.6

1	� In 2009, the Group was required to implement and comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (United States). Professional 
fees incurred in the first year of Sarbanes-Oxley implementation are much higher and thus listed above. No amount is provided for 2010 as the 
primary professional fees are inseparable and included in the overall statutory audit fee disclosed in Note 26.

2	 Represents a termination liability associated with the withdrawal from a multi-employer pension plan in the United States. 
3	 Represents provisions recorded for trade debtors for which the Group believes collectability is in doubt. Refer to Note 1(m).
4	� In 2009, the Group incurred transaction costs associated with the acquisition of Fairless Iron & Metal which was completed in 2010 (3 July 2009). 

In 2009, the Group applied the transitional principles consistent with the revised AASB 3 (IFRS 3) whereby transaction costs are expensed for 
all acquisitions prospectively from 1 July 2009. The amount in 2010 represents the reversal of accrued costs which were settled for a lower 
amount.

5	� In 2010, impairments on property, plant and equipment were recognised for the write-down of processing equipment located in idled yards 
(A$15.8 million) offset by the reversal of previously recognised processing equipment impairments (A$1.3 million). In 2009, the impact of the 
global financial crisis on the Group resulted in impairment charges for asset rationalisation, asset retirement and idling of certain yards. In 2008, 
impairments on property, plant and equipment were recognised for assets held by non-core businesses which were being considered for disposal. 

6	 Represents the write-off of permits which the Group determined had no value.
7	� Represents an impairment of the Group’s investment in Metal Management Nashville LLC. The jointly controlled entity operates in a very 

competitive market which has impacted its financial performance resulting in the impairment charge. 
8	� Merger costs include integration bonuses, retention incentives and other costs associated with the post-merger rationalisation of the 

Sims Metal Management Limited and Metal Management businesses.
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Note 8 – Income tax and deferred tax
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

(a) Income tax expense

Current income tax charge 69.7 27.5 217.1

Adjustments for prior years 5.6 (10.3) 5.4

Deferred income tax (9.9) 8.3 (6.2)

65.4 25.5 216.3

Income tax expense on equity accounted profit (Note 29) 2.4 2.6 4.2

Income tax expense  67.8 28.1  220.5

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (4.9) 15.5 10.0

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities (5.0) (7.2) (16.2)

 (9.9)  8.3 (6.2)

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Profit/(loss) before income tax 194.5  (122.2)  660.6

Tax at the standard Australian rate of 30% 58.4 (36.7) 198.2

Adjustments for prior years 5.6 (10.3) 5.4

Effect of tax rates in other jurisdictions 2.4 12.0 34.4

Non-deductible expenses 6.1 3.5 3.6

Non-assessable gain on formation of jointly controlled entity – – (13.0)

Non-assessable gain on acquisition of a remaining interest in a jointly	
controlled entity (2.6) – –

Non-assessable income (2.5) (1.1) (6.5)

Non-deductible goodwill impairment - 57.2 –

Prior year tax loss not previously recognised (1.7) – (0.1)

Other 2.1 3.5 (1.5)

Income tax expense 67.8  28.1 220.5

(c) Amounts recognised directly to equity

Share placement costs (1.3) – –

Share-based payments 1.6 7.7 (6.9)

Exchange gain/(loss) on foreign denominated intercompany loans (4.6) 20.4 (14.4)

Total deferred tax debited/(credited) to equity  (4.3)  28.1  (21.3)

(d) Tax benefit relating to other comprehensive income

Cash flow hedges (0.4) (0.4) (4.6)

Other financial assets (0.6) – –

Defined benefit plans (1.1) (2.7) (3.4)

 (2.1)  (3.1)  (8.0)
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Note 8 – Income tax and deferred tax (continued)

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

(e) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets
The balance comprises temporary difference attributable to:
(amounts recognised in profit or loss)
	 Provisions and other accruals 19.2 22.2
	 Employee benefits 11.0 9.3
	 Stores and consumables 7.0 5.2
	 Property, plant and equipment 5.6 4.4
	 Jointly controlled entities and associates – 1.1
	 Foreign exchange loss – 2.0
	 Share-based payments 3.4 4.7
	 Other 10.0 11.1

56.2 60.0
(amounts recognised directly in equity)
	 Share-based payments 1.0 2.6
	 Defined benefit plans 5.8 4.7
	 Share placement costs 1.3 –
	 Exchange loss on foreign denominated intercompany loans 8.9 4.3
	 Cash flow hedges 0.3 –
	 Other financial assets 0.6 –

17.9 11.6
Movements
Balance at 1 July 71.6 110.0
Charged to income statement 4.9 (15.5)
Adjustments for prior years (3.3) 8.6
Transfers to deferred tax liabilities (2.8) (17.2)
Acquisitions 0.5 –
Charged directly to equity and other comprehensive income 5.4 (26.1)
Foreign exchange differences (2.2) 11.8
Balance at 30 June  74.1 71.6
Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered within 12 months 44.0 41.4
Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered after 12 months 30.1 30.2

 74.1  71.6
Deferred tax liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
(amounts recognised in profit or loss)
	 Intangibles 52.9 65.7
	 Property, plant and equipment  66.9 76.2
	 Stores and consumables 3.1 –
	 Jointly controlled entities and associates 3.4 –
	 Other 7.4 6.8

133.7 148.7
(amounts recognised directly in equity)
	 Cash flow hedges – 0.1

– 0.1
Movements
Balance at 1 July 148.8 148.2
Charged to income statement (5.0) (7.2)
Adjustments for prior years 1.6 (3.2)
Transfers from deferred tax assets (2.8) (17.2)
Charged directly to equity and other comprehensive income (1.0) (1.1)
Acquisitions/disposals – 0.9
Foreign exchange differences (7.9) 28.4
Balance at 30 June  133.7  148.8
Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled within 12 months 17.8 6.0
Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled after 12 months 115.9 142.8

 133.7  148.8
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(f) Tax losses
Deferred tax assets are recognised for carried forward tax losses to the extent that realisation of the related tax 
benefit through future taxable profit is probable. As at 30 June 2010, the Group has unused tax losses (primarily 
for states in the United States) of A$87.7 million (2009: A$55.2 million) available for offset against future profit. 
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of A$3.5 million (2009: A$2.2 million) of such losses. 

The benefit of tax losses will only be obtained if (i) the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and an 
amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised; (ii) the Group continues to 
comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and (iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely 
affect the Group in realising the benefit from the deduction for the losses.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining unused tax losses of A$30.9 million 
(2009: A$39.9 million) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams in the relevant jurisdictions. 

(g) Unrecognised temporary differences
As at 30 June 2010, there were no unrecognised temporary differences associated with the Group’s investments 
in subsidiaries, associates, or jointly controlled entities, as the Group has no liability for additional taxation should 
unremitted earnings be remitted. 

(h) Tax consolidation
Sims Metal Management Limited and its wholly-owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated 
group with effect from 1 November 2005. Sims Metal Management Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated 
group. Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing and funding agreement that provides 
for the allocation of income tax liabilities between entities should the head entity default on its tax payment 
obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the consolidated financial statements in respect of this agreement 
on the basis that the probability of default is remote. 

(i) Tax effect accounting by members of the Australian tax consolidated group
Sims Metal Management Limited as the head entity and the controlled entities in the Australian tax consolidated 
group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as 
if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand-alone taxpayer in its own right. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises current tax liabilities 
(or assets) assumed from controlled entities in the Australian tax consolidated group.

The amounts receivable or payable under the tax sharing agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the 
head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require 
payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.
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Note 9 – Trade and other receivables
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Current:

Trade receivables 485.4 286.1

Provision for impairment of receivables (3.6) (9.0)

481.8 277.1

Other receivables and deferred expenses 76.6 60.7

Prepayments 17.8 12.5

94.4 73.2

 576.2  350.3

Non-current:

Trade receivables 3.8 7.8

Other 4.1 9.8

 7.9  17.6

Occasionally, the Group will sell a portion of its trade receivables to third parties. All credit risk passes to the third 
party at the time of the assignment, such that the Group has no further exposure to default by the specific trade 
debtors. The amount of trade receivables sold to third parties was not significant in the periods presented. The third 
party is not obliged to accept offers of receivables and the Group is not obligated to make offers or pay commitment 
fees to the third party. The Group does not generally insure trade receivables.

(a) Movements in provision for impairment of receivables 
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Balance at 1 July 9.0 0.9 1.8

Acquisitions – – 0.1

Provision for impairment recognised during the year 1.2 23.7 0.6

Receivables written-off during the year as uncollectible (5.9) (15.0) (1.6)

Foreign exchange differences (0.7) (0.6) –

Balance at 30 June 3.6 9.0 0.9 

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in other expenses in profit or 
loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written-off when there is no expectation of recovering 
additional cash.

(b) Past due but not impaired
As at 30 June 2010, receivables of A$96.3 million (2009: A$83.5 million) were past due but not impaired and the Group 
does not hold any material collateral in relation to these receivables. These relate to a number of independent 
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analyses of these receivables are as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Days overdue:

1–30 days 68.0 51.4

31–60 days 16.1 13.7

Over 60 days 12.2 18.4

 96.3  83.5

(c) Other receivables and deferred expenses
Other receivable amounts generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. 
Interest may be charged at commercial rates where the terms of repayment exceed six months. Collateral is not 
normally obtained.

(d) Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
Information about the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk in relation to trade and other 
receivables is provided in Note 2.

(e) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of 
receivables mentioned above. The fair value of securities held for certain trade receivables is insignificant as is the 
fair value of any collateral sold or repledged. Refer to Note 2 for more information on the risk management policy 
of the Group and the credit quality of the entity’s trade receivables.

Note 10 – Inventory 
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Raw materials 171.7 101.9

Stores and spare parts 37.3 36.5

Finished goods 567.9 330.8

 776.9  469.2

Inventory expense
Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2010 amounted to A$5,466.5 million (2009: 
A$6,414.0 million). Write‑downs of inventories to net realisable value are disclosed in Note 7. 

Note 11 – Other financial assets and liabilities
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Current assets:

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 3.6 –

Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 0.4 0.7

Forward commodity contracts – held for trading 4.7 –

8.7 0.7

Non-current assets:

Available-for-sale investments 21.4 –

Current liabilities:

Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 4.0 0.2

Forward commodity contracts – held for trading 0.3 9.7

Forward foreign exchange contracts – held for trading 0.7 0.6

 5.0  10.5

Derivatives used by the Group
The Group is a party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge its 
exposure to currency fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and commodity prices in accordance with the Group’s 
financial risk management policies which are set out in Note 2.

(i) Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges 
In order to protect against exchange rate movements in relation to material purchases and sales and underlying 
transactions between subsidiaries, the Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to purchase 
foreign currencies for settlement of the related transaction. The Group’s primary exposure is to US dollars, Euros 
and British pounds as disclosed in Note 2. 

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is deferred 
and recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective. When the cash flows occur, 
the amount is released to profit or loss. Any ineffective portion is charged to profit or loss. 

(ii) Forward foreign exchange contracts – held for trading
The Group has further entered into forward exchange contracts which are economic hedges but do not satisfy the 
requirements for hedge accounting. These contracts are subject to the same risk management policies as all other 
derivatives contracts, however they are accounted for as held for trading.

(iii) Forward commodity contracts – held for trading
The Group has entered into forward commodity contracts which are economic hedges but do not satisfy the 
requirements for hedge accounting. These contracts protect against movements in the underlying commodity of the 
related material purchase or sale. The Group’s primary exposure is to Copper and Nickel prices as disclosed in Note 2. 

Risk exposures
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange, price and interest rate risk is provided in 
Note 2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class 
of derivative financial instrument mentioned above. 
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Note 12 – Property, plant and equipment

Land
A$m

Buildings
A$m

Leasehold
 improve-

ments
A$m

Plant & 
equipment

A$m

Capital 
work in 

progress
A$m

Total
A$m

At 30 June 2010

Cost 254.1 186.4 53.8 863.6 90.0 1,447.9

Accumulated depreciation – (42.7) (21.3) (458.1) – (522.1)

Net book amount 254.1 143.7 32.5 405.5 90.0 925.8

Year ended 30 June 2010

Balance at 1 July 254.5 153.2 35.9 404.6 99.5 947.7

Additions 1.0 2.4 4.4 81.3 31.8 120.9

Disposals (0.6) (1.0) (0.1) (3.4) – (5.1)

Transfers 1.6 6.2 0.8 28.5 (37.1) –

Impairment loss (Note 7) (1.8) (0.2) – (12.5) – (14.5)

Depreciation expense – (11.3) (4.8) (93.0) – (109.1)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 27) 12.5 3.0 – 26.4 – 41.9

Foreign exchange differences (13.1) (8.6) (3.7) (26.4) (4.2) (56.0)

Balance at 30 June 254.1 143.7 32.5 405.5 90.0 925.8

At 30 June 2009

Cost 254.5 187.0 53.8 817.7 99.5 1,412.5

Accumulated depreciation 	 – (33.8) (17.9) (413.1) – (464.8)

Net book amount 254.5 153.2 35.9 404.6 99.5 947.7 

Year ended 30 June 2009

Balance at 1 July 212.3 123.9 24.5 368.8 55.2 784.7

Additions 6.9 20.3 13.6 63.5 83.2 187.5

Disposals (0.2) (3.2) – (1.2) – (4.6)

Transfers 1.0 5.7 1.1 33.5 (42.7) (1.4)

Impairment loss – – - (10.0) – (10.0)

Depreciation expense – (11.4) (4.6) (104.7) – (120.7)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 3.7 4.4 – 19.0 – 27.1

Disposal of subsidiaries (1.0) (0.6) – (5.5) – (7.1)

Foreign exchange differences 31.8 14.1 1.3 41.2 3.8 92.2

Balance at 30 June 254.5 153.2  35.9  404.6  99.5 947.7



sims metal management annual report 2010 89

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note 13 – Goodwill 

(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Cost 1,308.7 1,312.6

Accumulated impairment (157.0) (165.8)

Net book amount  1,151.7  1,146.8

Balance at 1 July 1,146.8 1,166.5

Impairment charge – (191.1)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 27) 64.3 44.0

Contingent consideration on prior year acquisitions 4.8 –

Other – (2.3)

Foreign exchange differences (64.2) 129.7

Balance at 30 June  1,151.7  1,146.8

(b) Allocation of Goodwill 
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Australasia 21.8 20.9

North America 1,017.0 1,005.6

Europe 112.9 120.3

 1,151.7  1,146.8

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit 
from the acquisition. For the North America segment, goodwill has been allocated to CGU’s as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

East 554.7 593.4

Houston 118.5 148.3

Rest of North America 343.8 263.9

 1,017.0  1,005.6

The goodwill that is allocated to the CGUs within Rest of North America, Australasia and Europe are not significant 
and do not account individually for more than 10% of total Group goodwill. The change in the goodwill balances above 
are due to acquisitions, re-allocations of goodwill to other CGUs and foreign exchange retranslations.

(c) Goodwill impairment testing
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of the financial year and whenever there are events 
or changes in circumstances (“triggering events”) which suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
The recoverable amount of a CGU or groups of CGUs is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-
use. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

(d) Valuation methodology and key assumptions
The recoverable amount of each of the Group’s CGUs was determined based on value-in-use calculations. The Group 
believes its methodology is the most meaningful method, in order to reflect the cyclicality of its business.

The value-in-use calculations use a 5-year cash flow projection which is based initially on the 2011 financial year 
budget (as approved by the Board) and a 4-year forecast prepared by management. The four-year forecast is 
developed using historical averages derived from four years of historical results and the 2011 financial year budget. 
These 5-year projections also incorporate management estimates related to the inherent impact of future volatility 
in volumes, commodity prices and margins drawn from past experience and factor in current and expected future 
economic conditions. A terminal value is determined from the final year of cash flow based on application of the 
Gordon Growth model. The cash flows are discounted using rates that reflect management’s estimate of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to each CGU that are not already reflected in the cash flows. In determining 
appropriate discount rates for each CGU, consideration has been given to a weighted average cost of capital of 
the entity as a whole and adjusted for country and business risk specific to the CGU. The cash flow projections are 
based on management’s best estimates, with reference to historical results, to determine income, expenses, capital 
expenditures and cash flows for each CGU. 
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Note 13 – Goodwill (continued)

(d) Valuation methodology and key assumptions (CONTINUED)
The key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculations were as follows:

Discount rate (pre-tax) Growth rate

2010 2009 2010 2009

Australasia 13.5–20.9 12.5–17.0 2.5 2.5

East 14.8 15.1 3.0 3.0

Houston 14.1 15.2 3.0 3.0

Rest of North America 12.5–15.7 13.8–16.2  3.0  3.0

Europe	 11.3–13.2 12.5–14.5  1.5–2.5 1.5–2.5

(e) Impairment charges recognised 
Year ended 30 June 2009

Australasia
In the year ended 30 June 2009, this segment recognised a non-cash impairment charge of A$0.9 million related to a 
secondary processing CGU. The CGU is a non-core business and the impairment was due to the closure of a business. 
After the impairment charge, this CGU had no remaining goodwill.

North America
In the year ended 30 June 2009, the North America segment recognised a non-cash impairment charge of A$190.2 million 
related to four CGUs which are included in “Rest of North America”. The impairment charge was due to the global economic 
crisis which impacted the CGUs directly by markedly lower commodity prices and diminished flows of scrap metals. 

(f) Impact of possible changes in key assumptions
With regard to the assessment of the value-in-use of each CGU, a sensitivity analysis was conducted on the effect 
of changes in forecasted cash flows and discount rates. If forecasted cash flows were to decrease by 10% for each 
CGU, an impairment charge of A$15.4 million would be required in respect of one CGU in Rest of North America. If 
discount rates were to increase by 1% for each CGU, an impairment charge of A$6.9 million would be required in 
respect of one CGU in Rest of North America.

Note 14 – Intangible assets
Supplier

relationships
A$m

Permits
A$m

Contracts
A$m

Trade names
A$m

Other
A$m

Total
A$m

At 30 June 2010

Cost 252.8 9.7 31.8 36.5 – 330.8

Accumulated impairment – (0.9) – – – (0.9)

Accumulated amortisation (101.6) – (28.5) (4.6) – (134.7)

Net book amount  151.2 8.8  3.3 31.9 –  195.2

Year ended 30 June 2010

Balance at 1 July 187.6 9.8 5.6 35.8 – 238.8

Acquisitions 5.4 0.5 0.1 – – 6.0

Impairment charge – (0.9) – – – (0.9)

Amortisation charge (30.5) – (2.1) (2.2) – (34.8)

Foreign exchange differences (11.3) (0.6) (0.3) (1.7) – (13.9)

Balance at 30 June  151.2  8.8  3.3  31.9 –  195.2

At 30 June 2009

Cost 262.9 9.8 33.4 38.3 – 344.4

Accumulated amortisation (75.3) – (27.8) (2.5) – (105.6)

Net book amount  187.6 9.8  5.6 35.8 –  238.8

Year ended 30 June 2009

Balance at 1 July 189.9 4.3 9.5 31.8 0.1 235.6

Acquisitions 7.0 – 0.7 – – 7.7

Transfers (3.4) 3.5 – – (0.1) –

Amortisation charge (40.0) – (8.0) (2.1) – (50.1)

Foreign exchange differences 34.1 2.0 3.4 6.1 – 45.6

Balance at 30 June  187.6  9.8  5.6  35.8 –  238.8



sims metal management annual report 2010 91

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Intangible assets by segment are as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

North America 188.7 228.3

Australasia 0.4 0.5

Europe 6.1 10.0

 195.2  238.8

Note 15 – Trade and other payables
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Trade payables 430.4 293.4

Other payables 160.2 220.0

Deferred income 23.6 8.4

 614.2  521.8

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is set out in Note 2.

Note 16 – Borrowings
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Current borrowings: 

Other borrowings 0.6 0.8

 0.6  0.8

Non-current borrowings:

Bank loans 116.2 173.4

Other borrowings 0.4 0.9

 116.6  174.3

Bank loans are unsecured but are subject to guarantees/cross guarantees, cross defaults and indemnities (as 
appropriate) from the Company and some of its subsidiaries. 

(a) Risk exposures
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as well as information relating to the facility arrangements is set out in 
Note 2. 

(b) Fair value 
The Group’s borrowings approximate the carrying amount as the Group’s primary exposure is to floating rate bank 
loans. The Group has nominal exposure to fixed rates through other borrowings.

Note 17 – Provisions 
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Current:

Employee benefits 10.8 14.6

Legal provisions 13.3 16.2

Other 7.0 7.2

 31.1  38.0

Non-current:

Employee benefits 10.2 12.1

Environmental compliance 4.9 5.3

Contingent consideration – business combinations 4.8 14.2

Other 2.3 2.4

 22.2  34.0
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Note 17 – Provisions (CONTINUED)
The Group is involved in legal and other disputes and, after taking legal advice, has established provisions taking 
into account the relevant facts of each dispute. The timing of cash outflows associated with legal claims cannot be 
reasonably determined. The environmental compliance provision is an estimate of costs for property remediation 
that will be required in the future. 

The contingent consideration provision is an estimate of final consideration payable in respect of business 
combinations likely to be paid in the future. The amounts are typically based on the future profitability of the 
businesses acquired. Refer to Note 1(d).

Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Current Non-current

Legal
A$m

Other
A$m

Contingent
consideration

A$m

Environmental
compliance

A$m
Other

A$m

Balance at 1 July 16.2 7.2 14.2 5.3 2.4

Reclassifications/transfers –  2.2 (1.2) –  0.5

Provisions recognised/(written-back) in profit or 
loss (1.0) (0.3) – 0.2 0.5

Payments (1.1) (1.7) (11.4) (0.4) (1.2)

Purchase accounting adjustments – – 4.8 – –

Foreign exchange differences (0.8) (0.4) (1.6) (0.2) 0.1

Balance at 30 June 13.3 7.0 4.8 4.9 2.3

Note 18 – Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates various defined benefit plans for certain employees. The plans provide benefits based on years of 
service and/or final average salary.

The following sets out details in respect of the defined benefits sections only. The expense recognised in relation to 
the defined contribution plans is disclosed in Note 7.

(a) Statement of financial position amounts 
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 72.9 73.4

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets (61.9) (62.2)

Net liability in the statement of financial position  11.0  11.2

The Group has no legal obligation to settle this liability with an immediate contribution or additional one-off 
contributions. The Group intends to continue to contribute to the defined benefit plans based on recommendations 
from its actuaries.

(b) Categories of plan assets 
The major categories of plan assets are as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Cash 8.4 15.5

Equity instruments 34.6 36.4

Debt instruments 12.9 7.0

Property 6.0 3.3

Total plan assets  61.9  62.2
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(c) Reconciliations
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation, which is partly funded:

Balance at 1 July 73.4 81.6

Current service cost 1.4 2.1

Interest cost 3.7 5.0

Actuarial loss (gain) 8.4 (8.7)

Benefits paid (5.0) (9.7)

Contributions paid by members 0.4 0.5

Plan changes –  0.2

Settlements  (4.0) –

Foreign exchange differences (5.4) 2.4

Balance at 30 June  72.9  73.4

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets:

Balance at 1 July 62.2 76.7

Expected return on plan assets 3.6 5.5

Actuarial gain (loss) 4.6 (16.9)

Contributions by Group 5.1 3.8

Contributions paid by members 0.4 0.5

Benefits paid (5.0) (9.7)

Settlements (3.9) –

Foreign exchange differences (5.1) 2.3

Balance at 30 June  61.9  62.2

(d) Expense recognised in profit or loss
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Current service cost 1.4 2.1 2.1

Interest cost  3.7  5.0  3.9

Expected return on plan assets (3.6) (5.5) (5.5)

 1.5  1.6  0.5

Actual return on plan assets  8.2  (11.3)  (6.4)

(e) Actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Cumulative amount at 1 July (13.9) (5.7) 5.5

Recognised during the period (3.8) (8.2) (11.2)

Cumulative amount at 30 June  (17.7)  (13.9)  (5.7)
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Note 18 – Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

(f) Principal actuarial assumptions

%

2010 2009 2008

Australia

Discount rate 4.2 4.6 5.5

Expected rate of return on plan assets 7.3 8.0 8.0

Future salary increases 4.0 3.0 5.0

United Kingdom

Discount rate  5.3 6.2 6.2

Expected rate of return on plan assets 5.4 6.1 6.4

Future salary increases 3.6 4.0 5.0

United States

Discount rate 5.5 6.5 6.0

Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.0 8.0 8.0

Future salary increases 3.5 3.5 3.5

The expected rate of return on plan assets has been based on historical and future expectations of returns for each 
of the major categories of asset classes as well as the expected and actual allocation of plan assets to these major 
categories. This resulted in the selection of the weighted average returns of plan assets for each of the defined 
benefit plans as set out above.

(g) Employer contributions
Employer contributions to the defined benefit section of the plans are based on recommendations of actuarial 
advisors of the plans. Actuarial assessments are made at no more than one-year intervals, and the last such 
assessment was made as at 30 June 2010.

The objective of funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlements of members and other beneficiaries are fully 
funded by the time they become payable. To achieve this objective, the actuaries have adopted a method of funding 
benefits known as the aggregate funding method. This funding method seeks to have benefits funded by means of a 
total contribution which is expected to be a constant percentage of members’ salaries over their working lifetimes.

Using the funding method described above and particular actuarial assumptions as to the plan’s future experience, 
the actuaries recommended, in their review as at 30 June 2010, a contribution amount that would be sufficient to 
meet the Group’s obligations to the defined benefit scheme. Total employer contributions expected to be paid by 
Group companies for the year ending 30 June 2011 is A$2.2 million for Australia, A$1.5 million for the United Kingdom, 
and A$1.0 million for the United States.

(h) Historic summary
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

2007
A$m

2006
A$m

Defined benefit plan obligation 72.9 73.4 81.6 70.0 87.0

Plan assets (61.9) (62.2) (76.8) (77.4) (82.2)

Deficit/(surplus) 11.0 11.2 4.8 (7.4)  4.8

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities 8.4 (8.7) (0.5)  (2.8)  (2.6)

Experience adjustments arising on plan assets (4.6) 16.9 11.8 (3.9)  (3.3)
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Note 19 – Contributed equity

(a) Share capital
Ordinary shares, which have no par value, trade on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) and entitle the holder 
to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares 
held. Voting rights attaching to the ordinary shares are, on a show of hands, one vote for every person present as 
a member, proxy, attorney or representative thereof and, on a poll, one vote per share for every member present in 
person or by proxy, attorney or representative. The Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
The Company’s shares also trade on the New York Stock Exchange in the form of American Depository Shares (“ADS”) 
with one ordinary share equaling one ADS. ADSs have the same rights as ordinary shares, including participation in 
dividends and voting rights. Movements in ordinary shares are as follows:

Number 
of shares A$m

Balance at 1 July 2008 180,416,948 2,325.9

Issued under long-term incentive plans 257,282 –

Issued under the employee share scheme recognised as issued following  
repayment of associated employee loans 27,838 0.4

Issued under the DRP 1,384,554 26.6

Shares issued to employees for integration bonus 60,096 –

Balance at 30 June 2009 182,146,718  2,352.9

Issued under long-term incentive plans 224,361 0.5

Issued under the DRP 442,346 9.2

Issued under the Institutional Placement1 19,047,620 391.4

Issued under the Share Purchase Plan2 1,973,398 41.2

Balance at 30 June 2010 for accounting purposes 203,834,443 2,795.2

Issue of ordinary shares under the employee share scheme deemed  
to be options for accounting purposes 46,831 –

Balance at 30 June 2010 per share register 203,881,274  2,795.2

1	 On 20 November 2009, the Company issued 19,047,620 ordinary shares at A$21.00 per share. 
2	 On 17 December 2009, the Company issued 1,973,398 ordinary shares at A$21.00 per share. 

(b) Dividend reinvestment plan
The Company operates a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to 
have all or part of their dividend entitlements satisfied by issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid 
cash. Shares issued in the year ended 30 June 2010 under the plan were at a 2.5% discount to the market price.

(c) Capital risk management
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity. The Group’s objectives when managing capital are 
to maintain an optimal capital structure and manage effectively the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure primarily using the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided 
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated 
as equity as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt. The Group seeks to maintain an optimum 
gearing ratio.

The Group’s gearing ratio is as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Total borrowings 117.2 175.1

Less: cash and cash equivalents (132.3) (69.5)

Net debt (15.1) 105.6

Plus: total equity 3,278.8 2,859.0

Total capital 3,263.7 2,964.6

Gearing ratio – 3.6%

There have been no breaches of external obligations such as regulatory obligations or bank covenants.



96

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note 20 – Reserves and retained earnings 

(a) Reserves
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Share-based payments reserve  53.7  38.4

Available-for-sale investments reserve (0.8) –

Cash flow hedging reserve (0.7) 0.4

Foreign currency translation reserve 5.9 127.2

 58.1  166.0

(b) Movements in reserves

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Share-based payments reserve

Balance at 1 July 38.4  36.1

Share-based payment expense 16.9  9.2

Shares issued to employees for integration bonus – 0.8

Deferred tax on current year movements (1.6) (7.7)

Balance at 30 June  53.7  38.4

Available-for-sale investments reserve

Balance at 1 July – –

Revaluation – gross (1.4) –

Deferred tax 0.6 –

Balance at 30 June  (0.8) –

Cash flow hedging reserve

Balance at 1 July  0.4  (0.6)

Revaluation – gross  (0.9)  0.6

Deferred tax on revaluation  0.2  (0.2)

Transfer to profit or loss – gross  (0.6) –

Deferred tax on transfer 0.2 0.6

Balance at 30 June  (0.7)  0.4

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at 1 July  127.2 (209.9)

Currency translation differences arising during the year (121.3) 337.1

Balance at 30 June  5.9  127.2

(c) Retained earnings
Movements in retained earnings were as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Balance at 1 July 340.1 682.3

Profit/(loss) after tax 126.7 (150.3)

Dividends paid (38.6) (186.5)

Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans, net of tax (2.7) (5.4)

Balance at 30 June 425.5 340.1
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(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of share-based awards issued to employees.

(ii) Available-for-sale investments reserve
Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising on translation of investments, such as equities classified 
as available-for-sale investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income as described in Note 1(p) and 
accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the associated 
assets are sold or impaired.

(iii) Cash flow hedging reserve
The cash flow hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income, as described in Note 1(r). Amounts are recognised in profit or loss when 
the associated hedged transaction affects profit or loss.

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign controlled entities are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, as described in Note 1(e) and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount 
is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of or borrowings forming part of the net 
investment are repaid.

Note 21 – Dividends

(a) Recognised amounts
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Declared and paid during the year

Interim dividend 2010 paid at 10 cents per share franked 100% at a 30% tax rate 20.4 – –

Final dividend 2009 paid at 10 cents per share franked 100% at a 30% tax rate 18.2 – –

Interim dividend 2009 paid at 28 cents per share franked 100% at a 30% tax rate – 50.9 –

Final dividend 2008 paid at 75 cents per share franked 23% at a 30% tax rate –  135.6 –

Interim dividend 2008 paid at 55 cents per share franked 47% at a 30% tax rate – – 99.0

Final dividend 2007 paid at 60 cents per share franked 51% at a 30% tax rate – – 75.7

Total dividends paid 38.6  186.5  174.7

Shares issued under the DRP (9.2) (26.6) (18.1)

Total cash dividends paid  29.4 159.9 156.6

(b) Dividends not recognised at year end
Since the end of the year, the Directors have determined the payment of a final dividend of 23 cents per share 
franked at 74% based on a 30% tax rate. The aggregate amount of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on 
22 October 2010 out of consolidated retained earnings as at 30 June 2010, but not recognised as a liability at the 
end of the reporting period, is A$46.9 million (2009: A$18.2 million; 2008: A$135.4 million).

(c) Franked dividends 
The franked portions of the final dividends recommended after 30 June 2010 will be franked out of existing franking 
credits or out of franking credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ended 30 June 2011.

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Franking credits available for the subsequent financial years based on tax rate of 30% 
(2009: 30%)  16.2  27.5

The above amounts represent the balances of the franking account as at the reporting date, adjusted for:

franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax and franking ––
debits that will arise from refunds;

franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability as at the reporting date; and––

franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables as at the reporting date.––

The impact on the franking account of the dividend determined by the Directors since the end of the reporting 
period, but not recognised as a liability as at the end of the reporting date, will be a reduction in the franking account 
of A$14.9 million (2009: A$7.8 million).
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Note 22 – Contingencies

(a) Guarantees 
Details of guarantees provided by the Group for which no amounts are recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements are presented below.

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Bank guarantees – subsidiaries 45.7 64.3

Borrowing guarantee – SA Recycling LLC – 83.9

Total guarantees 45.7 148.2

The Company, subsidiaries, joint venture operations, jointly controlled entities and associated companies have given a 
number of guarantees in respect of the performance of contracts and workers compensation insurance entered into 
in the ordinary course of business.

As at 30 June 2010, SA Recycling LLC refinanced its debt obligations and the Group has not guaranteed their new 
credit facility.

(b) Environmental claims
The Group is subject to comprehensive environmental requirements relating to, among others, the acceptance, 
storage, treatment, handling and disposal of solid waste and hazardous waste; the discharge of materials and storm 
water into the environment; the management and treatment of wastewater and stormwater; and the remediation 
of soil and groundwater contamination. As a consequence, the Group has incurred and will continue to incur 
environmental costs and liabilities associated with site and facility operation, closure, remediation, monitoring and 
licensing. Provisions have been made in respect of estimated environmental liabilities where obligations are known 
to exist and can be reasonably measured. However, additional liabilities may emerge due to a number of factors, 
including changes in environmental laws and regulations in each of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates or 
has operated. The Group cannot predict the extent to which it may be affected in the future by any such changes in 
legislation or regulation.

(c) Legal claims
Various Group companies are parties to legal actions and claims that arise in the ordinary course of their business. 
While the outcome of such legal proceedings cannot be readily foreseen, the Group believes that they will be resolved 
without material effect on its financial position. Provision has been made for known obligations where the existence 
of the liability is probable and can be reasonably estimated. 

(d) Tax audits
The Group files income tax returns in many jurisdictions throughout the world. Various tax authorities are currently 
reviewing or auditing the Group’s income tax returns. Tax returns contain matters that could be subject to differing 
interpretations of applicable tax laws and regulations. While it is difficult to predict the ultimate outcome in some 
cases, the Group does not anticipate that there will be any material impact on the Group’s financial position from 
such audits or reviews.

(e) Subsidiaries
Under the terms of a Deed of Cross Guarantee (“DCG”) entered into in accordance with ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as 
amended by Class Orders 98/2107, 00/0321, 01/1087, 02/0248 and 02/1017), the Company has undertaken to meet any 
shortfall which might arise on the winding up of controlled entities which are party to the deed, as described in Note 
28. The controlled entities are not in liquidation and there is no indication that they will be wound up.

Note 23 – Commitments

(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditures contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Payable within one-year 26.3 34.2

Payable later than one-year but not later than five-years 0.7 0.5

27.0 34.7

The capital commitments included above also include the Group’s share relating to joint venture operations, jointly 
controlled entities and associates.
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(b) Lease commitments
The Group has entered into various operating leases on property, plant and equipment. The leases have varying terms, 
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. Lease commitments for 
operating leases are as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Not later than one-year 59.0 69.8

Later than one-year, but not later than three-years 95.6 107.5

Later than three-years, but not later than five-years 41.1 53.2

Later than five-years 121.0 127.8

Total lease commitments not recognised as liabilities 316.7 358.3

The lease commitments included above also include the Group’s share relating to joint venture operations, jointly 
controlled entities and associates.

(c) Remuneration commitments
The Group has entered into service agreements with key management personnel as referred to in the remuneration 
report that are not recognised as liabilities and are not included in the key management personnel compensation. 
Remuneration commitments for key management personnel are as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Payable within one-year 2.6 7.8

Payable later than one-year but not later than five-years 2.3 4.7

Total remuneration commitments not recognised as liabilities 4.9 12.5

Note 24 – Share ownership plans 
The Company’s share ownership plans are designed to link the rewards of eligible employees to the long-term 
performance of the Company and the returns generated for shareholders. The maximum number of shares that can 
be outstanding at any time under the share ownership plans is limited to 5% of the Company’s issued capital. Grants 
under the share ownership plans can be in the form of options or share rights. Certain share ownership plans also 
provide for cash-settled rights which are determined by the Board. 

An option is a contract that gives the holder the right, but not the obligation, to acquire the Company’s shares 
at a fixed or determinable price for a specified period of time. Share rights are a contractual right to acquire the 
Company’s shares for nil consideration. Unless specified in the grants, holders of options and share rights are not 
entitled to dividends or voting rights.

(a) Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
In July 2003, the Company introduced a LTIP under which eligible employees may be invited to receive an award of 
options or share rights. Options have an exercise price based on the weighted average market price of the Company’s 
ordinary shares (or ADSs) during the five trading days up to the date of the grant. Options and share rights granted 
under the LTIP may vest either based on continuous service or based on performance conditions. Refer to the 
Remuneration Report for further information on the terms of the grants made in the year ended 30 June 2010 
pursuant to the LTIP. 

LTIP – options 
The fair value of options granted is independently determined using a Binomial method which allows for the effects 
of an early exercise for vested options assuming the share price exceeds one and a half times the exercise price. The 
significant weighted assumptions used to determine the fair value were as follows: 

Ordinary shares ADS

2010 2009 2010 2009

Risk-free interest rate 5.2% 4.7% 2.7% 3.0%

Dividend yield 4.0% 3.9% 4.0% 3.9%

Volatility 49.0% 46.3% 59.0% 55.7%

Expected life (years) 4.2 4.3 4.3 4.3

Share price at grant date A$21.26 A$20.10 US$19.21 US$16.07

Weighted average fair value A$6.78 A$6.27 US$6.56 US$5.48
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Note 24 – Share ownership plans (continued)

(a) Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) (continued)
Volatility for the ordinary shares is based on historical share price. Due to the sparse trading of the ADSs and its 
limited listing (since March 2008), the volatility of the ADSs is based on the historical share price of the ordinary 
shares which have been translated to US dollars using daily exchange rates.

Options outstanding

Number 
of options

2010

Weighted
average

exercise 
price $ 

2010

Number
 of options

2009

Weighted 
average

 exercise 
price $ 

2009

Ordinary Shares:

Balance at 1 July 558,792 A$20.48 – A$0.00

Granted 270,207 A$21.95 558,792 A$20.48

Forfeited (47,420) A$18.50 – A$0.00

Exercised – A$0.00 – A$0.00

Balance at 30 June 781,579 A$21.11 558,792 A$20.48

Exercisable at 30 June 173,149 A$20.68 – A$0.00

ADSs:

Balance at 1 July 1,182,472 US$16.78 – US$0.00

Granted 729,933 US$20.57 1,182,472 US$16.78

Forfeited (109,817) US$20.68 – US$0.00

Exercised – US$0.00 – US$0.00

Balance at 30 June 1,802,588 US$18.08 1,182,472 US$16.78

Exercisable at 30 June 368,898 US$16.51 – US$0.00

Information about outstanding and exercisable options as at 30 June 2010 is as follows:

Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise price range 
Number of

options

Weighted
average

exercise 
price

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

life (years)
Number of

options

Weighted
average

exercise 
price

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

life (years)

Ordinary shares:

A$8 – A$20 231,919 A$15.06 5.55 77,307 A$15.06 5.55

A$20 – A$30 549,660 A$23.66 6.20 95,842 A$25.22 5.97

781,579 A$21.11 6.01 173,149 A$20.68 5.78

ADSs:

US$8 – US$20 466,562 US$10.71 5.62 155,519 US$10.71 5.62

US$20 – US$30 1,336,026 US$20.65 6.21 213,379 US$20.73 5.97

1,802,588 US$18.08 6.06 368,898 US$16.51 5.82

LTIP – share rights
The fair value of performance share rights granted is independently determined using a Black-Scholes method to 
produce a Monte-Carlo simulation model which allows for the incorporation for a Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) 
performance condition that must be met before the share rights vest. The significant weighted assumptions used to 
determine the fair value were as follows: 

Ordinary shares ADS

2010 2009 2010 2009

Dividend yield 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Risk-free interest rate 5.2% 4.1% 2.7% 2.5%

Volatility 49.0% 44.6% 59.0% 54.0%

Share price at grant date A$21.26 A$16.04 US$19.26 US$12.30
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rights outstanding

Number 
of shares

2010

Weighted
average

fair value at
grant date $ 

2010

Number
 of shares

2009

Weighted
average

fair value at
grant date $ 

2009

Ordinary Shares:

Non-vested balance at 1 July 930,775 A$24.07 1,124,468 A$25.36

Granted 125,323 A$15.95 98,785 A$13.03

Forfeited/cancelled (215,070) A$23.98 (35,196) A$24.71

Vested (187,188) A$23.77 (257,282) A$25.37

Non-vested balance at 30 June 653,840 A$22.63 930,775 A$24.07

ADSs:

Balance at 1 July 198,039 US$9.41 – –

Granted 581,832 US$12.68 198,039 US$9.41

Forfeited/cancelled (20,668) US$12.11 – –

Vested (5,173) US$18.80 – –

Non-vested balance at 30 June 754,030 US$11.80 198,039 US$9.41

LTIP – share rights
Share rights with performance conditions vest after a period of one to five years, but only if the performance hurdle 
has been met. Performance hurdles are either based on TSR or on non-market based performance criteria. In the 
year ended 30 June 2010, 115,548 share rights were forfeited as the performance conditions were not satisfied.

Performance-based share right grants made in the years ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2010 are measured using 
a TSR hurdle over a three year period (commencing at the beginning of the financial year) against a comparator 
group of companies. Full vesting of the performance share rights occurs when the Company’s TSR is at (or exceeds) 
the 75th percentile relative to the comparator group, scaling down to 50% vesting on a straight-line basis for 
median performance. Below median performance, no vesting occurs. Initial TSR performance is tested at the third 
anniversary of the commencement of the performance period, with subsequent performance testing possible at the 
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the commencement of the performance period. 

(b) Former Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTI Share Plan”)
The LTI Share Plan was approved by shareholders in November 2004. Offers of shares under the LTI Share Plan were 
made to eligible Australian-based employees in the 2006 and 2007 financial years. The Company provided financial 
assistance in the form of a share secured non-interest-bearing employee loan. The loans are repayable in full within 
five-years after the financial assistance is provided or such longer period and in such a manner as the Company may 
determine.

The beneficial ownership of the shares vests with employees in line with achievement of continuous service and non-
market based performance criteria. The continuous service criterion is met if the “Participant” is an employee of the 
Group at vesting. Periods of continuous service vary from one to three-years, while non-market-based performance 
criteria are satisfied if the growth in EPS of the Group of between 5% and 10% is achieved over periods which vary 
between three and five-years. There is no reward if less than 5% EPS growth is achieved. 

Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends over the term of the relevant vesting period. No further grants are 
being made pursuant to the LTI Share Plan. The following table sets out details of outstanding shares granted under 
the LTI Share Plan:

Number 
of shareS

2010

Weighted
average

purchase
price A$

2010

Number 
of shares

2009

Weighted
average

purchase
price A$

2009

Balance at 1 July 80,851 $17.66 108,689 $17.21

Forfeited (34,020) $18.73 – $0.00

Exercised – $0.00 (27,838) $15.90

Balance at 30 June 46,831 $16.88 80,851 $17.66

Exercisable at 30 June 46,831 $16.88 46,831 $16.88

Shares forfeited during the year ended 30 June 2010 were a result of performance conditions not being satisfied. 
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Note 24 – Share ownership plans (continued)

(c) Transition Incentive Share Plan related to the Metal Management merger
In accordance with the terms and conditions of the merger agreement with Metal Management Inc, the Sims Group 
Limited Transition Incentive Plan (“SGLTIP”) was established. The SGLTIP assumed the rights and obligations of Metal 
Management under its former plan (“MMI Plan”). The Group assumed both options and restricted shares from the 
MMI Plan. No additional grants can be made under the SGLTIP.

(i) Share options
The options assumed were held by the former directors of Metal Management Inc who became directors of the 
Company on the merger date. Each outstanding share option under the MMI Plan was converted into 2.05 options 
of the Company. Each option represents the right to acquire one ADS. In addition, the exercise price of each 
outstanding option under the MMI Plan was converted at the same exchange ratio. All the options assumed were fully 
vested and therefore the fair value was recorded as a component of the purchase price for Metal Management Inc. 
The following table sets out details of outstanding options under the SGLTIP:

Number 
of options

2010

Weighted
average

exercise
price US$ 

2010

Number 
of options

2009

Weighted
average

exercise 
price US$ 

2009

Balance at 1 July 738,000 $15.54 738,000 $15.54

Exercised (32,000) $15.29 – $0.00

Balance at 30 June 706,000 $15.58 738,000 $15.54

Exercisable at 30 June 706,000 $15.58 738,000 $15.54

For options exercised during the year ended 30 June 2010, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise 
was US$22.33 (2009: nil). The weighted average contractual life of options outstanding as at 30 June 2010 was 2.90 
years (2009: 3.80 years).

(ii) Restricted shares
The restricted shares assumed were held by former employees of Metal Management Inc who are now employed 
by the Group. The restricted shares vest evenly over three-years based on continuous service. The holder of the 
restricted share is entitled to dividends and voting rights during the period of restriction. Each unvested restricted 
share at the merger date was converted into 2.05 restricted ADSs of the Company. The fair value of restricted 
shares assumed was based on the value of an ordinary share of the Company on the merger date.

Set out below is a summary of restricted shares under the SGLTIP:

Number 
of shares 

2010

Weighted
average fair

value at 
grant date

US$ 2010

Number 
of shares 

2009

Weighted
average fair

value at 
grant date

US$ 2010

Non-vested balance at 1 July 142,281 $25.27 249,485 $25.27

Forfeited (12,916) $25.27 (29,179) $25.27

Vested (68,399) $25.27 (78,025) $25.27

Non-vested balance at 30 June 60,966 $25.27 142,281 $25.27

(d) Non-executive Director (“NED”) Share Plan
Participation in the NED Share Plan is voluntary and all NEDs are eligible to participate. Under the NED Share Plan, 
NEDs elect to sacrifice all or part of their director fees in return for an allocation of fully paid ordinary shares of 
equivalent value. The NED Share Plan therefore does not involve any additional remuneration for participating NEDs.

Shares are allocated quarterly and are either issued as new shares or purchased on the ASX at the prevailing market 
price. In the year ended 30 June 2010, nil shares (2009: 2,640 shares) were allocated to participating NEDs.

(e) Effect of share-based payments on profit or loss
The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in Note 7. The 
carrying amount of liabilities for cash-settled share-based arrangements as at 30 June 2010 was A$0.4 million (2009: 
A$0.2 million). Where share-based awards are issued to employees of subsidiaries within the Group, the subsidiaries 
compensate the Company for the fair value of these share-based awards.
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Note 25 – Key management personnel disclosures
Key management personnel are those persons defined as having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Group, either directly or indirectly, including any director (executive or non-
executive). Please refer to the Directors’ Report for information regarding each key management person.

(a) Key management personnel compensation
2010

A$
2009

A$

Short-term benefits 11,989,245 19,434,908

Long-term benefits 2,050,041 166,344

Post-employment benefits 784,335 616,273

Termination benefits 1,551,200 3,130,316

Share-based payments 7,249,463 5,167,311

23,624,284 28,515,152

The Group has taken advantage of the relief provided by Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class 
Order 06/50 and has transferred the detailed remuneration disclosures to the Remuneration Report, which is 
presented in the Directors’ Report. 

(b) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

(i) Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options
Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with terms 
and conditions of the options, can be found in the Remuneration Report.

(ii) Share holdings
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other key management 
personnel, including their personally related parties, is set out below. 

2010
Name

Balance at
 1 July 2009

Received on
exercise of
options or

rights
Purchases/

(Sales)

Other
changes

during 
the year

Balance at 
30 June 2010

Non-Executive Directors:

N Bobins (ADS) 54,600 – – – 54,600

G Brunsdon1 – – – 3,870 3,870

M Feeney 26,674 – 1,115 – 27,789

R Lewon (ADS) – 32,000 (32,000) – –

P Mazoudier2 15,201 – – (15,201) –

G Morris (ADS) 20,000 – 5,000 – 25,000

C Renwick 3,144 – – – 3,144

P Varello (ADS) 30,825 – 21,300 – 52,125

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) 1,156,872 – (555,579) – 601,293

J Sutcliffe3 32,577 – – (32,577) –

Senior Executives:

G Davy 3,003 54,683 – – 57,686

R Kelman (ADS) 30,048 14,931 (30,000) – 14,979

R Larry (ADS) 90,972 – (10,000) – 80,972

D McGree 11,924 30,175 – – 42,099

A Ratner (ADS) 101,249 – (13,290) - 87,959

1	� Mr Brunsdon was appointed to the Board on 20 November 2009. Other changes comprise 3,851 shares held by Mr Brunsdon on the date of his 
appointment and 19 shares acquired through the DRP.

2	� Mr Mazoudier retired from the Board on 20 November 2009. Other changes for Mr Mazoudier represent his share holdings on the date of his retirement.
3	� Mr Sutcliffe’s service agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Other changes for Mr Sutcliffe represent his share 

holdings on 26 August 2009.
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Note 25 – Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(b) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel (continued)

(ii) Share holdings (continued)

2009
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2008

Received on
exercise of
options or

rights
Purchases/

(Sales)

Other 
changes

during 
the year

Balance at 
30 June 2009

Non-Executive Directors:

N Bobins (ADS) 54,600 – – – 54,600

M Feeney 25,734 – 940 – 26,674

P Mazoudier 14,639 – 562 – 15,201

G Morris (ADS) 20,000 – – – 20,000

C Renwick 1,444 – 1,700 – 3,144

P Varello (ADS) 6,225 – 24,600 – 30,825

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) 1,156,872 – – – 1,156,872

R Cunningham1 – 32,433 (14,989) (17,444) –

J Sutcliffe 52,255 82,577 (102,255) – 32,577

Senior Executives:

T Bird2 – 6,732 (6,732) – –

G Davy 3,003 12,903 (12,903) – 3,003

R Kelman (ADS)3 – 14,931 (14,931) 30,048 30,048

R Larry (ADS) 90,972 – – – 90,972

D McGree – 11,924 – – 11,924

A Ratner (ADS)3 74,316 – (3,115) 30,048 101,249

1	� Mr Cunningham retired from the Board on 21 November 2008. Other changes for Mr Cunningham represent his share holdings on the date of 
his retirement.

2	 The Company accepted the resignation of Mr Bird on 17 August 2009.
3	 Other changes for Messrs Kelman and Ratner represent shares they each received as part of an integration bonus.

(iii) Option holdings
The number of options over ordinary shares or ADSs in the Company held during the financial year by each Director 
and other key management personnel, including their personally related parties, are set out below.

2010
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2009 Granted Exercised Forfeited

Balance at 
30 June 2010 Vested Unvested

Non-Executive Directors:

R Lewon (ADS) 123,000 – (32,000) – 91,000 91,000 –

G Morris (ADS) 205,000 – – – 205,000 205,000 –

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) 591,654 178,037 – – 769,691 470,551 299,140

J Sutcliffe1 135,435 – – – 135,435 45,145 90,290

Senior Executives:

T Bird2 39,347 – – (39,347) – – –

G Davy 48,950 37,231 – – 86,181 16,317 69,864

R Kelman (ADS) 87,664 44,914 – – 132,578 29,221 103,357

R Larry (ADS) 109,580 56,142 – – 165,722 36,526 129,196

D McGree 47,534 46,908 – – 94,442 15,845 78,597

A Ratner (ADS) 87,664 44,914 – – 132,578 29,221 103,357

1	� Mr Sutcliffe’s service agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Balance represents options that will vest in future 
periods based on satisfaction of performance criteria as a result of “good-leaver” provisions in his share-based awards.

2	 The Company accepted Mr Bird’s resignation on 17 August 2009 and, as a result, he forfeited his outstanding options.
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2009
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2008 Granted Exercised Forfeited

Balance at 
30 June 2009 Vested Unvested

Non-Executive Directors:

R Lewon (ADS) 123,000 – – – 123,000 123,000 –

G Morris (ADS) 205,000 – – – 205,000 205,000 –

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) 410,000 181,654 – – 591,654 410,000 181,654

J Sutcliffe – 135,435 – – 135,435 – 135,435

Senior Executives:

T Bird – 39,347 – – 39,347 – 39,347

G Davy – 48,950 – – 48,950 – 48,950

R Kelman (ADS) – 87,664 – – 87,664 – 87,664

R Larry (ADS) – 109,580 – – 109,580 – 109,580

D McGree – 47,534 – – 47,534 – 47,534

A Ratner (ADS) – 87,664 – – 87,664 – 87,664

(iv) Rights and award holdings
The number of rights to ordinary shares or ADSs in the Company held during the financial year by each Executive 
Director and other key management personnel, including their personally related parties, are set out below.

2010
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2009 Granted Vested Forfeited

Other
Changes

Balance at 
30 June 2010

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) 61,092 197,006 – – – 258,098

J Sutcliffe1 258,344 – – (23,982) (86,212) 148,150

Senior Executives:

T Bird2 62,773 – – (62,773) – –

G Davy 99,655 16,928 (54,683) (3,823) – 58,077

R Kelman (ADS) 78,155 25,531 (14,931) – –  88,755

R Larry (ADS) 48,225  47,696 – – – 95,921

D McGree 71,126 20,728 (30,175) (3,533) – 58,146

A Ratner (ADS) 55,664 25,531 (8,542) – – 72,653

1	� Mr Sutcliffe’s service agreement was terminated by way of redundancy on 26 August 2009. Pursuant to the “good-leaver” provisions in his award 
agreement, Mr Sutcliffe retained his rights. Other changes represent rights which were cash-settled as part of Mr Sutcliffe’s redundancy.

2	 The Company accepted Mr Bird’s resignation on 17 August 2009 and, as a result, he forfeited his unvested rights.

2009
Name

Balance at 
1 July 2008 Granted  Vested

Balance at 
30 June 2009

Executive Directors:

D Dienst (ADS) – 61,092 – 61,092

R Cunningham1 81,836 –  (32,433) 49,403

J Sutcliffe 296,481 44,440  (82,577) 258,344

Senior Executives:

T Bird 54,785 14,720  (6,732) 62,773

G Davy 94,246 18,312  (12,903) 99,655

R Kelman (ADS) 54,506 38,580  (14,931) 78,155

R Larry (ADS) – 48,225 	 – 48,225

D McGree 66,737 16,313  (11,924) 71,126

A Ratner (ADS) 25,625 38,580 	 (8,541) 55,664

1	� Mr Cunningham retired from the Board on 21 November 2008. Balance represents awards that will vest in future periods based on satisfaction 
of performance criteria as a result of “good-leaver” provisions in his share-based awards.
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Note 25 – Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

(c) Other transactions with key management personnel
Transactions entered into with any Directors or other key management personnel of the Group, including their 
personally related parties, are at normal commercial terms. 

During the year ended 30 June 2010, a company related to Mr Varello was paid US$8,887 for safety consulting and 
administrative services (2009: US$9,145).

Mr Sukagawa is the representative director for Mitsui & Co. As Mr Sukagawa is employed by Mitsui, his director 
remuneration is paid directly to Mitsui. During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group paid A$119,533 to Mitsui for 
director remuneration for Mr Sukagawa.

Note 26 – Remuneration of auditors
It is the Group’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit 
duties where PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Group are important. These assignments 
are principally for tax advice and due diligence on acquisitions, or where PricewaterhouseCoopers is awarded 
assignments on a competitive basis. All audit and non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers are 
subject to pre-approval by the RAC of the Board in accordance with the Group Independence Policy.

The following fees were paid and payable for services provided by the auditor of the Group, its related practices and 
non-related audit firms:

2010
A$’000

2009
A$’000

PricewaterhouseCoopers – Australian Firm:

Audit of financial statements 2,042 4,066

Sarbanes-Oxley readiness advice – 1,705

Taxation services 30 213

Other assurance related services 499 110

2,571 6,094

Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers – Australian Firm:

Audit of financial statements 3,207 4,319

Sarbanes-Oxley readiness advice – 506

Taxation services 523 710

Acquisition due diligence and other 86 31

3,816 5,566

Total remuneration for PricewaterhouseCoopers  6,387  11,660

Note 27 – Business combinations and disposals

(a) Summary of acquisitions
During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group acquired the following businesses:

On 3 July 2009, the Group purchased the assets and business of Fairless Iron & Metal. The business is a ferrous ––
and non-ferrous metal recycler and is based in Morrisville, Pennsylvania in the United States.

On 1 September 2009, the Group purchased the assets and business of Technorecycle Buromaschinen ––
Verwertung GmbH. This e-recycling business specialises in asset recovery and is located near Frankfurt in 
Hochheim am Main, Germany.

On 18 November 2009, the Group obtained control of Port Albany Ventures by acquiring 50% of the joint venture ––
interest that it previously did not own. As a result the Group’s equity interest in Port Albany increased from 50% 
to 100%. Port Albany is a mixed-use bulk material stevedoring operation located in Bethlehem, New York in the 
United States.

On 1 April 2010, the Group purchased the assets and business of Border Metals Pty Ltd. The business is a ferrous ––
and non-ferrous metal recycler and is located in Victoria, Australia.

Had the above acquisitions occurred on 1 July 2009, there would not have been a significant change to the Group’s 
revenue and net profit. Additionally, revenue and net profit contribution by the above acquisitions to the Group post-
acquisition was not significant.
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(b) Purchase consideration and assets and liabilities acquired
Details of the aggregate purchase consideration and cash outflow are as follows:

A$m

Cash paid for current year acquisitions 100.6

Payments for deferred consideration and contingent consideration on prior year acquisitions 13.5

Cash acquired (0.7)

Cash outflow for acquisitions 113.4

Assets and liabilities arising from current year acquisitions are as follows:

Fair
value

A$m

Cash 0.7

Trade and other receivables 3.0

Inventories 1.0

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 41.9

Deferred tax asset 0.5

Identified intangible assets (Note 14) 6.0

Trade and other payables (2.1)

Borrowings (0.4)

Net assets acquired 50.6

Goodwill recognised from current year acquisitions are as follows:

A$m

Total cash consideration 100.6

Fair value of previously held equity interest in Port Albany 14.3

Less: net assets acquired (50.6)

Goodwill on acquisition 64.3

The initial accounting for some of the current year acquisitions has only been provisionally determined. The goodwill 
is attributable to several factors including site locations, synergies existing in the operations acquired and the 
assembled workforce, which together contribute to the profitability of the acquired businesses. Some of the goodwill 
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

(c) Acquisition of Metal Management
On 14 March 2008, the Company purchased the issued capital of Metal Management for A$1.5 billion. The 
consideration comprised 53,473,817 ordinary shares (in the form of American Depositary Shares) with a fair value of 
A$1.5 billion, the assumption of outstanding share options with a fair value of A$10.5 million and transaction costs 
of A$19.5 million. Metal Management was one of the largest full service scrap metal recyclers in the United States, 
with 50 locations in 17 states. The acquisition was made to expand the Group’s presence in the North American scrap 
recycling market. 

If the acquisition of Metal Management had occurred on 1 July 2007, revenues and net profit of the Group would 
have been A$10.2 billion and A$493.0 million, respectively, for the year ended 30 June 2008. These amounts have 
been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of Metal Management to reflect 
additional depreciation and amortisation expense that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments 
to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 July 2007, together with the consequential 
tax effects. 

(d) Disposals
On 15 January 2010, the Group sold the assets of its Aluminium Salt Slag business in Australia. The consideration was 
not significant to the Group. The sale was part of the Group’s announced strategy of disposing of its non-core assets.
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Note 28 – Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1.

Equity holding %

Name of entity Country of Incorporation 2010 2009

Sims Metal Management Limited

Sims Group Australia Holdings Limited (i) Australia  100% 100%

PNG Recycling Limited PNG  100% 100%

Sims Aluminium Pty Limited (i) Australia 100% 100%

Sims E-Recycling Pty Limited Australia  90% 90%

Sims E-Recycling (NZ) Limited New Zealand  90% 90%

Sims Group Canada Holdings Limited Canada  100% 100%

Sims Group Mauritius Limited Mauritius  100% 100%

Trishyiraya Recycling India Private Ltd India 100% 100%

Sims Tyrecycle Properties Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Simsmetal Holdings Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Sims Metal Management Asia Limited Hong Kong 100% 100%

Sims Energy Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Sims Industrial Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Simsmetal Industries Limited New Zealand 100% 100%

Simsmetal Services Pty Limited (i) Australia 100% 100%

Sims Manufacturing Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Simsmetal Executive Staff Superannuation Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Sims Superannuation Management Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Universal Inspection and Testing Company Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions Pte Limited Singapore 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions Africa Pty Ltd (ii) Africa 100% –

Simsmetal Staff Equity Pty Limited Australia 100% 100%

Sims Group UK Holdings Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Group UK Intermediate Holdings Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Group UK Limited UK 100% 100%

C Herring & Son Limited UK 100% 100%

Life Cycle Services Limited UK 100% 100%

All Metal Recovery Limited UK 100% 100%

All Metal Recovery Cradley Heath Limited UK 100% 100%

ER Coley (Steel) Limited UK 100% 100%

ER Coley (Cast) Limited UK 100% 100%

Evans & Mondon Limited UK 100% 100%

Mirec BV The Netherlands 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions Cooperatief B.A. (ii) The Netherlands 100% –

Sims Recycling Solutions NV Belgium 100% 100%

Recommit Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Cymru Limited UK 	 100% 100%

Sims Group German Holdings GmbH Germany 	 100% 100%

Sims M+R GmbH Germany 100% 100%

Sims Technorecycle GmBH (ii) Germany 100% –

Sims Recycling Solutions AB Sweden 100% 100%

Sims Group Recycling Solutions Canada Ltd Canada 100% 100%

Accu-Shred Limited Canada 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions SARL France 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions Inc USA 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions Holdings Inc USA 100% 100%

Global Investment Recovery, Inc USA 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions UK Holdings Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions UK Group Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Recycling Solutions UK Limited UK 100% 100%
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Equity holding %

Name of entity Country of Incorporation 2010 2009

United Castings Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Group UK Pension Trustees Limited UK 100% 100%

Sims Group Holdings 1 Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Sims Group Holdings 2 Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Sims Metal Management USA GP USA 100% 100%

Sims Group USA Holdings Corporation USA 100% 100%

SHN Co LLC USA 100% 100%

HNW Recycling LLC USA 100% 100%

HNE Recycling LLC USA 100% 100%

Dover Barge Company USA 100% 100%

North Carolina Resource Conservation LLC USA 100% 100%

Simsmetal East LLC USA 100% 100%

Sims Municipal Recycling of New York LLC USA 100% 100%

Schiabo Larovo Corporation USA 100% 100%

Simsmetal West LLC USA 100% 100%

Sims Group Global Trade Corporation USA 100% 100%

Sims Group USA Corporation USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Inc USA 100% 100%

MM Metal Dynamics Holdings Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Dynamics LLC USA 100% 100%

Metal Dynamics Detroit LLC USA 100% 100%

TH Properties LLC USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Midwest Inc USA 100% 100%

CIM Trucking Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Indiana Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Memphis LLC USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Ohio Inc	 USA 100% 100%

SMM – North America Trade Corporation USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Pittsburgh Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Aerospace Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management West Coast Holdings Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management West Inc	 USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Arizona LLC USA 100% 100%

Proler Southwest GP Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Proler Southwest Inc USA 100% 100%

Proler Southwest LP USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Alabama Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Mississippi Inc USA 100% 100%

Naporano Iron & Metal Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Northeast Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management Connecticut Inc USA 100% 100%

New York Recycling Ventures Inc USA 100% 100%

Metal Management New Haven Inc USA 100% 100%

Reserve Iron & Metal Limited Partnership USA 100% 100%

Port Albany Ventures LLC (ii) USA 100%  50%

(i)	� These subsidiaries and the Company are parties to a DCG under which each entity guarantees the debts of the others. The above entities 
represent a Closed Group and an Extended Closed Group for the purposes of the relevant Australian Securities and Investments Commission 
Class Order.

(ii)	 These subsidiaries were acquired or incorporated during the year.

The voting power held in each subsidiary is proportionate to the equity holdings.
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Note 28 – Subsidiaries (continued)

Deed of Cross Guarantee
Sims Metal Management Limited, Sims Group Australia Holdings Limited, Sims Aluminium Pty Limited and Simsmetal 
Services Pty Limited are parties to a DCG under which each Group guarantees the debts of the others. By entering 
into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirements to prepare a financial report and 
directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

The above companies represent a “Closed Group” for the purposes of the Class Order. As there are no other parties 
to the DCG that are controlled by Sims Metal Management Limited, they also represent the “Extended Closed Group”.

Set out below is a condensed consolidated income statement, a summary of movements in consolidated retained 
earnings and a consolidated statement of financial position for the Closed Group.

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

(i) Condensed consolidated income statement
Profit before income tax 40.6 244.3
Income tax expense (12.5) (1.4)
Profit after tax 28.1 242.9
(ii) Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings
Balance at 1 July 172.9 113.6
Transfer to reserves (0.6) –
Profit for the year 28.1 242.9
Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit plan, net of tax (7.3) 2.9
Dividends provided for or paid (38.6) (186.5)
Balance at 30 June 154.5 172.9
(iii) Consolidated statement of financial position
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16.5 19.3
Trade and other receivables 385.5 275.0
Current tax receivable – 16.6
Inventory 137.4 82.3
Other financial assets – 3.1
Total current assets 539.4 396.3
Non-current assets
Receivables 2.0 2.4
Investments accounted for using the equity method 19.9 18.5
Other financial assets 2,502.7 2,303.0
Property, plant and equipment 103.0 101.5
Deferred tax assets 22.0 15.4
Goodwill 14.9 15.3
Intangible assets 0.4 0.5
Total non-current assets 	 2,664.9 	 2,456.6
Total assets 3,204.3 2,852.9
LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 143.1 266.5
Other financial liabilities 4.0 0.8
Current tax liabilities 25.3 –
Provisions 9.7 12.2
Total current liabilities 182.1 279.5
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 9.5 4.4
Provisions 7.0 8.8
Retirement benefit obligations 4.0 6.1
Total non-current liabilities 20.5 19.3
Total liabilities 202.6 298.8
Net assets 3,001.7 2,554.1
EQUITY
Contributed equity 2,795.2 2,352.9
Reserves 52.0 28.3
Retained earnings 154.5 172.9
Total equity 3,001.7 2,554.1
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Note 29 – Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities

(a) Carrying amounts of associates and jointly controlled entities

Ownership interest % Carrying amount 

Name of associate or 
jointly controlled entity

Country of 
incorporation 2010 2009

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

SA Recycling LLC USA 50% 50% 314.3 329.9

Metal Management Nashville LLC USA 50% 50% 14.0 22.4

Rondout Iron & Metal LLC USA 50% 50% 0.9 0.6

Port Albany Ventures LLC1 USA 100% 50% – 6.6

Richmond Steel Recycling Ltd Canada 50% 50% 19.8 21.6

LMS Generation Pty Ltd Australia 50% 50%  19.9 18.5

Australia Refined Alloys Pty Ltd Australia 50% 50% – –

Extruded Metals Ltd New Zealand 33% 33% 0.6 0.6

369.5 400.2

1	� On 18 November 2009, the Group obtained control of Port Albany by acquiring the remaining 50% of the joint venture. As a result, the Group’s 
equity interest in Port Albany increased from 50% to 100%. 

(b) Movements in carrying amounts
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Balance at 1 July 400.2 332.2

Share of profit before tax 17.5 57.6

Associates share of income tax expense (2.4) (2.6)

Accretion of deferred gain to equity accounted profit 2.7 3.2

Dividends received (19.6) (41.5)

Return of capital from jointly controlled entities (0.4) (3.6)

Purchase of remaining 50% interest in Port Albany (5.6) –

Impairment of investment in Metal Management Nashville LLC (5.7) –

Other – 1.7

Foreign exchange differences (17.2) 53.2

Balance at 30 June  369.5 400.2

(c) Share of associates’ and jointly controlled entities’ profit

Profit before income tax 14.5 60.8

Associates’ share of income tax expense (2.4) (2.6)

Profit after income tax recognised in equity accounted investment 12.1 58.2

Jointly controlled entities income tax1 (2.4) (19.2)

Associates’ and jointly controlled entities’ profit after tax 9.7 39.0

1	� The jointly controlled entities to which this relates are “pass-through” entities for taxation purposes. As such, the Group incurs the income tax 
expense and associated tax liability on its share of the profit and includes this amount as part of its income tax expense. Refer to Note 8.

(c) Port Albany
At 30 June 2009, the Group held a 50% interest in Port Albany. This jointly controlled entity was accounted for using 
the equity method. On 18 November 2009, the Group purchased the remaining 50% ownership interest in Port Albany 
that it previously did not own. In accordance with the revised AASB 3 (IFRS 3) and AASB 127 (IAS 27), the Group 
was required to remeasure its previously held equity interest in Port Albany at its acquisition-date fair value and 
recognise the resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. This transaction resulted in the recognition of a gain calculated 
as follows:

A$m

Fair value of 50% interest in Port Albany 14.3

Carrying amount of Port Albany investment (5.6)

Gain recognised on acquisition 8.7
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Note 29 – Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (CONTINUED)

(d) SA Recycling LLC
On 1 September 2007, the Group completed the merger of its Southern Californian metal recycling assets with 
those of Adams Steel LLC. The jointly controlled entity, SA Recycling LLC, operates within a territory encompassing 
Southern California, Arizona, Southern Nevada and Northern Mexico. In accordance with AASB 128 (IAS 28) 
Investments in Associates and AASB 131 (IAS 31) Interests in Joint Ventures, the SA Recycling LLC is a jointly 
controlled entity accounted for under the equity method. 

The fair values of assets and liabilities contributed to SA Recycling LLC at 1 September 2007 were as follows:

Book 
value

A$m

Fair 
value

A$m

Non-cash 
gain
A$m

Property, plant and equipment 71.4 79.8 (8.4)

Goodwill and intangible assets 196.5 265.7 (69.2)

Non-current provisions (3.2) (3.2) –

264.7 342.3 (77.6)

In accordance with UIGI 113 (SIC 13) Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers, the 
portion of the non-cash gain attributable to the equity interest of the other venturer, in this instance 50%, was 
recognised immediately on contribution of assets to the SA Recycling LLC jointly controlled entity. This has been 
recognised in other income as disclosed in Note 6. The remaining 50% of the non‑cash gain for intangibles has been 
allocated to reduce the cost of the equity accounted investment and will be recognised progressively over the 
remaining useful life of the assets to which it relates. The remaining 50% of the non-cash gain for property, plant and 
equipment has been allocated to reduce the cost of the equity accounted investment and will be recognised if the 
land to which the gain relates is sold.

(e) Summarised financial information of associates and jointly controlled entities 

Group’s share of assets and liabilities
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Current assets 104.0 92.1

Non-current assets 289.8 313.4

Total assets 393.8 405.5

Current liabilities 30.0 34.1

Non-current liabilities 100.0 102.2

Total liabilities 130.0 136.3

Net assets 263.8 269.2

Group’s share of revenue, expenses and results
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Revenues 596.3 814.2 699.9

Expenses (578.8) (756.6) (637.6)

Profit before income tax 17.5 57.6  62.3

(f) Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
The Group’s share of the contingent liabilities of associates and jointly controlled entities is disclosed in Note 22. The 
Group’s share of the capital commitments and other expenditure commitments of associates and jointly controlled 
entities is disclosed in Note 23.
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(g) Jointly controlled operations

The Group accounts for its 50% interest in Sims Pacific Metals joint venture under the proportionate consolidation 
method. Sims Pacific Metals is an unincorporated joint venture based in New Zealand and its principal activity is 
metal recycling. 

The Group’s interest in the jointly controlled operation is included in the statement of financial position under the 
classifications shown below:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Current assets 17.0 10.2

Non-current assets 6.9 7.6

Total assets 23.9 17.8

Current liabilities 18.9 10.2

Non-current liabilities 0.1 3.2

Total liabilities 19.0 13.4

Net assets 4.9 4.4

The Group’s share of the jointly controlled operations’ contingent liabilities and capital expenditure commitments is 
included in Notes 22 and 23, respectively.

Note 30 – Related party transactions 

(a) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 25.

(b) Outstanding loans or balances arising from transactions with related entities 
There were no outstanding loans or balances at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with 
related parties.

(c) Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

2010
A$m

2009 
A$m

Superannuation contribution to superannuation funds on behalf of employees 5.7 7.7

(d) Transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities
2010
A$m

2009 
A$m

2008 
A$m

Sales 85.0 70.7 8.3

Purchases 764.2 1,139.6 689.6

Management fees and commissions 10.7 11.5 10.0

Other costs 0.2 0.4 0.3

(e) Outstanding balances arising from transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities
2010
A$m

2009 
A$m

Current receivables 4.0 16.3

Current payables 42.1 18.8

(f) Terms and conditions
The terms and conditions of the tax funding agreement are set out in Note 8. Loans from subsidiaries are at call and 
bear no interest. All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rate.



114

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 june 2010

Note 31 – Parent entity financial information
The Company was incorporated on 20 June 2005. Under the terms of a scheme of arrangement entered into between 
Sims Metal Management Limited (formerly known as Sims Group Limited from 20 June 2005 to 21 November 2008) 
and Sims Group Australia Holdings Limited (“SGAHL”) (formerly known as Sims Group Limited prior to 20 June 2005) 
on 31 October 2005, the shareholders in SGAHL exchanged their shares in that entity for the shares in Sims Metal 
Management Limited. As required by AASB 3 (IFRS 3), Business Combinations, SGAHL was deemed to be the acquirer 
in this business combination. This transaction has therefore been accounted for as a reverse acquisition. Accordingly, 
the consolidated financial statements of Sims Metal Management Limited have been prepared as a continuation of 
the consolidated financial statements of SGAHL. SGAHL, as the deemed acquirer, has applied purchase accounting 
for its acquisition of Sims Metal Management Limited as at 31 October 2005.

(a) Summary financial information
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Statement of financial position

Current assets 20.4 14.7

Total assets 4,252.1 4,041.4

Current liabilities 75.6 284.8

Total liabilities 77.5 284.8

Shareholders’ equity

Contributed equity 4,115.9 3,673.6

Reserves 53.7 38.4

Retained earnings 5.0 44.6

4,174.6 3,756.6

(Loss)/profit for the year (1.0) 230.2

Total comprehensive (loss)/income (1.0) 230.2

The Company has current liabilities greater than current assets. The current liabilities primarily represent 
intercompany balances between entities which are a party to a DCG to which the Parent is also a party. Refer to Note 28.

(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The Parent has not provided financial guarantees for which a liability has been recognised in the Parent’s statement 
of financial position. 

(c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Bank guarantees – subsidiaries 39.9 54.8

Borrowing guarantee – SA Recycling LLC – 83.9

39.9 138.7

As at 30 June 2010, SA Recycling LLC refinanced its debt obligations and the Company has not guaranteed the new 
credit facility.

(d) Lease commitments 
2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Not later than one-year 2.1 1.1

Later than one-year, but not later than three-years 4.3 3.9

Later than three-years, but not later than five-years 4.4 3.9

Later than five-years 51.2 50.4

Total lease commitments not recognised as liabilities 62.0 59.3

On 29 May 2009, the Company entered into a lease agreement for property in the United States. The property is 
being sub-leased to a Group subsidiary in the United States. 
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Note 32 – Earnings per share
2010 2009 2008

Earnings/(loss) per share as previously reported (in cents)

	 Basic 64.9 (82.9) 310.9

	 Diluted 64.5 (82.9) 307.9

Effect of equity issue1 – 0.4 (1.6)

Earnings/(loss) per share as restated (in cents)

	 Basic 64.9 (82.5) 309.3

	 Diluted 64.5 (82.5) 306.3

Weighted average number of shares used in the denominator (’000)

	 Number of shares for basic earnings per share 194,417 181,247 141,574

	 Effect of equity issue1 929 924 722

	 Basic shares 195,346 182,171 142,296

	 Dilutive effect of share-based awards 1,129 – 1,374

	 Diluted shares 196,475 182,171 143,670

1	� In accordance with AASB 133 (IAS 33) Earnings Per Share, an adjustment to shares issued is required in the calculation of earnings per share 
when shares are offered to existing shareholders at a discount to the market price. This gives rise to a retrospective restatement of the 
weighted average number of shares.

Due to the loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2009, the dilutive effect of share-based awards, which was 
899,000 shares, was not included as the result would have been anti-dilutive. 

Share awards granted to employees are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the 
determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. Details relating to share awards 
are set out in Note 24.

Note 33 – Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year to net cash (outflow)/inflow 
from operating activities

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

2008
A$m

Profit/(loss) for the year  126.7  (150.3) 440.1

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation  143.9  170.8  95.1

Net gain on contribution of assets to SA Recycling LLC – –  (38.8)

Unrealised (gain)/loss on held for trading derivatives  (3.7) 10.3 (3.9)

Impairment of goodwill – 191.1 3.3

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  14.5  10.0  0.1

Impairment of intangible assets 0.9 – –

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets  (3.0)  (0.9)  1.9

Loss on sale of subsidiaries – 2.6 –

Share-based payments  16.9  9.3  13.4

Non-cash pension expense 1.5 1.6 0.5

Non-cash compensation – 0.8 –

Negative goodwill recognised on acquisition – (0.4) –

Equity accounted profit net of dividends received 5.1 (16.7) (55.3)

Gain on acquisition of Port Albany Ventures LLC (8.7) – –

Other (0.3) 0.2 0.3

Change in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the 
effects of acquisitions and disposals of entities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (240.7)  492.8  (176.6)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (339.6)  543.4  (407.6)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (2.8)  1.7  18.6

(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (7.7)  (10.2)  24.2

Increase/(decrease) in income taxes  106.8  (194.8)  80.3

(Decrease)/increase in deferred taxes  (11.1)  38.8  (11.2)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 153.8 (545.7) 263.1

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities  (47.5)  554.4 247.5
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Note 33 – Cash flow information (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statements of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in 
the statements of financial position as follows:

2010
A$m

2009
A$m

Cash at bank and on hand  132.2  59.1

Short-term deposits 0.1 10.4

Cash and cash equivalents  132.3  69.5

The carrying amount of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents is assumed to approximate their fair value.

(c) Non-cash investing and financing activities
(i)	� During the year ended 30 June 2010, dividends of A$9.2 million (2009: A$26.6 million; 2008: A$18.1 million) were paid 

via the issue of ordinary shares pursuant to the DRP. Refer to Note 21.

(ii)	� On 14 March 2008, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Metal Management Inc for 
A$1,500.6 million. The consideration given consists of 53,473,817 ordinary shares in Sims Metal Management 
Limited with a fair value of A$1,490.1 million and A$10.5 million of fully vested share options assumed at fair value. 
Refer to Note 27.

(iii)	� On 1 September 2007, the Group completed the merger of its Southern Californian metal recycling assets with 
those of Adams Steel LLC, amounting to an investment of A$342.3 million. For details of the assets and liabilities 
contributed to the SA Recycling joint venture, refer to Note 29.

Note 34 – Events occurring after the reporting period
On 4 August 2010, the Group purchased the electronic recycling assets of Wincanton PLC in the United Kingdom. The 
purchase price was not material to the Group.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the Directors’ opinion:

a)	 The financial statements and notes set out on pages 56 to 116 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:

	 i)	� complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements, and

	 ii)	� giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date, and

b)	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable, and

c)	� at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended 
Closed Group identified in Note 28 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may 
become, subject by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee described in Note 28. 

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the Group Chief Executive Officer and the Group Chief Financial 
Officer required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

	

P J Varello	 D W Dienst 
Chairman	 Group Chief Executive Officer

Houston	 Sydney  
26 August 2010	 27 August 2010
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Sims Metal Management Limited

Report on the financial report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Sims Metal Management Limited (the company), which 
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2010, and the income statement, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary 
of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for the Sims Metal 
Management Group (the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it 
controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1a, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any 
material inconsistencies with the financial report.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999
www.pwc.com/au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of sims metal management limited

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion 
In our opinion:

(a)	 the financial report of Sims Metal Management Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:

	 (i)	� giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

	 (ii)	� complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)	 the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1a.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 40 to 55 of the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration 
report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion 
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Sims Metal Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Independent auditor’s report to the members ofSims Metal Management Limited (continued)

101

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Sims Metal Management Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and

(b) the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1a.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 21 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June
2009. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Sims Metal Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, complies
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Andrew J Parker

Sydney
Partner

28 August 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Sims Metal Management Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
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(b) the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1a.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 21 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June
2009. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Sims Metal Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, complies
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Andrew J Parker Sydney
Partner 28 August 2009

Andrew J Parker 
Partner

Sydney 
27 August 2010
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Sims Metal Management Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare that to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a)	 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 
audit; and

b)	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Sims Metal Management Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.
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ABN 52 780 433 757
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201 Sussex Street
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999
www.pwc.com/au
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Annual Financial Report Extracts Presented in US Dollars

The audited financial statements of the Group presented in Australian dollars (“A$”) are included in pages 56 to 
116. On pages 122 to 124, extracts from the audited financial statements are presented in US dollars (“US”). This 
information does not form the part of the audited financial statements. The translation from A$ to US$ is included 
solely for the convenience of the reader. The financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2010 have 
been translated into US$ at US $1.00 = A$1.1733 based on the closing exchange rate published by the Reserve Bank 
of Australia.
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Consolidated US$ income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2010

2010
US$m

Revenue 6,356.9

Other income 21.5

Raw materials used and changes in inventories (4,555.0)

Freight expense (610.2)

Employee benefits expense (369.0)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (122.6)

Repairs and maintenance expense (95.2)

Other expenses (459.0)

Finance costs (14.0)

Share of pre-tax profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 12.4

Profit before income tax 165.8

Income tax expense	 (57.8)

Profit for the year 108.0

US¢

Earnings per share:

	 Basic 55.3

	 Diluted 55.0
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Consolidated US$ Statement of financial position
For the year ended 30 June 2010

2010
US$m

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 112.8

Trade and other receivables 491.1

Inventory 662.2

Other financial assets 7.4

Total current assets 1,273.5

Non-current assets

Receivables 6.7

Investments accounted for using the equity method 314.9

Other financial assets 18.2

Property, plant and equipment 789.1

Deferred tax assets 63.2

Goodwill  981.6

Other intangible assets 166.4

Total non-current assets  2,340.1

Total assets 3,613.6

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 523.5

Borrowings 0.5

Other financial liabilities 4.3

Current tax liabilities 19.8

Provisions 26.5

Total current liabilities 574.6

Non-current liabilities

Payables 2.8

Borrowings 99.4

Deferred tax liabilities 114.0

Provisions 18.9

Retirement benefit obligations 9.4

Total non-current liabilities 244.5

Total liabilities 819.1

Net assets 2,794.5

EQUITY

Contributed equity 2,382.3

Reserves 49.5

Retained earnings 362.7

Total equity 2,794.5
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Consolidated US$ Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2010

2010
US$m

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 6,162.4

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (6,226.1)

Interest received 2.4

Interest paid (13.8)

Dividends from associates and jointly controlled entities 16.7

Insurance recoveries 0.9

Income taxes refunded 17.1

Net cash outflow from operating activities (40.4)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (103.0)

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (96.7)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6.9

Payments for other financial assets (19.4)

Return of capital from jointly controlled entities 0.3

Net cash outflow from investing activities (211.9)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 2,565.3

Repayment of borrowings (2,600.5)

Fees paid for loan facilities (2.7)

Proceeds from issue of shares  376.6

Transaction costs relating to issuance of shares (7.5)

Dividends paid (25.1)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 306.1

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 53.8

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 59.2

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (0.2)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 112.8
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shareholder information
as at 10 september 2010

Equity securities

Substantial Shareholders

Number held %

Mitsui Raw Materials Development Pty Limited 36,151,787 17.72

M & G Investment Funds (1) 20,094,157 9.85

Legg Mason Asset Management Limited

– American Depositary Shares 11,856,011 5.81

– Ordinary 518,022 0.25

IOOF Holdings Limited 10,267,704 5.03

Ordinary shares
Distribution of ordinary share holdings

Range  Holders

1–1,000 10,648

1,001–5,000 8,562

5,001–10,000 985

10,001–100,000 418

100,001–and over 37

Total 20,650

There were 579 holders of less than a marketable parcel of shares.

Voting rights attaching to the ordinary shares are, on a show of hands, one vote for every person present as a 
member, proxy, attorney or representative thereof and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

Performance rights/restricted stock units
Distribution of performance rights/restricted stock units holdings

Range  Holders

1–1,000 33

1,001–5,000 59

5,001–10,000 29

10,001–100,000 14

100,001–and over 1

Total 136

A total of 1,133,147 performance rights and restricted stock units to take up ordinary shares or American Depositary 
Shares are issued under the Sims Metal Management Limited Long Term Incentive Plan, the former Sims Metal 
Management Limited Long Term Incentive Plan, and individual contracts, held by 136 holders.

The performance rights and restricted stock units do not have any voting rights.

Options
Distribution of options holdings

Range  Holders

1–1,000 5 

1,001–5,000 29

5,001–10,000 37

10,001–100,000 57

100,001–and over 6

Total 134

A total of 2,555,367 options to take up ordinary shares or American Depositary Shares are issued under the Sims 
Metal Management Limited Long Term Incentive Plan, held by 132 holders.

A total of 706,000 options to take up ordinary shares or American Depositary Shares are issued under the former 
Metal Management, Inc. 2002 Incentive Plan, held by 3 holders.

The options do not have any voting rights.
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shareholder information
as at 10 september 2010

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. OF SHARES % HELD

1. NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED GPO BOX 1406, MELBOURNE VIC, 3001 47,674,996 23.37

2. MITSUI RAW MATERIALS DEVELOPMENT  
PTY LIMITED

LEVEL 46 GATEWAY, 1 MACQUARIE PLACE,  
SYDNEY NSW, 2000

33,486,787 16.42

3. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) 
LIMITED

GPO BOX 5302, SYDNEY NSW, 2001 31,776,010 15.58

4. J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED LOCKED BAG 7, ROYAL EXCHANGE  
NSW, 1225

26,955,367 13.21

5. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED GPO BOX 764G, MELBOURNE VIC, 3001 5,683,574 2.79

6. HUGO NEU CORPORATION 120 FIFTH AVENUE 6TH FLOOR, NEW YORK 
NY 10011, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

4,324,894 2.12

7. COGENT NOMINEES PTY LIMITED PO BOX R209, ROYAL EXCHANGE NSW, 1225 2,559,625 1.25

8. ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> GPO BOX 2842AA, MELBOURNE VIC, 3001 1,767,215 0.87

9. AUSTRALIAN REWARD INVESTMENT ALLIANCE C/O J P MORGAN NOMINEES, AUSTRALIA 
LIMITED, LOCKED BAG 7, ROYAL EXCHANGE 
NSW, 1225

995,113 0.49

10. QUEENSLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION C/- NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED, GPO BOX 
2242, BRISBANE QLD, 4001

974,871 0.48

11. AMP LIFE LIMITED PO BOX R209, ROYAL EXCHANGE NSW, 1225 757,787 0.37

12. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  
<CFSIL CWLTH AUST SHS 18 A/C>

GPO BOX 764G, MELBOURNE VIC, 3001 740,015 0.36

13. MILTON CORPORATION LIMITED PO BOX R1836, ROYAL EXCHANGE NSW, 1225 593,037 0.29

14. UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA  
NOMINEES PTY LTD

GPO BOX 1257L, MELBOURNE VIC, 3001 552,597 0.27

15. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) 
LIMITED - A/C 2

GPO BOX 5302, SYDNEY NSW, 2001 546,424 0.27

16. KONANN PTY LIMITED  
<PETER WHITE FAMILY A/C NO 2>

PO BOX 649, BERWICK VIC, 3806 541,692 0.27

17. ARGO INVESTMENTS LIMITED GPO BOX 2692, ADELAIDE SA, 5001 415,772 0.20

18. UCA GROWTH FUND LIMITED 130 LITTLE COLLINS STREET, MELBOURNE  
VIC, 3000

360,000 0.18

19. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  
<CFSIL CWLTH AUST SHS 17 A/C>

GPO BOX 764G, MELBOURNE VIC, 3001 331,658 0.16

20. CAMROCK (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD PO BOX 649, BERWICK VIC, 3806 252,200 0.12

161,289,634 79.07
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shareholder information
as at 10 september 2010

Five year trend summary

(A$’000) 2010 2009
2008

 Restated
2007

Restated
2006

Restated

Total Operating Revenue 7,458.5 8,641.0 7,670.5 5,550.9 3,754.5

Profit/(Loss) Before Interest and Tax 208.1 (102.9) 692.1 384.9 286.1

Net Interest Expense (13.6) (19.3) (31.5) (28.0) (16.3)

Tax Expense (67.8) (28.1) (220.5) (117.0) (84.9)

Profit(loss) after Tax 126.7 (150.3) 440.1 239.9 184.9

Net Cash Flows from Operations (47.5) 554.4 247.5 335.5 208.6 

Earnings(loss) per Share - diluted 64.5¢ (82.5)¢ 306.3¢ 191.0¢ 163.4¢

Dividends per Share 33.0¢ 38.0¢ 130.0¢ 120.0¢ 105.0¢

Return on Shareholders’ Equity 3.9% -5.3% 15.5% 20.5% 16.7%

Current Ratio (to 1) 2.2 1.71 1.64 1.68 1.84

Net Debt to Funds Employed (to 1) 0.00 0.04 0.09 0.23 0.26

Net Tangible Asset Backing per Share $9.48 $8.09 $7.93 $4.34 $4.35
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Securities Exchange Listing
The Company’s ordinary shares are quoted 
on the Australian Securities Exchange under 
the ASX Code ‘SGM’.

The Company’s American Depositary Shares 
(ADSs) are quoted on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the symbol ‘SMS’. The 
Company has a Level II ADS program, and 
the Depositary is the Bank of New York 
Mellon Corporation. ADSs trade under 
cusip number 829160100 with each ADS 
representing one (1) ordinary share. Further 
information and investor enquiries on ADSs 
may be directed to:

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation 
Depositary Receipts Division 
101 Barclay Street – 22W 
New York, NY 10286 USA 
Telephone: (1 212) 815 2276  
Facsimile: (1 212) 571 3050 
Attn: Violet Pagan 
Email: violet.pagan@bnymellon.com

Registered Office
Sir Joseph Banks Corporate Park 
Suite 3, Level 2  
32–34 Lord Street Botany NSW 2019 
Telephone: (02) 8113 1600 

Head office and principal 
administrative office
325 N. LaSalle Street,  
Suite 550 
Chicago, IL USA 60654  
Telephone: (1 312) 645 0700

Shareholder Enquiries
Enquiries from investors regarding their 
share holdings should be directed to:

Computershare Investor Services 
Pty Limited 
Level 4 
60 Carrington Street  
Sydney NSW 2000 
Postal Address:  
GPO Box 2975  
Melbourne VIC 3001 
Telephone: 1300 855 080  
Facsimile: (03) 9473 2500

Company Secretaries
Frank Moratti 
Scott Miller

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Darling Park Tower 2 
201 Sussex Street 
Sydney NSW 1171

For more up-to-the-minute investor 
relations, visit www.simsmm.com

precinct.com.au128

corporate directory
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Aaron Cohen
Miguel Vargas
Joshua Dawson
Kevin Kirks
Dennis Klomp
Robert Mannon
Oscar Sanchez
Keith Fredericks
Hector Perez
Diana Costa
Stephen Harrison
Charles Porter
Samuel Taylor
Ingrid Sinclair
Elpidio Fernandez
Efrain Ramos
Emigdio Ramirez
Praimnauth Persaud
Neil Cartwright
Mark Giuliani
Ryan Davy
Brian Shead
Cathryn Fitzgerald
Geraldine Algie
Wim Van de Kerkhof 
Edward Silver
Roque Romo
L. Steven Shinn
David Liska
Jovino Lopez
Guohua Li
Kamal Beals
Angeline Quilala
Jihad Shahoud
Joseph Farrugia
Zdenko Vundac
Keith Vanderpoel
Rhys Williams
Fred Bega
Adam Pundsack
Paul Moles
Hugo Cruz
Jennifer Kavanagh

Rosemitha Leander
Cemile Sevgi
Owain York
Kevin Hoffman
Tiffany Soto
Joaquim Pinheiro
Falk Linke
Salvador Guzman
Matthew Guinan
Tony Hollingworth
Alejandro Gutierrez
Sonya Llorens
Concepcion Mallida
Joshua Prentice
Samuel Hutson
Frank Lindfors
Chris Lewis
John Sprague
John Matthews
Leo Wasielewski
Olvin Bustillo
Therman Dingle
Andrew McKenzie
Michael McKeown
Richard Martin
Maximo Medina
Michael Butts
Boaz Malolo
Myles Pilkington
Frederik Ratahi
Roger Coker
Roger Hartman
Andre Jackson
Jorge Lopez
Merardo Teijido
Donnell Dowdy
Brenda McDowell
David Goldie
Matthew Marcyniuk
Phillip Hibbert
Marvin Townsend
Jose Ramirez
Richard Hartman
Brent Lathe
Ivan Flores
Robert McTeir
Jeff Shell
Coral Rechner
Kirby Fell
Carlos Ramos
Bennie Vermeulen
Mark Brogan
Raymond Jennings
Steven Smith
Francisco Salomon
David Larson
Ian Wood
Alicia Liotta
Derric Trowell
Robert Nesteikis
Richard May
Hiep Tran
Paul Worthing
Salvador Robles
Alexander Fletcher
Paul Dodson
Jack Johnson
Daniel Kollmon
Colleen Lee
Rafael Reveles
Stiebich Carsten
Trevor Owens
Sandra Williams
Silvio Custodio
Anthony Oconnor
Ramon Sanchez
Ashley Severn
Mark Botto
James Sanye
Colin Grinnell
Concepcion Martinez
Lee Ann Scott
Denisse Leyva
Jesus Garcia
Kane Brewster
Salvador Mena
Manjula K
Jose Rodriguez
Edwin Torres
Arthur Valle
Barry Stewart
Tony Causovski
Leslie Greiner
Robert Ferguson
Vicki Berkley
Beverly Perry
Danny Floyd
Paul Chamberlain
Marlon Archibald
Robert Muir
Brian Fahrion
Joseph Malfatone
Steven Skalka
Brandon Suell
Anthony Frascella
Joseph D’Urso Jr
Julio Lopez
William Rhodes Jr
Miguel Velasquez
Sergio Diaz
Robert Farish
Carmelo Bulzomi
Margarito Espinoza
Gregory Phillippi
Juan Maldonado
Chhourth Mean
Jacinta Dimasi
Effie Rizzo
Desmond Foster
Clive Banks
Peter Burford
Michael Rywalski
West Bradford
Thomas Miller
Anthony Whenan
Stephen Carter
Gary Holcombe
Sonia Araujo
Chris Valentine
Chris Ditcham
Paul Verhappen
Sean Gillespie
Norbert Dietze
Jerrell Pettiford
Norman Yates
Kaspar Lukas
Rosita Galardi
Stephan Charles
Bradley Hodshon
Grenville Higgins
Iakopus Gilmete
Isaias Guerrero
Rodney Copeland
Donald Clark
Ralph Kelley
Pedro Saavedra Sr
Gerard Mulcahy

Jeffrey Oldham
Julio Mejia
Allan Dix
Amanda Gonzalez
Saimon Namalu
Sascha Kemke
Gregory Bradford
Isidro Corral
Amanda Smith
Vincent Johnson
Kamil Dmowski
Anthony Smullen
William Heath
Ana L Haro
Antonio Fernandez
Bernardo Trejo
Steven Jurowicz
Charles Spencer Jr
Malcolm May
Annica Grindberg
Dwight Austin
Michael Mazza
Maurice Boyd
Ivo Bos
Amy McCormack
Javier Cuatzo
Renford Anderson
Nicholas Prosser
Anson Wiltse
Christian Woodward
Andrew Page
Jacob Phillips
Gabor Uveges
Chester Proctor
Gary Truscott
Ernest Petway
Miguel Fernandez
Simon Huddlestone
Aimee Lee
Waituck Lee
Martin Davies
Jason Reeves
Luke Moore
Gregory Hughes
Antonio Mota
Daniel Prendergast
William Bowman
Isaac G-Solano
Jhiru Jamison
Caitlin Tierney
Patsy Fronzaglio
Violeta Juzas
Marilyn Aquino
Leslie Thomas
Segundo Vigil
Denise Farrell
Tim Kavanaugh
Diane Bennett
Martin Avila
Darrell Lancashire
Radovan Prodan
Jose Ferreira
Lonny Hertel
Leonardo Velazquez
Joshua Petticrew
William Logan
Timothy Arsini
Michael Rigby
Brent Washington
Michael Parle
Jennifer Marcum
Andrew Carnell
Muzeïjïjen Kutuk
Paul Tucker
Quang Dang
Julio Guzman
Prasanna Vasudevan
Colin Fry
Michaela Marohn
Mike Myers
David Forman
Winifred Keju
George Macdonald
Robert Inglese
Rose Withers
Wilbert Stearn
Joaquin Espinoza
Maikel Poch
Heather Horneman
Helena Glazerova
John Sartori Jr
Yeidy De La Rosa
Nickolas Coggins
Harvinder Singh
Osias Anoche
Robert Brunson
Kevin Jones
Richard Kerr
Manuel Domingues
Edwin Laboy
Wayne Gregory
Emiliano Gonzalez
Jose Ponce
Stephen Stone
Graham Neal
Leonard Porter
Paul Groucutt
Gerard Meijer
Zdzislaw Jankowski
Darlene Mendes
Anthony Shelton
Aymar Anez
Victor Carson
John Bangle
Gerald Thomas
Carol Weathers
Henry Highsmith
Shane Denton
Steve Andree
Sandra Maldonado
John Christaldi III
Laszlo Szollosi
Melvin Farr
Susan Kramer
Margaret Morrison
William Shaver
Roger Norton
Veronica Edmonstone
Steven Douillard
David Crawford
Ismael Espinoza
William Robertson
Braulio Nicasio
Jorge Navarro
Hilary Brody
Francisco Rodriguez
Dennis Brown
Alofangia Sakalia
Kim Love
Daniel Thompson
Dörr Miriam
Andres Lopez
William Core
Sean O Dea
Salvatore Alessi
Eugen Bay
Thomas Cobb

Natubhai Patel
Bill Lambiris
Bacilio C-Aguirre
Jesus P-Santini
Milenko Matic
Peter Fitzmaurice
Tom Reel
Raul Ruiz
Frank Farrugia
Monty Joyce
Gloria Johnson
Gary Evans
Reginald Chesson
Peter Miller
Jason Shaw
William Doup
Martin Lopez
Judith Sideris
Kasiano Talimalie
Michael Swietalski
Robert Mc Cabe
Keith McKinney
Alexander Catlaw
Edwin Melendez
Christopher Arriola
Francis Yarin
Ricky Holcombe
Krzysztof Drzewiecki
Timothy O’Connor
Veronica De La Cruz
Roberto Gonzalez
Kathryn Penning
Isaac  Poumale
Gilberto Salazar
Cesar Escalante
Stephen Allen
Ignacio Rivera
Angel Gonzalez
Melanie Morales
Jennifer Bengtson
Lothar Tusche
Kylee Vukelic
Lauri Pritchard
Angela Guerrero
Damian  Freeman
Joseph Taylor
Shane Fenech
Jose Barriga
John Junquet
Raymond Raverty
Joseph Cremona
Linda  Bonsu
Alejandro Murillo
Ricardo Flores
Julio Cadena
Jose Gutierrez
Toby Bishop
Joao Silva
Lamar Manning
Volker Meisel
William Quarles
Andrew Deluca
Gabriel Johnson
Ronie Franklin
Glenda Walker
Jesus P-Robledo
Ricky Parsons
Kevin Lewis
Adrian Ruck
Ana Carvalho
Vele Trajcevski
Georgina Halliday
Hilario Garcia
Luis Rodrigues
Chris Ellison
Mary Myers
Jeromie Hendrix
Rick Martin
Tracy Houston
Peggy Russell
Philip Chidler
Michael Rostad
Mariola Kotapka
Nancy Albrecht
Maria Medina
Paul Seddon
Dennis Hickey
Margaret Carr
Donald Marquette
Inez Howcroft
Samantha Padbury
Aaron Thomas
Paul Sweeney
Nitson Toro
Adolf Hintz
Jerry Gladden
Dawnmarie Parker
Jeffrey Evans
Jose Cruz
Omar Lopez
Paul Commarford
Simon Masae
Robert Pitt
Michael Lovell
Gabriel Verner
Edgar Arrieta
Dong Nguyen
Melvyn Bagshaw
Bryan Seabridge
Jeremy Panitz
Andrew Yates
Gregorio Pampolina
Colleen McClintock
Danny Bulele
Gabriel Dimas
Bill Higginbotham
Richard McDowell
Steven Woodings
Zdzislaw Kabat
Olegario Torres
Luis Rangel
Thao Khamsaeng
Joseph Washington
Sergio Reyes
Kurt Coombes
Robert Bertolini
Ronald Wilson
Lazaro Lazo
Carole Horton
Michael Larkin
Neil Godwin
Brian Souza
Robert Oliveras
Christopher Walbey
Bret Heinrichs
Julia Thomas
Christine Ulam
Raul Ruiz
Alberto S-Osorio
Delwyn Harris
Stuart Scharer
John Jones
John Huish
Jeffery May
Alberta Arthur
Amy Jeter
Stefan Topalovich
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Troy Stuewe
David Rea
Adrianna Vasquez
Terry Scott
Mary Hallock
Edward Kwolek
Paul White
William Kelly
Jose Loera-Tovar
Joseph Riley
Andre Huggins
Mohamed Sillah
Lester De L Romero
Robert Tucker
Robert Ruiz
Jeffrey Schutt
Steven Saxby
Cordula Krämer
Shita Adem
Herminia Garcia
David Coble
Raymond Jennings
Omar Guzman
Timothy Buckels
Michael Pires
Milthon Morales
Suquifa Coe
Michael White
Ian Ball
Apolinar Rodriguez
Alana Patterson
Clinton Dukes
Julie Kuczera
Michael Bromley
Marco Liberal
Carlos Restrepo
Tom Outerbridge
Jeffrey Heke
Matthew Jays
Michelle Kowalski
Andres Fonseca
Michael St. Onge
Valerie Harvey
Jose Lobos
Peter Csollany
Henry Fisher
Edmund Pruett
Michael Dunbar
Joseph Scappini
Alma Perez
Bernard Montalvo 
Jose Cruz
Peter Maloney
Stewart Wainwright
Michael Alvarez
Nicholas Wilhelm
Antonio Tomba
Amrit Jaswal
Derek Barber
Chuan-Hai Teh
Anthony Plimmer
Ronald Boerema
Skylar Price
Michael Shapiro
Antonio Martinez
David Vaughn
Paula Araujo
Cecila Rice
David Brummelen
Steven Desa
Charlotte Diggs
Douglas Mclean
Roberto Arroyo
Vincent Christopher
Hason Turner
Luke Oakley
Benjamin Leander
Nagavalli V
Michel Acosta
George Chong-Nee
Justin Lefebvre
Michael Perretta
Felix Santiago
Paul McVean
James Carreno
Louistine Sherrod
Epifanio Leon
Tyrone Kent
Angela Botto
Pedro Villanueva
Eddie Cathey
Reggie Battle
Phillip Robertson
Cody Brodie
Christopher Clark
Gary Joseph
Luis Oseguera
Marianito Pampolina
Jonathan Parry
Robert Watt
Carlos Marzan
Paulo Rocha
Maurice Hutchinson
Clifford Sessay
Ryan Hibler
Gloria Mtshali
Christopher Galic 
Baki Zuna
David Holbrook
Stanko Ignjic
Allan Wireman
Heath Buell
Zoltan Sekula
Sherryie Browning
Nicholas Stapley
Alex Valenzuela
Henryk Wieczorek
Lau Lison
Peter Cremers
Bruce Vail
Aleathea Maidens
Terence Bird
Harrie Romers
Des Armstrong
Gerome Lewis
Michael Anderson
Danyel Wood
Jose Morante
Jeffrey Haughton
Paul Wright
Paul Thomas
Cindy Coutts
Harry Crescenti
Marianna Podkowa
Stephen Darby
Wolfgang Childers
Jonathon Rice
Enma Lopez
Genaro Marquez
Harvey Helms
Debra Speer
Heriberto Miranda
Mikel Yambai
Antonio Silva
Paul Jones
Jeffery Baker
Iselin Thomas

Chris Williams
Miki Taylor
Manoj Kumar
Vitorino Castro
Antonio Valensuela
Isidro Sandoval
Benjamin Tilley
Mansur Sirajudeen
Charley Williams
Leslie Jones
Walter Dohna
German Morales
Arnulfo Zate
Justin Miller
Michael Warsek
Nancy Reid
Frank Holt
Graeme Fergusson
Leopoldo Guzman
Jose Castaneda
Derek Michalowski
Wittman Spencer
Miguel Gonzales
Hayley Andrews
Gail Heineman
Brian Henderson
Richard Nickens
Mark Robinson
Ruben Malave
Linnea Blevins
Adrian Lewis
Nicholas Fonte
David Ritter
Pedro Castillo
Derrick Wymes
Damaris Velasquez
Miguel Ayala
Dagoberto Rodriguez
Daniel Butler
Stephen Lee
Jane Fenwick
Taran Stirrat
Ruben Vallejo
Tahi Legg
Derek Campbell
Steven Hockey
Rowan Burdess
Stephen Bosley
Antonio Fair
Angela Newbell
Henny Boes
Stacey Sproat
Jorge Ponce
Robert Dunbar
Luis Serrano
Francisco Ortega
Frank Moratti
Eloy Hernandez
John Baker
Emad Al Mosawi
James Wendell
Beyer David
Jorge Ramos
Oliver Benit
Thomas Mulvaney
Dovie Jones
Tommy Du
Jason Walsh
Christine Lemmen
Gerald Holman
David Beardmore
Malik Ceric
Hieu Dinh
Barbara Dixon
Necessarl Myles
Miguel Valenzuela
Kenneth Huckel
Manuel Silva
Wayne Gill
Aurelio Hernandez
Michael Willett
Carlos Amoroso
Amelia Breaden
Dick Napiorkowski
Epifania Simo
Philip Gregory
Fernando Iriqui
Reinaldo Valdes
Gabriel Montano
Jesus Bonilla
Ricky Gaugatao
Damian Boyd
Pedro Suarez
Richard Martinez
Ken Manktelow
Clarence Jakes
Stefan Xuereb
Joseph Arcadipane
David May
Willie Salter
Robert Hancock
William Anderson
Ghaffar Nazari
Diomaris Lizardo
Matthew Galt
Susan Huckle
Pernell Boykin
William Ledwell
Jose Blanco
David Shaw
Anthony Sousa
Thomas Perea
Jesus Hurtado
Paul Strepay
Ivor Brown
Amos Wise
Renee Zastro
Manuel Cantiga
Tammy Hannahs
Leroy Fruchey
Firas Farahid
Jose Aguayo
Paul Lawrence
LaWonda Haden
Erick Conde
Lloyd Deir
Antonio Vazquez
Ian Hartley
Philip Johnson
Isabel Fernandes
Timothy Booth
Roy Antoine
Simon Hollis
Mark Bergman
Anthony Carrillo
Chester Gomes
Rodrigo Arciniegas
Montrell Jones
David Wedlock
Robert Cole
Jose Jaime
Pamela S Colvin
Donald Swartz
Matthew Grutza
Shawn Read
Fidel Carabez
Gregory Mitko

Jacqueline Penton
John Silvestre
Dale Nixon
Hector Perez
Chris Heckman
Anthony Mullen
David Smith
Paul Whitmore
April Holt
Spencer Quintero
Mitchell Beer
Hellen Werth
Henry Bowman
Luis Ramos
Donald Gillette
Liam Cody
Alexander McKerlie
Steven Corbett
Michael Laracuente
James Chastain
Cristian Velazquez
John Graves
Brian Sanchez
Kirt Boswell
Alvaro Torres
Anastacio Diaz
Karen Darnell
George Malamis
Erhard Frede
Sukvinder Rai
Dannielle Croan
Bob Van Schie
Cheng Mason
Lucky Ntozakhe
Luis Perez
Jemma Davies
Natalie Zambujo
Mark Harrison
Lempp Wadim
Peter Weeks
Paul Kavanagh
David Taylor
John Bess
Carlos Tolentino
Joan Malolo
Marvin Ferrell Jr
Ohlen Corbett
Roger Lawrence
Mary Pargeter
Isabel Velez
Shawn Ogelvie
Donald Quarles
John Barksby
Brennan Cornell
Carlos Bernardo
Andrew Borg
Ermelindo Rodriguez
Minavady Chantharath
Zachary Thomas
Paul Freska
Joseph Enright
Mangesh Kawale
Oktay Sel
Nigel Drury
Updash Singh
Daniel Woltmann
Javier Jaramillo
Scott Hurren
Derek Werth
Johan Vandersteen
Jamie Smith
Phillip Oneill
John O’Malley
Dominic Cavillot
Jimmy Albarran
Alani Tupou
Steve Nadulek
Daniel Burnop
Saroj Singh
Jeffrey Healey
Carlos Torres-Chavez
Rafael Sayadian
Casimiro De Almeida
Brett Harrison
Raymond Walker
Jill Delouise
Robert Reynolds
Nick Van Dijk 
James Richardson
Heather Rhea
Carol Golbourn
Ronald Proler
Chris Dennison
Buchelt Robert
Edward Palonis
Manuel Corral
James Kimbrell
Jose Rodriguez
Christopher Emery
David Lloyd
Peter Barclay
Manuel Farmer-Ruiz
Peter Vanemmerik
Carlos Vazquez
Marco Jacquez
Scott Simmons
William Foster
Mark Richardson
Graham Bennett
David Hanson
Angela Flores
Danning Zhang
Lyte Williams
Chris Bullingham
Paea Sanft
Darren Rundell
Eduardo Loyola
Aubrey Eaton
Delmis Pastrana
Thomas Kim
Gary Armstrong
Robert France
Christine Mcbean
James Brewer
Luis Soto
Kevin Clayton
Michael Guillory
Carmen Robles
Tracy Cunningham
Bruce Wilhelm 
Pam Cosby
Anthony Gallagher
Susan Gervasi
Michael Lopatecki
Felix De Armas
Brandi Tanninen
Maciej Blaszczyk
Vicente Santa Cruz
Edward Fletcher
Keith Brooks
Craig Hinchliffe
Matthew Griffin
David Gutierrez
Achilleas Downward
Charlotte K-Lucas
Cyril Swartz
Jay Atayan

Boyden Thomas
Harrison Shaffer
Robert Sharpe
Andrew Evans
Danny Pehrsson
Carlos Rodriguez
John Moffitt
Rosa Silva
Isidoro Alvarez
Dario Badillo
Philip Bentley
Sasha Silva
Douglas Weaver
Linda Harris
Chris Sargent
Vasana Khamvongsa
William Weisen
Wendy Boettger
Oscar Villareal
Teresa Strachan
Barbara Ridge
Garry Skinner
Rodney Bonnette
James Hodge
Mark Lawson
Heiko Olschweski
Scottie Denton
Victor Vives
Carlos De Jesus
Harry Townson
Julie Goley
Josue Moreno
Caroline Green
Sofia Vasquez
Robert Shepherd
Jack Lambert
Jeffrey Maynard
Peter Hagemann
Manuel Dos Santos
Mengistu Yegzaw
Andrew Bafi
William Jones
Sharon Barter
Christiana Mangual
Carlos Ferreira
Miroslaw Kucharski
David Freame
Matthew Xenos
Kevin Knox
Milton Kilgore
Jose Hernandez
Rhett Gerard
Jason Price
Pearlee Anderson
Gregorio Romo
Sudhir Yalamanchali
Neil Kerr
Carlos Cowan
George Rosen
Brian Brink
Jorge Hernandez
Phillip Chell
John Kerr
Ger Hinsen
Richard Grant
Ricky Knight
Moises Garcia
Shelly Pessagno
Michael Robinson
Subash Warrier
Robert Gaudinier
Ashley Whichello
Tyrone Dent
James Bobbitt
Juan Rivera
Joseph Barlow
Hanai Eloya
Cassandra Harris
Zhan Chen
Myles Partridge
Shayne Odonoghue
Peter La Bella
Jose Cortez
Jauni Bettere
Mihwa Choe
Andrew Fry
Thomas Doyle
Simon Stone
Charlie Blair
Willie Fleischman
Shelby Baskin
Danilo Vierneza
Steven Ostroznik
Katy Pegler
Richard Selby
Peter Van Loon
Victor Rodriquez
Jose Cunha
Lorren Bell
Trevor Hodgins
Alejandro Pedraza
Jeff Mick
Luther Phillips
Patrick Mckay
Lawrence King
Joseph Caruso
Neil Duckworth
Bobby Ingram
Linwood Beale
Ronald White
Michael Shinn
Luis Rodriguez
Noe Venegas-Rosas
Melvin Belcher
Peter Farmer
Carolina Navarro
Jimmy Chandler
Steven Solomon
Robert Drewett
Catherine Grillo
Elizabeth Bullock
Raymond Wright
Anibal Osorio
Irene Perez
Leonardo Verdugo
Robert Hanck
Marcus Hinton
Piotr Brzank
Pierre Elizaire
Marco Acuna
Kristine Ritchie
Otis Malone
Daniel Blumke
Chenier P-Charles
LaQuita Haynes
David Mathers
Terence Plant
Adrian Moore
Rodolfo Dominguez
Kelly McCreless
Amy Secondino
Anil Setaram
Hassan Reid
SokPhol Phon
David Willsohn
Phyllis Weems
Mark Timothy

Bryan Hale
Yvonne Hughes
Osbaldo Garcia
Michael Stockdale
Brad Potter
Thintizwe Makhunga
Renee Schnell
John Polk
Robert Filbert
Flavio Avila
Eric Baker
Joseph Parker
John Bettencourt
Anderson Clarke
Ernest Overton
Caridad T-Davila
David Chua
Charles Williams
Craig Adkins
Aaron Loone
Thawanrat Owen
Randall Ingram
Mile Kolceg
Pasquale DiBiaso
Angel Valle
Brandon Gardner
David Woodriff
Jose Cordero
Luke Martin
Chenier Israel
Ronald Rylance
Michael Ogara
Kelly Ferguson
Manuel Sanchez
Armando Ruiz
Jean Saint-Fleur
Frederick Riley
Shaun Chudley
Gideon Botha
Robert Wicker
Hugo Adao
Rafael Unzueta
Phillip Sisk
Alix Ceballos
Jonathan Morgan
Melanie Nou
Jacek Wydra
Lance Brown
Paul Hillier
Gerarda Fredericks
John Pierri
Rahkiim Burgess
Juvencio Cienfuegos
Alan Kington
Craig Marshall
Jayson Walsh
David Hemmings
Laura Siqueiros
Steven Burns
Richard Shute
William Peavey
Paul Snoeckx
Jamie Fletcher
Judith Sossich
Muhammad Zaman
Sandra Campbell
Michael Murphy
James Wood
Annika Persson
Mark Willetts
Jesse Garcia
Robert Baczonyi
Rebecca Powis
Fred Benitez
Scott Overland
Ross Death
Veronica Herrera
Kamaljit Thandi
Patrick Martin
Elmer Ferner
Teddy Nanguari
Nicholas Rees
Joao Rego
Amilcar Cunha
Jason Whitaker
Caroline Bond
Leon Wilson
Jeffrey Carter
Gerardo Gonzalez
Ronald Nutter
Barbara Anderson
Marjan Tonkich
Morin Billiam
Robert Jones
Miguel Jenkins
Paul Mai
Frederick Mckee
Craig Schantz
Michael Johnson
Raymond Castro
Ineke Bree-Reyckers
Steven Robbins
Keith Mc Crae
Cody Penders
Shaun Evans
Jonathan Harvin
Secundino Reyes
Frank Garcia
Thomas Kopcyk
Sue Lee
Dogan Mustafa
Kelli Alo
Hutchinson Oliver
Ronnie Redden
Autumn Gallello
Juan Carmona
Michael Manganelli
Wilfredo De Jesus
Larry Morris
Nicholas Croy
Maria Barron
Harvey Gonzalez
Keith Dangerfield
Benjamin May
Jason Lowe
Javier Plaza
John Carey
Rashaugn Johnson
Jermaine Latdrik
David Proler
Wendy Collins
Wendell Ramirez
Aubrey Stephen
Guadalupe Garcia
Miguel Castaneda
Mark Ellis
Larry Dillon
Pablo Guzman
Rene Melders
Keber Michael
John Connelley
James Millward
Jorge Freyre
Andrew Millard
Walter Rivera
Francisco Padilla
Fernando Cruz

Damien Coffey
Jonathan Chapman

Holly Sievert
Eduardo Acebedo

Bruce Cumming
John Davidge
Mario Mc Coy

John Epperson
Janusz Szmyd
Maria Afonso

Kenneth Weinert
Pablo Pol Romero

Hans-Peter Brand
Chanel Smith

Rodney Nunez
David South

Biagio Adragna
Gary Carroll

Manelos Tagdalidis
Tommy Irving
Davon Paden
John Thigpen

Robert Wilson
John Robertson

Quan Wang
Ian Pickering

Patricia Hannagan
Jose Martinez

John Peters
Patrycjusz Homa

Kevin Mendoza
Andrew Neubeck

Daniel Guzman
Royce Green
Keiran McVie

Douglas Sanders
Victor Ramos

Wilfredo Vady
Steven McIntyre

Will-Jan Amersfoort
Rob Seda-Martinez

Nathan Segal
Casimiro Presinal

Rafael Pineda
Raquel Vela

Corrado Spezzacatena
Ted Sisopha

Steven Read
Wilkemson Severe

Simone Dunn
Hector Fuentes
David Bratcher

Yan Nong
Shawn Cole

Jose Martinez
Felix Galan

Richard Hunte
Paul Priest

Kenneth Bullock
Dennis Freeman
Jeffrey Maxick

Jonathan Snyder
David Apap
Celil Güre

Juan Alvarez
Anthony Smith

Kenneth Langsdon
Richard Kyte

Ubaldo Diaz
Jenelle Robinson

Stacey Twigg
Coleen Bolin

Eric Witte
Tony Rudge

Kellyanne Jones
Heiko Schoen

James Quarles
Yilma Bekele
Ray Gafford
Willie Davis

Louis Feddeler
Brian Gale

Robert Adamczyk
Winfred Mitchum

Juan Pineros
Nickel Christof
Willet Langlais

Chris Williams
Chris Cremona
James Bowers

Faauuga Apineru
Adrian Flachi

Edward Ostermiller
Jeanne Grimmer

Rima Te-Waiti
Emido Dinatale

Norbert Karoly
Francisco Astorga

Lawrence Walter
Quinton Pope

Andrew Athas
Alejandro Guerrero

Karie Clark
Daniel Emery
Jerry Bailey

Ian Dagge
Daniel Martinez

David Zapata
Peter Kacir
Mounir Faci
Philip Hunt

Maricela Castillo
Amanda Crafton

Jaqulynn Jackson
David Mills

Donald Holland
Kantner Oliver

Michael O’Driscoll
Jurij Wink

Kobayashi Leander
Theresa Holland

Motty Toxey
Arron Stafford
Thomas Denton

Alan Bell
David Burrows

Jose Barajas
Ernest Frazier

Javier Bermudez
Hector C-Leyva

Rogelio Ponce
Bartlett Forster

Wade Galloway
Chris Webb

Kirk Lewis
Frances Robinson

Gregory Hart
Gabriela Cruz

Stephan Schmelter
Luanne Mannor

Paul Mainor
Freddie Vazquez

Eliud Torres
Huw Cushing

Andrew Thomas
Liming Fan

Evaristo Romero

Salvador Fregoso
Manual Archila

Troy Moss
Vincent Hill

Daniel Becher
Steven Green
Drew Nichols

Luis Guzman-Solano
David Randolph

Ronald Hedgecoth
Inez Garcia

Harry Reeves
Augusto Avila
Anthony Agius

Rob Connaughton
Takleb Bettere

Praveen Bangera
Jose Villa

Robert Hancock
Mauricio M-Gonzalez 

Rachael O’Connor
Gregory Margeson

Johnny Dillon
Waldemar Hipp

Jan-P V de Reutvan
Vickal Prasad
Martin Wilcox

Shano Shyti
Roy Harvey
Ross Coley

Anthony Draper
William Austin

Massimo Sardella
Kevin Boatner

Paul Hutchings
Dean Kolenc

Lee Powell
Stephen Kerry
William Beebe

Paul Meehan
Michael Pallay

Andrew Butcher
Steve Kemp
David Borg

Nicolas Alvarez
Eileen Payne

Richard Ogden
Blas Amezcua

Jozef Dubczyk
Fiona Morgan

Victor Alvarado
Ameur Helal

Paul Thompson
Samuel Pisani

John Van Zwieten
Jose Dias

Jimmy Baum
Thiago De Oliveira

David Meyers
David Flegel

Marko Ronowski
Juan Ramos

Martin Parkinson
James Lawrence

Joseph McCool
Elvin O’Garro

Maria Fernandez
Graham Matthews

Ryan Reynolds
Troy Degnan

Rory Rink
Ben Mei

Wayne Jacobi
Kyle Johnson

Bartolo Guerrero
Martie Kalf

Roger Vaughan
Hector G-Gonzalez

Martin Perez
Lee Hughes

Marcos Martinez
Marcelo Paiva
Gregory Jack

Corteen Fowler
Carissa Hammer

Constantino Sierra
Milton Hall

Juan Martin
Marc Faller

James Conner
Carmelo Fantino

Milagros Lopez
Herminio Colon

Preston Tinsley
Garland Ashworth

Ulrike Tauche
Robert Anderson
Adam Winchester

Gail Parent
Abram Martinez

Jeff Tyler
Tonnie Verbeek

Christopher Perry
David Miller

Neil Blackford
Christopher Piett

Michelle Holly
Peter Caballero

Chase Panitz
Jorge Villatoro
Ronnie Cremona

Domingos Tavares
Andrew Kemp

Marek Gajewski
Byron Green

Jerry Cooper
Frank Vadi

Ronald Basden
Rebecca Cowan

Daron Mackey
Vidal Bernal

Votile Thsonono
Brent Yahrling

Reinaldo Cosme
John Merriman
Gordon Brown

Timmy Miller
Mark Bissell

Paul Zace
Juan Barraza

Ronnie McGinity
Kabin Joshi
Derek Graf

Diego Sanchez
Rushburn Brown

Mikael Lekbeck
Shaun Anlezark

Gabriel Ruiz
Kelvin Johnson

Steven Bennett
Daniel Burnell

Kenny Greer
Edward Laxton

Donald Rex
Michael Mitchell

Niko Ajayi
Wendy Forde

Kevin Bray
Stefan Tholl

James Cousar
Armando Reyes

David Holland
Jessica Osorio

Evan Kretschmer
Rafael Crespo Jr

Christian Lenfert
Adrienne Spence
Armando Carlos

Donnie Phillips
Edwin Diaz

Tameka Henderson
Gabriel Jimenez
Carol Culleton

Alonso G-Pulgarin
Tomasz Holownia

Niklas Weibo
Oscar Salgado

Matthew Wadley
Paul Sutton

Junior Mea
Leticia Arellano

Jonathan Lewis
Lisa Bremner
James Frost

Bernard Montalvo
Stephen Luckett

Henk Neutkens
Mark Betts

Loren Belone
Bobby Jabines
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